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Thursday, 2nd May 1991

THE SPEAKER (Mr Michael Banten) took the Chair at 10.00 am, and read prayers.

PETITION - JUJVENILE REMAND CENTRE, MURDOCH PROPOSAL
Urgent Review

MR LEWIS (Applecross) [10.04 am]: I present a petition from citizens of Western
Australia couched in the following terms -

To: The Honourable the Speaker and members of the Legislative Assembly of the
Parliament of Western Australia in Parliament assembled.
We, the undersigned residents of Western Australia, wish to express concern at the
recent announcement of the proposed construction of a Juvenile Remand Centre on
the land known as the Lakes Hospital Site (Reserve Number 36727) Murdoch Drive,
Murdoch.
We request the Government of Western Australia to urgently review the proposal in
the light of its proximity to density residential subdivisions and the valid safety
concerns of the residents who live Mround the proposed centre. We further request
that the proposed Remand Centre be relocated to an area further from existing or
proposed residential subdivisions.
Your petitioners therefore humbly pray that you will give this matter earnest
consideration and your petitioners, as in duty bound, will ever pray.

The petition bears 1 645 signatures and I certify that it conforms to the Standing Orders of
the Legislative Assembly.
The SPEAKER: I direct that the petition be brought to the Table of the House.
[See petition No 3 1.]

SELECT COMMITTEE ON LAND CONSERVATION
Supplementary Paper on Investigative Towrs - Tabling

MR GRAHAM (Pilbara) [10.06 am]: On behalf of the chairman of the committee, who
unfortunately has to attend the funeral of a constituent in his electorate, as deputy chairman I
am pleased to present to the House a supplementary paper on notes of the investigative tours
undertaken by the committee. The committee has already presented discussion papers on the
south west and agricultural regions of Western Australia. These papers contain a
compilation of the comments made by groups, individuals and Government departments and
agencies about land conservation issues in Western Australia. The reaction to those papers
has been overwhelmingly positive and constructive. As was mentioned in the second
discussion paper, the committee has for the first rime consolidated into one set of
publications the land conservation issues and concerns of Western Australia, and this project
will be completed soon with the release of a discussion paper on the pastoral region.
The supplementary paper I shall table seeks to further the information available to Western
Australians by documenting all the investigating tours undertaken by the committee, and at
the same time lists all the background information and material made available to the
committee. When the final report is presented to the House, all submissions received by the
committee will also be tabled. It is the intention of the committee to ensure that the
background material collected will be located at the Department of Agriculture library, so
that those who are interested in soil conservation will have easy access to the material.
The committee is completing the final drafts of the pastoral region discussion paper, and has
commenced preliminary drafts of the final report; this is due to be presented to the House in
June 1991. I thank the chairman and committee members for their support during the life of
the committee. I also thank Roni Oma, the research officer, who took copious notes which
were compiled into this report; John Mandy, the clerk of the committee, for organising the
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itinerary and the cravel arrangemnents for the various tours; and Victor Moate, the assistant
clerk, for organising the difficult itinerary and travel arrangements for the agricultural and
pastoral regions tours.
I move -

That the report do lie upon the Table and be printed.
Question put and passed.
[See paper No 285.]

TRUSTEES AMENDMENT BILL
Second Reading

MR D.L. SMITH (Mitchell - Minister for Justice) [10.10 am]: I move -

That the Hill be now read a second time.
This Bill is a result of a review of the provisions of the Trustees Act which sets out criteria
which companies must meet in order to have authorised trustee investment status.
That review was carried out by a committee comprising representatives from the Treasury,
the Public Trust Office, the Corporate Affairs Department, the Crown Solicitor's Office and
the Registrar of Co-operative and Financial Institutions. The committee was asked not only
to ensure that the initial procedures for conferrng authorised trustee investment status were
adequate, but also to ensure that some mechanism existed for monitoring the continuing
position of institutions in which trust funds could be invested.
It has always been the case that a trustee is required to exercise his or her independent
judgment as to what is a prudent investment for a particular trust. The Trustees Act as it
presently stands does not remove that ultimate responsibility fronm the trustee, and this Bill is
not intended to alter that position. However, financial institutions in the recent past have
become more volatile and have undergone fairly rapid changes. It was considered that it
would be of assistance to trustees if some method of monitoring changes which might take
place within an institution could be devised. The committee took the view that these
concerns could be dealt with, without substantial call on public sector resources, by using the
procedure of the market based credit rating and by placing an onus on the auditor and on the
authorised institution itself. The placing of some onus on the institution itself was
considered to be reasonable, as it is clearly of benefit to financial institutions to be able to
accept investments from trustees.
A market based credit rating is an independent and objective assessment of an organisation's
ability to meet it debts. The initial rating is done upon application by the institution and
thereafter an annual review is carried out. The rating organisations also require that any
major initiatives undertaken by the rated organisation are reported between annual reviews.
These procedures are already widely understood, and most major financial institutions
already have such a rating. The rating organisation charges for its assessment, but the
amounts involved are not great. The long term rating is considered to be the best indicator of
the organisation's general capacity and financial stability. After considering like legislation
elsewhere, and the debt repayment capacity indicated by each of the ratings, the committee
reached the view that all corporations other than banks and building societies should be
required to hold an AA rating or equivalent in order to be authorised trustee investments.
The Hill provides for the appropriate rating to be prescribed by regulation, allowing for some
adjustment of this standard if necessary in the light of experience both in this State and
elsewhere.
The Bill requires that institutions achieving authorised trustee investment status under these
provisions be required to advise of their loss of this status if their credit rating moves below
the prescribed minimum. It also requires auditors to notify the client, and where applicable
the credit rating authority, of any prescribed matters relating to actual or potential material
changes in the financial status of an authorised trustee company, and of any qualification to
be made in an audit report. The Hill provides that the minimum credit rating provisions
apply to unit trusts, corporations generally - other than banks and building societies - and to
credit unions.
In the course of its consideration, the committee discovered a possible loophole in the
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existing legislation in relation to unit miusts which would allow a trustee to acquire all the
units in a miust which has authorised trustee investment status, and by then gaining control of
the trust to change its deed, enabling investment in what would otherwise be unauthorised
investments. This Bill therefore proposes that the unit miust investment provisions not only
look to the time of the original investment, but also allow the retention of investment only
where there is an approved deed existing in respect of current investments. It also has
reporting requirements which ensure that this type of activity will be disclosed.
I commend the Bill to the House.
Debate adjourned, on motion by Mr Macinnon (Leader of the Opposition).

ACTS AMENDMENT (JUDICIAL QUALIFICATIONS) BILL
Second Reading

MR D.L. SMITH (Mlitchell -Minister for Lands) [ 10. 14 am]: I move -

That the Bill be now read a second time.
Members will recall that late last year a Bill was passed which broadened the qualifications
for appointment as a Master of the Supreme Court. As a result it has been possible to
appoint as a master a Western Australian lawyer who had been a judge of the Supreme Court
of Papua New Guinea and who had considerable legal experience outside the State, but who
had not practised in Western Australia for the years prescribed under the previous provisions
of the Supreme Court Act. When the previous amendment was being considered, it was
foreshadowed that a review of all provisions on appointment to judicial office would be
undertaken. This Bill is a result of that review.
The legislation which establishes the various State courts sets out criteria of eligibility for
appointment to judicial office. A common requirement is that the person have a certain
period of standing and practice as a legal practitioner. By way of example, to be eligible for
appointment as a judge of the Supreme Court or District Court, a person must have at least
eight years' standing and practice as a legal practitioner. The practice must have been in
Western Australia, and there are only limited provisions which recognise practice outside
this State. The effect of these provisions is to restrict, unnecessarily in many respects, the
appointment of Western Australian legal practitioners whose ability, knowledge and
experience would otherwise fit them eminently for judicial appointment. An obvious
example is provided by lawyers who have been admitted to practice in Western Australia but
who have practised for the most part in Mnother State or Territory of Australia. Some may
even have served as judges elsewhere in Australia. The Bill enables regard to be given to
legal practice and judicial service in other Australian jurisdictions when assessing the legal
experience of a Western Australian practitioner. There are a number of senior and
experienced practitioners admitted in Western Australia who have gained most of their legal
experience in jurisdictions outside Australia, which have substantially similar systems of
jurisprudence to ours. In some cases they have held judicial office overseas before settling in
this State. That experience is appropriate for our needs so long as the legal systems are
substantially similar. New Zealand provides an obvious example. The Bill provides for the
recognition of overseas legal orjudicial experience, but only where the Attorney General and
the Chief Justice agree that the experience has been gained in a jurisdiction which is similar
to that in Western Australia.
The Bill also expands the provisions to cover Western Australian legal practitioners who
accept appointments to a judicial or quasi-judicial office in the State, such as a magistrate or
registrar of the Supreme or District Court, before completing the prescribed years of legal
practice. Under the present provisions, service in such positions does not normally qualify as
legal practice. In an appropriate case the quality of such a person might commend him for
appointment as a master or as a judge of a court other than the Supreme Court. The Bill will
allow judicial or quasi-judicial service by legal practitioners on the courts, boards and
tribunals of the State to count as legal experience. An exception is made with respect to
appointment as a judge of the Supreme Court. It is considered that a more restrictive
approach is appropriate in the case of judges of the Supreme Court because of the
significance of that office. It is also proposed to remove an old provision which enables an
English barrister who has not practised in Western Australia to be appointed a judge. This is
no longer appropriate.
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In making these changes the Bill will also substantially standardise qualification provisions
for appointment as a judge of the District Court or the Children's Court, the President of the
Industrial Relations Commission and the Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Workers
Compensation Board. Although more restrictive, the provisions for the Supreme Court will
be in keeping with the others. These changes are not being implemented with respect to the
Family Court of Western Australia. The qualifications provided for appointment as a judge
for our Family Court are standardised with the qualifications for appointment to the Family
Court of Australia. As our Family Court judges also hold Federal commissions, it is
preferable not to disturb the present qualifications.
In summary, the Bill seeks to update the various qualification provisions for appointment to
judicial office so as to better reflect current circumstances. The Bill will also standardise
qualifications so far as that can be done consistent with maintaining appropriate standards.
While a number of the changes will liberalise previous provisions, it is important to realise
that relatively few practitioners will be able to qualify as a result. The practice of the vast
majority of appointments being practitioners who have qualified and practised throughout
their careens in this State will continue. I commend the Bill to the House.
Debate adjourned, on motion by Mr Blaikie.

ROYAL COMMISSIONS AMENDMENT BILL

Second Reading
Debate resumed from I May.
MR MacKINNON (Jandakot - Leader of the Opposition) [ 10.21 am]: It is rare that I would
be heard in this Parliament supporting a Bill that contains a retrospective clause. This piece
of legislation contains such a clause and I am happy to lend support to that retrospectivity. It
will give the commission the power to order, under appropriate circumstances, the search of
premises to obtain information. Interestingly, as we come to this debate, a circumstance
arose recently when the Royal Commission needed to use such a power. It had heard
conflicting evidence from Mr Michael Hale and Mr Leon Musca and the commission
decided to search Mr Musca's premises with his approval. However, if it had had the power
it would not have had to seek his approval. We are happy to support that as my colleague,
the member for Applecross. has said previously.
In addition, the Bill gives the commissioners the authority to work separately. We had
always assumed, as did the Government, that that was the case, and we are now happy to
support that provision. The Hale-Musca issue also served to highlight what the Opposition
said when the Bill was introduced into the Parliament. It said that there was an urgent need
for the legislation to be amended so that the commission would be able to take disciplinary
action if people were found wanting in front of the commission. Mchael Hale's evidence
clearly demonstrates - I have read the transcript - that he was contacted by Brian Burke and
asked to carry messages on his behalf. According to the evidence and according to the Royal
Commissioners, Michael Hale misled the commission. He was rebuked by the commission
and the matter has been referred to the Attorney General for consideration. At the time a Bill
amending the Royal Commissions Act was debated last year we said, as we say now, that
that is not appropriate. Michael Hale, by his own admission in the Royal Commission, was a
member of the Australian Labor Party and is still an ALP sympathiser. He is, also by his
own admission, a close friend of Terry Burke. The Royal Commission has referred to the
Attorney General, a member of the ALP, a Minister in the Burke Government and one of the
four Ministers responsible for WA Inc activities, the misconduct of Michael Hale as defined
by the Royal Commissioners for a decision. That is not appropriate. That has happened
exactly as we said it would when the Bill amending the parent Act was debated in this place
last year and it is the reason that we tried vigorously to amend that legislation. Again I say
that it is not appropriate for the Atorney General, a man who has a record of quashing
convictions - we remember the O'Connor case - and who has a record of intervening in a
political way, to be entrusted with that responsibility. I call on the Government to give
serious consideration to the Opposition's amendment which will give power to the Royal
Commissioners to refer matters to the court on their own behalf and which will make them
responsible for imposing discipline as the Royal Commission continues.
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This is the first occasion since the Royal Commission was established for me to make some
comments about it. Firstly and very importantly, the commission has shown from its first
day of operation that it will operate independent of influence fronm any outside party. The
Government should be commended for appointing such commissioners, as should the
commissioners for demonstrating clearly to the people of Western Australia and of Australia
that they will seek the truth, come what may. Secondly - this was not acknowledged by
many people at the time the commission was appointed - the commission will touch every
political party in this country before it is finished. It has already done so, and so it should.
As I said at the time of its appointment, I do not mind who it finds has been acting illegally,
immoraly or improperly. Whatever their background, they should be exposed for what they
have done because a very important part of the Royal Commission's process is to restore
confidence in the Westminster system of Government If any group thinks it will be immune
from the Royal Commission's inquiries it had better think again. Thirdly, it will last a lot
longer than 12 months. I am aware that the Premier indicated that that would be the Royal
Commission's initial term. I am aware also that that is the hope of the Royal
Commissioners. However, the first inquiry, into Fremantle Gas and Coke Co Ltd - I remind
members that that is only the tip of the WA Inc iceberg - has run well over time. In my
opinion, the Royal Commission will last at least two years and, according to many legal
people who have been involved in Royal Commissions before, it will last probably a lot
longer than that. Finally, it is very important to recognise that the outcome of this Royal
Commission will be very significant. It will lead to changes, not only in Western Australia,
but also across Australia. It will restore the power of Parliament and its relationship with the
Executive. Over the past 80 to 100 years, we have watched the power of the Executive
increas dramatically. Certainly over the past 20 years, and particularly over the past eight
years, that has become more apparent. As a consequence of the Royal Commission, we will
see the system of checks and balances restored to the power structure so that Parliament and
not the Executive will hold the power. Through the Royal Commission, we will become
aware that, on almost every single occasion, problems have occurred because the Executive
ignored the Parliament. In fact, it did not even bother to come to the Parliament most of the
time. In Government, the Opposition will implement strutures to restore the proper role of
Parliament in the Westminster system.
Secondly, it has already begun the process of restoring integrity and proper standards of
behaviour to Parliament and to Governments. That will be one of the most important
outcomes. In the past 10 years we have seen morality in Government rot and decay before
the altar of expediency of the Australian Labor Party Government. As a consequence of the
Royal Commission, a new commitment is being made to lift integrity and standards that will
have an impact not only on Western Australia, but also on Australia.
Finally, it is very interesting to see that the Western Australian Royal Commission is having
more impact than the other Royal Commissions being held in South Australia, Victoria,
Tasmania, and New South Wales and the Fitzgerald inquiry which was held in Queensland.
It will have an impact on those States just as it has had an impact nationally. It has drawn the
Prime inister into the issue. When the Royal Commission reports, for example, on the
question of disclosures, the nation will benefit positively by Parliament resuming its proper
role within our democratic society, with more control over checks and balances, and it will
re-establish Parliament's integrity and standing. The importance of the Western Australian
inquiry should not be underestimated.
Further to the Leader of the National Party's comments, the media have a very important role
to play and it should not be underestimated. I am happy to see the widespread publicity
which the Royal Commission has received. I receive reports every day from Liberal Party
observers at the Royal Commission and I have access to transcripts which I have read from
time to time. I have no argument with the way in which the media have reported the
information that has been presented to date. The details being revealed at the Royal
Commission are probably as important as any criminal charges which may flow in due
course. The exposure of events to enable their scrutiny by people across Australia is very
important if an expunging process is to take place. If changes art to be made to our system
to regain integrity and standards, first must be revealed the evils and wrongdoings which
occurred in the Past. The media play an important role in doing that and they are doing it
well.
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When the changes are proposed people will, firstly, support them and when they are
implemented people will have their faith restored in a system they once respected- However,
care must also be exercised by the media and the public, as the Royal Commissioners have
said, not to prejudge people. I will comment further about that in a while as a consequence
of revelations from the inquiry. Copies of Hansard can be picked up which the Opposition
has literally filled with talk about the evils of WA Inc and the need for the Royal
Commission and to which you, Mr Speaker, listened. Arguably, mart than any other group
in Australia or in Western Australia, the Opposition forced this Royal Commission to take
place. Not one section of the media has paid due recognition to the fact that, had it not been
for the vigilance, persistence and accuracy of the Opposition's inquiries about WA Inc
disasters over the years. a Royal Commission would not now be exposing the events in
Western Australia.
Opposition members: Hear, bear!
Mr MacKINNON: The Opposition came under vicious attack for its efforts, not only by the
Government but also by the media. Most sections of the media supported our opponents at
successive elections; they did not support the Opposition. It is time tribute was paid to the
people who, through all that, stood up and were counted. People need only to see the
tremendous amounts paid at that time; for example, yesterday we heard of the amounts
supposedly expended by the Labor Party on election campaigns. Today's paper revealed
$3.9 million was spent and I estimate that in 1989 the ALP spent about $5 million. The
Liberal Party spent only about $800 000 - less than $1 million - on its campaign because it
did not undertake the large funding operations carried out by its opponents.
Several members interjected
Mr MacKINNON: I am proud to have led the party that stood up over the past year or so
against what it knew was wrong and what has been clearly revealed to be wrong. Even if a
price had to be paid, history will show that, had it not been for the actions of this party, we
would not be seeing the great benefits flowing from the Royal Commission hearings.
Compared with our actions, the Government seems to want things both ways.
Mr Graham interjected.
Mr MacKINNON: The Premier, with the member for Pilbara's support, told members not to
pre-empt the Royal Commission or to prejudge Mr Burke and others. Yet the very next day
the Minister for Microeconornic Reform wanted us to endorse disclosure legislation ahead of
the Royal Commission findings, thus prejudging the Royal Commission and its
recommendations in that regard. The Government cannot have things both ways; it either
does not want to prejudge or it does. It must be consistent. As I have said. I do not believe
the findings should be prejudged. Some significant implications will come from the Royal
Commission. Stunts like that proposed by the Minister for Microeconomic Reform should
not occur.
Bearing in mind the WA Inc events, how many people in this State were sacked by the
Government during the past seven weeks or so? How many Ministers were sacked for the
disgraceful behaviour we have seen? Can anyone name one person who has been sacked?
Several Opposition members: Not one.
Mr Court: I can tell you how many were promoted.
Mr MacKINNON: As I have said recently in several speeches, it is amazing that during
Malcolm Fraser's regime people were dismissed from the Ministry because they misstated
amounts involving about $160 worth of import duty on their immigration customer
disclosure forms. Yet Ministers have lied to this Parliament.

Withdrawal of Remark

Mr GRAHAM: There is absolutely no evidence that a Minister lied to the Parliament.
Several members interjected.
Mr GRAHAM: That remark should be withdrawn; it is a scurrilous allegation.
The SPEAKER: Order! We must have a standard set of procedures that when a member
from anywhere in the House makes a point of order no interjections are made. If we want
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fair judgments in this place members must give me an opportunity to make them in a
reasonable environent.
Secondly, it is not appropriate to use the word "lie" in this place in reference to Ministers.
did not immediately jump to my feet because the Leader of the Opposition may well have
been referring to people who have gone from this place. I still do not like the word being
used in this place in reference to them. It is certainly not appropriate to use it when referring
to members who are sitting in this House and, on that basis, it should not be used. I am not
sumt how the Leader of the Opposition was actually using the term. If, indeed, he was
referring to members in this place, or members who should be in this place, then he should
withdraw his remark. If he was referring to a member of the public he need not withdraw it.
I caution members about using that word: It is better not to use it.
Mr MacKINNON: I am happy to withdraw my remark.

Debate Resumed
Mr MacKINNON: Regardless of whether my comment referred to present Ministers or past
Ministers, without question they deliberately set out to mislead the Parliament. In the case of
David Parker evidence to the Royal Commission shows that he did so. Whatever
connotation one puts on it one should question the standards of members opposite because
not one person was dismissed. It says an awful lot about the Government of Western
Australia.
The second point about the evidence that has been put before the Royal Commission is that
on countless occasions members on this side of the House pointed out exactly the same thing
to the Government. Can anyone recall any member of the Government questioning what was
happening? Can anyone remember members opposite voting against Burke, Dowding or
anyone else when the Opposition was attacking the Government over WA Inc issues? Can
anyone recall members opposite resigning as a consequence of WA Inc? Some members did
resign for reasons not associated with WA Inc, and they left the State to live elsewhere.
They did not say they had done wrong and that was the mason they resigned. The member
for Perth resigned after the dismissal of Ministers and the behaviour of the current Premier,
not because of WA Inc.
An Opposition member~ He was worried.
Mrf MacKINNON: I think he was.
The questions I have raised demonstrate the lack of commitment to standards by this
Government. We have today a situation in which the Premier is defending Terry Burke and
retaining him in his position as chairman of this State's overseas relations committee. He
travels overseas representing Western Australia, yet she is not prepared to stand him down
for the duration of the Royal Commission. Why will she not stand him down? Perhaps we
will learn why during the course of the Royal Commission.

Point of Order
Mlr PEARCE: In the absence of the Premier I have taken over the responsibility of dealing
with this Bill today and I will be replying to the comments that have been made.
Mr Speaker, I ask you to consider the ambit of the comments being made, If we are to have
a general discussion about what is before the Royal Commission and what occurred in this
House prior to its being set up, I would like someone to tell me so I can respond in those
terms and we can settle back for several days. The Bill allows the Royal Commissioners to
sit separately and to take a couple of specific actions in regard to the running of the Royal
Commission. It is not a Bill to establish a Royal Commission and it does not allow for the
debate we are having. Mr Speaker, you drew that to the attention of the member for
Applecross yesterday when he was following a similar line to that which the Leader of the
Opposition is now following. I know it is your practice to allow a general ambit discussion
in relation to second reading debates, but it seems that the Opposition is using this debate as
an opportunity to canvass everything appearing before the Royal Commission and it is
inappropriate.
The SPEAKER: It is clear that tiis Hill does not allow a general ambit discussion on
everything before the Royal Commission. I would appreciate it if the current speaker, and
those who are to follow, would recognise that and endeavour to relate their remarks to the
Bill.
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Debate Resumed
Mr MacKINNON: Given the revelations at the Royal Commission about members opposite
who benefited from the leader's account, I am not surprised that the Premier continues to
support Terry Burke's remaining in the position he now holds. The business community is
concerned about it and because of his being retained in that position the good name of
Western Australia is being besmirched. He should be stood down.
The SPEAKER: Order! That is enough on that topic.
Mr MacKINNON: I am proud to be a member of a party which achieved the appointment of
the Royal Commission and this Bill will improve its operation. The Royal Commission has
received national significance for good reason. Its outcome will have ramifications for years
to come - well beyond the parliamentary career of all members in this place today - which
will improve the system of government in this nation. I am proud to be a member of a party
which has done more than any other party in Australia to bring it about.
MR COURT (Nedlands) [10.47 am]: I am part of a team which has been involved in
finding out the details of what is known as the WA Inc dealings. I have spent eight years of
my political life concentrating on the deals which are the subject of investigation by the
Royal Commission. I have been watching the proceedings of the commission with
considerable interest. When one is a student of and a player in the political game in this
State he finds that the Royal Commission is filling in the missing gaps of events during a
couple of election campaigns.
I was on the receiving end of a lot of ridicule by members opposite when the Opposition was
doing its best to expose the Government's business undertakings which it was concerned
about. On many occasions the Opposition was told to produce the evidence and it was with
some pride that it was able to produce the evidence to back up the claims it was making. The
Royal Commission is now f illing in the gaps which the Opposition, with its limited access to
resources to obtain further information, was unable to fill. It is now apparent that the
Opposition did a fairly accurate job.
Members opposite were quick to defend some of the people who were referred to during the
debate on this Bill yesteday. They were sensitive about comments that referred to some of
their former leaders and Ministers of this State. One thing we must realise is that there are
still members of this Government, including the Premier and Deputy Premier, who were
members of the Cabinet which made the key decisions on deals which have become known
as WA Inc. The present Cabinet may present itself as the post-WA Inc/Royal Commission
team running this State, but the reality is they were part of the Cabinet and they cannot
distance themselves from the Cabinet responsibility for those decisions. The rank and file of
the Australian Labor Party must be considerably concerned when listening to the evidence
given at the Royal Commission. The people who made donations thought their money
would be used for political purposes to promote the Labor Party, but a large part of those
funds was paid in commission or went to soccer clubs. The rank and file of the Labor Party
and those who made the donations must be extremely disappointed with the behaviour of the
people responsible for handling the money. There were certainly many snouts in the trough
in the fundraising arrangements.
The point I make in the House today is concerned not so much with the details of the
evidence given in the Royal Commission, but with some consideration of where the Royal
Commission is going. We know what has taken place to force the Government to establish a
Royal Commission.
Mr Pearce: Were you not in the Chamber a few minutes ago?
Mr COURT: Yes, I was, and that is exactly the reason I raise these points. If the Leader of
the House will allow me to develop my argument, I will explain why these amendments do
not go far enough and why further amendments should be made to the Bill. We are all aware
of the pressures which forced the Government to establish the Royal Commission; that Royal
Commission is now operating and it appears to be doing a very thorough job. Certainly the
media art enjoying the stories which emerge every day from the hearings. Much publicity
surrounds the details, of which the public were not previously aware. The Leader of the
House will be aware that one of the proposed amendments would give the Royal
Commission additional powers to seize and search documents it believes are relevant to its
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inquiries. I am very concerned about one issue; that is, the mechanism to be employed in
laying charges against people on the recommendation of the Royal Commission. What
action will be taken on such recommendations by the Royal Commission? During its
operations the Royal Commission will reveal wrongdoing by various people, but the
commission itself has no power to prosecute people. Some of the matters being examined by
the Royal Commission took place between five and eight years ago. Already a problem has
arisen because many of the records of those dealings have disappeared. The Argyle deal
took place seven or eight years ago and an indication has already been given that some
information is no longer available. It is obvious that the system in place before the Royal
Commission was established was inadequate and ineffective, because day after day in this
House the Opposition exposed improper and illegal dealings, and yet no action was taken on
these matters. No investigations or prosecutions flowed from the Opposition's comments.
The history of the Opposition's fight for the appointment of an independent Director of
Public Prosecutions is a clear indication of the Government's attitude. For some years the
Opposition campaigned heavily for the appointment of an independent Director of Public
Prosecutions in this State, and for a couple of years the Government rejected that proposal.
However, it eventually introduced a Bill providing for the appointment of a DPP, following
which the Opposition proposed some amendments. The Government opposed those
amendments. The Opposition wanted the appointment of the DPP to be made by an
independent group of people rather than by the Government, because it wanted to maintain
the independence of this office from the Government. It has become obvious, as a
consequence of the WA Inc dealings and the evidence heard in the Royal Commission, why
the Government does not want an independent to be DPP appointed. Legislation for the
establishment of a DPP is before the Parliament currently, and again the Government is
insisting on making the appointment itself rather than allowing an independent group of
people to make that appointment. We have been through what can only be described as a
financial bloodbath in this State's political history, that will go down as the worst ever series
of financial events undertaken by a Government. However, no mechanism is yet in place
whereby an independent body can be responsible for laying charges against people, on the
recommendation of the Royal Commission. The Opposition has given notice that it will seek
to amend the Bill. This amendment arises from the events surrounding Michael Hale's
evidence. The Royal Commission has stated that it will refer this case to the Attorney
General but, as mentioned by the member for Applecross and the Leader of the Opposition, it
is not appropriate for the Attorney General to determine whether action should be taken.
One of the ways out of this situation would be for the Government to now appoint a special
prosecuting team which could carry out the investigations and prosecutions which flow from
the Royal Commission hearings. Members may recall that when the Official Corruption
Commission was formed, the decision on its membership was made by a team of people,
including the Chief Justice, the Commissioner of Police and the Attorney General. It would
be proper for a special prosecution team to be put in place now so that it could begin its
work. In Queensland a special prosecutor was appointed after the Royal Commission in that
State had reported. Premier Ahern established the special prosecution office, and the special
prosecutor had full power to investigate matters raised by the Royal Commission at his own
discretion and full power to prosecute people at his own discretion. In view of the events
which have taken place in this State, and because many of them took place seven or eight
years ago, no time should be wasted in pursuing these investigations in preparation for
prosecutions. If recommendations were made by the Royal Commission, certain
investigations and prosecutions could proceed without delay. Under the existing
arrangements the Royal Commission may not finish its inquiries for another year or two, and
the investigations will then begin. It could be 10 years after the events before prosecutions
are launched. We are already running into problems of information disappearing, and there
may also be some difficulty with the Statute of limitations. The history surrounding this
Royal Commission, the events leading up to its establishment, and the evidence emerging
from the hearings, mean that special action should be taken and a special prosecution task
force should be set up immediately.
We also believe that there should be a truly independent Director of Public Prosecutions and
not just one who has been appointed by the Attorney General. The Royal Commission is
doing its job. It has come to this Parliament asking for amendments to its legislation. The
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pursuit of wrongdoing to the point of conviction in the courts is an area causing the
Opposition considerable concern. It is a special issue which needs to be examined seriously
at this point of the Royal Commission's operations. Clearly, current arrangements do not
work and are not good enough. We will take a small step towards those changes with the
amendment we will pursue later during this debate.
I never thought that I would rise in this place and say that I have sympathy for some of the
people already charged because of wrongdoings associated with Rothwells. It is interesting
that under the mechanism operating in this State charges have been laid against a certain
group in our community but nothing has been put in place and no charges have been laid
against the political chiefs directing operations. The one thing causing great concern in the
community is that the political masters who masterminded these operations have to date been
let off scat-free. If one looks at the charges already laid one sees that they have flowed from
the task force established after the McCusker inquiry. That task force recommended that
prosecutions be laid. Those recommendations were made to the Attorney General. It would
be good if they had been made to an independent DPP so that the Attorney General would
not be the one implementing those charges. We all know the terms of reference of the
McCusker inquiry were set in such a way that they did not attack the Government's
involvement in Rothwells but only looked at one side of the story; therefore, the charges that
have arisen have related only to one side, resulting in the shooting of the indians and not the
chiefs. It is important we understand how that task force operated. I put to the Leader of the
House -

Mr C.J. Barnett: He looks very lonely over there -

Several members inteijected.
Mr Pearce: Members opposite have obviously not heard of Horatius at the bridge;
sometimes there needs to be only one solitary figure against a feeble attack.
Mr COURT: Opposition members axe used to members opposite calling our attacks feeble.
However, before he leaves the House nowadays the Leader of the House must think to
himself that perhaps he should listen a little to what we are saying because we have persisted
on this matter over the years and have been largely responsible for the Royal Commission
being called. He must give credit where credit is due. I think the Minister would be shocked
at some of the evidence given to the Royal Commission about the operations within the
Labor Party. If I were in the Minister's position I would be very concerned about some of
those revelations. We do not mind a bit of personal abuse, but I am putting today an
important point; that is, that we have run into a problem with this Royal Commission because
there is no way the public can see whether charges will be laid or who will be responsible for
carying out those prosecutions, and we must do something about that. I will give an
example to the Leader of the House. If a Minister goes to the Royal Commission today and
perjures himself and the Royal Commission finds out and pulls him up, what happens? A
report goes to the Attorney General, who is one of the Ministers involved in the dealings.
The public say they do not have faith in that arrangement.
Mr Pearce: It is not as black and white as the member for Nedlands says. The fact is that the
Royal Commission does not propose making its decisions, its findings under its terms of
reference, term by term. My understanding is that it has decided to produce all its findings in
one hit. Until such time as it presents those findings it cannot say that X peijured himself. It
can say that there is argument about the truth or falsity of evidence given to it. I think some
people have not given the full story or have told fibs - not Ministers, but others - and under
those circumstances it requires the Royal Commission to make findings before one can start
prosecuting people.
Mr COURT: This is where the Leader of the House is wrong. A case has already occurred
with Mr Hale where the Royal Commission wants to refer a matter to the Attorney General.
Mr Pearce: The Royal Commission has not made a decision he has committed peijury but
that there might be enough evidence for the matter to be investigated.
Mr COURT: That is what I am saying; one does not just prosecute without carrying out an
investigation. This is a major shortcoming of the Royal Commission because the reality is
that investigations should be under way now and prosecutions should take place now. As I
explained previously, these matters are already eight years old and some will be 10 year old
if we wait for the Royal Commission to report.
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Mr Pearce: The North West Shelf matter is in that category.
Mr COURT: The Leader of the House is correct. We are saying that, of all of the things to
be considered by the Royal Commission, that is not a worry to us in the slightest. We say
that the investigations should be under way with prosecutions proceeding immediately. This
Royal Commission will hot up as we are only in the early stages. Some of the later dealings
were extremely complicated and I think something like a special prosecution force will need
to be set up so action is taken. I hope I have made my point clear to the Leader of the House
because this is a question now being asked widely in the community.
It is great that the Royal Commission is up and running and we are seeing all this evidence
coming out. The media are having a field day printing it all. However, what will happen at
the end of the day? Will we see a situation where a proper prosecution is not put in place to
ensure that die people who have been involved in wrongdoings appear before a court where
they can face conviction? As I said previously, the Royal Commission was set up with a
system that does not work. We can come into this Parliament and reveal wongdoings but
no-one out there is pushing ahead with investigations. Why? Because the people who have
to make the decision to push ahead with investigations are the very people involved in the
wrongdoings; that is the weakness in the whole system. The power to handle investigations
and prosecutions must be taken away from the Government because it is the Government that
is being investigated. Special circumstances are involved, and because of that special actions
such as the setting up of a special prosecutions task force must be taken.
I saw the former Premier, Mr Burke, on television the other night saying that he was not
involved in any impropriety. I nearly choked, because we have raised numerous examples in
this Parliament of where, leaving illegality aside, impropriety was involved. Many examples
of that could be raised in this House. Had we been able to debate the Speaker's ruling about
whether former members of this House had told lies, that would have been a pretty
fascinating debate because we would have been able to raise the issue of the guarantees
which were given and contrast them with the commitments made in this House that they
were not in place. We would have been able to raise the Rothwells rescue, where we were
given a watertight commitment that all of Mr and Mrs Connell's personal assets had been
pledged to the Government against the guarantee.
Mr Pearce: That is what Mr Connell told us.
Mr COURT: The Government did not even get signed a bit of paper to give effect to that
pledge. Absolutely nothing was taken in support of it. The Argyle diamond deal is soon to
come before the Royal Commission.
The DEPUTY SPEAKER: Order! I remind you of what the Speaker drew attention to
earlier. I was listening to his remarks when the previous point of order was taken. I do not
want to restrict die debate in an undue fashion but I remind you of the terms of the Bill
before the House and the, need to return to your argument about the amendment and your
views on iL.
Mr COURT: Mr Deputy Speaker, I accept that position. The beauty of the Royal
Commission is that we can present evidence to it. We have already produced most of that
evidence in this Parliament. The Royal Commission can then make the decisions about
impropriety and illegality. That is one of the important things which is coming out of this
Royal Commission. The Royal Commission is now up and running, and the people involved
in it are doing a good job in carrying out their responsibilities. However, I am concerned
about how prosecutions will be carried out. Who will make those recommendations; who
will do the investigations; and who will finally make the prosecutions so that they can come
before a court? A wealcness in the operations of the Royal Commission has already been
exposed because it can refer matters to the Attorney General, but the Attorney General is one
of the people who were involved in many of the deals which are being investigated. We
want to see a Director of Public Prosecutions appointed independently. For many years now
the Government has held off creating that position and making an appointment in that way.
This is a special Royal Commission and there are special circumstances because it is
investigating Government business dealings, so a special prosecuting task force should be
appointed. I suggest the task force should be appointed in the same way as the Independent
Corruption Commission was appointed. That task force should not wait until the Royal
Commission finishes its inquiries, because that could take some years, but should start
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investigating and making prosecutions now. There is no reason why that cannot be done. I
urge the Government to look at these proposals because I believe that in the weeks ahead
pressure wil mount for those changes to be made.
MR PEARCE (Armadale - Leader of the House) 111. 10 amt]: The Government appreciates
the support of Opposition members for this legislation, but in accepting their support I rject
almost all of the reasons which have been adduced in advance of that support. [particularly
take this opportunity to read the House a warning comparable with the warning which was
given by the Royal Commissioners on the first day of the sittings of the Royal Commission;
namely - and I am paraphrasing - that in the days and weeks ahead many people will say a lot
of things before the Royal Commission, and those things will not necessarily be true, and
allegations will be made to which people will not immediately have the opportunity to
respond. Members should be very careful about assuming that because somebody says
something before the Royal Commission, that is the truth, the whole truth and nothing but
the truth with regard to that matter. I can understand the political reasons which might lead
the Opposition to grab the statements of some of the early witnesses before the Royal
Commission and wave them around as if they were holy writ or fully established facts, but
the fact is that those statements may not necessarily be the truth, and it is the job of the Royal
Commission to listen to everyone, to listen to all the allegations, and to work out how much
substance is in those allegations. The Royal Commission will then report to the Parliament
and the people of this State in respect of the truth of the matters which are under
investigation.
Mr Ornodei: The converse is also the case: Other evidence given by witnesses could also be
of the same level of veracity.
Mr PEARCE: That is true, but we do not know. The job of the Royal Commissioners is to
find that out. People ought not to be leaping up and down and saying, "Ha ha; here we are;
the Royal Commission has established the truth because X has said Y before the Royal
Commission". The Opposition is trying to say that the Royal Commission has already
established all sorts of things. That is not the case. So far the Royal Commission has
established nothing. It has heard firom a range of witnesses, a very incomplete range of
witnesses at the present time, and it has not voiced an opinion about any single matter. For
the Opposition to pretend that a huge amount has already been established with regard to
corruption and other things, and that there is more to come, is simply not the truth of the way
the commission is operating. It behoves members of Parliament, more than the avenage, not
to try to convey impressions which are not substantiated by the facts. I can understand the
political reasoning behind what the Opposition is seeking to do here. I can understand that
members of the Opposition will grab at any opportunity - and perhaps we cannot blame them
too much for that when we consider the many long years they have been in Opposition - but
it strikes me as a touch unprincipled.
I was particularly taken by the member for Nedlands, who has clearly inherited the family's
humility, when he put forward the proposition that the job of the Royal Commission was to
fill in the gaps which the Opposition had not quite been able to do in the course of the past
few years. Hie implied that the Opposition had by and large established all those things but
there were a few gaps it could not get to, for technical reasons, and it was the job of the
Royal Commission to fill in those gaps. That is not right at all. Many of the claims which
have been made by the Opposition are. now-being made before the Royal Commission by the
very people who made those claims to the Opposition in the first place. in fact, those who
have been the informants to the Opposition are now the informants to the Royal
Commission. The fact is, as I said at the time, the Royal Commission has been established,
and it is now time for the Opposition to put up or shut up. The Opposition should give to the
Royal Commission the evidence which it has and let the Royal Commissioners make their
judgment. The Opposition has not done that yet. I have not seen one member of the
opposition at the Royal Commission to tender documents.
Mr C.J. Barnett: Hon Max Evans has made a few trips down there.
Mr PEARCE: He may have gone there to hand over a few papers. I appreciate hearing that
because I now know of one example. However, he has not spoken on anything, and for all I
know he gave them his own diary. It may be that members of the Opposition will go down
there. The point I make is when they do go there, the Royal Commission will have the
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opportunity to test those claims. It is not surprising that some of the claims which have been
made in this House by the Opposition are the same claims which have been made before the
Royal Commission, because the source of the claims has been the same in both cases. The
Royal Commission will decide what is the truth. We on this side of the House are perfectly
content to await the outcome of the Royal Commission's deliberations, If the report of the
Royal Commission does reveal illegality of any kind, or enough evidence to support claims
of illegality, we will take similar steps to those which we took in regard to the McCusker
report; namely, a separate prosecution section was set up to work through all the claims
which were made in the McCusker report and to lay charges as appropriate. That is the right
way to go.
The claim by the Opposition that a series of prosecutions should be run in advance of the
findings of the Royal Commission seems to me to be bizarre in the extreme, for two reasons.
First, the way to run a Royal Commission is not to start prosecuting people because of the
findings of the Royal Commission when the Royal Commission has not yet made any
findings. Second, I bet my bottom dollar that we will not get any convictions under those
circumstances because I am sure all sorts of lawyers will be leaping up and down on behalf
of putative clients and asking how will their clients get a fair trial when aUl of this charade or
circus is going on in the Royal Commission. That is not a proper way to go about that
business; and, as I pointed out by way of interjection, even in the single case that was raised -
the evidence given by Mr Musca and Mrt Hale - the Royal Commission has made no finding
of perjury. If the Royal Commission believes there may be a matter worthy of investigation
by investigators, it will refer it to investigating agents, in the same way as other courts would
do under those circumstances.
That is perfectly proper and established procedure for dealing with those matters. I
appreciate the support of members for the Bill, and I am sorry that the discussion has not
related much to it. We will see, running in parallel to the Royal Commission for the next
year or so, efforts by the Opposition yapping at the heels of the Royal Commission trying to
claim as much credit as possible and gain as much as political advantage as it can.
There is no doubt that the Government has serious problems as a result of the Royal
Commission. The perception in the community is a real difficulty for us, as evidenced by
our low standing in the polls and the result of the CGeraldton by-election. But all of our
difficulties and all of our problems have not translated into more than a handful of voters
going over to the Opposition. The reason for that is, quite simply, because of the way the
Opposition has comported itself; it has no credibility in advance.
Mr Clarko: It was 16.5 per cent.
Mr PEARCE: Can the member tell me the last time when the one major party received
16.5 per cent of the primary vote and the second major party could not win an election
outright?
Several members interjected.
Mr PEARCE: Listen: When we have two major parties, and one receives 16.5 per cent of
the primary vote, can members opposite tell me any time in the history of Australia when the
other major party has not been able to win that election?
Several members interjected.
Mr PEARCE: It is no good saying that. The point I am making is that in those
circumstances -

Several members interjected.
The DEPUTY SPEAKER: Order! I think this diversion into the Geraldton by-election has
little to do with the Bill before the House. I urge members on bath sides to confine their
remarks to the central question.
Mrt Court: He raised it; we do not mind debating it.
Mr PEARCE: Members opposite would do much better concentrating on the significant
issues which need to be attended to in this State, such as where its electricity supply should
come from, and leaving the job of the Royal Commission to those who are well placed to do
that job such as the Royal Commissioners.
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Question put and passed.
Bill read a second rime.

Commnittee
The Deputy Chairman of Committees (Mr Kobelke) in the Chair; Mr Pearce (Leader of the
House) in charge of the Bil.
Mr LEWIS: I seek your guidance, Mr Deputy Chairman, in that I wish to move some
amendments to the principal Act. The amendments come within the long tidle of the Bill.
Mr Pearce: Any amendment would be in the long title because the long title says that the
purpose of the Bill is to amend the Act.
Mr LEWIS: There are amendments before the House, and normally in the Committee stage
of a Bill it is proper for a new clause to be inserted. I see no meason why a new section could
not be included in the Bill as presented.
Mr PEARCE: The member for Applecross has given me notice of amendments to clauses
13, 14 and 15, which deal with the issue he seeks to raise in the debate; chat is the issue of
allowing the chairman of the Royal Commission rather than the Attorney General to be the
person to whom peijury matters are referred. That does not appear in the amending Bill
before the House and the clauses he seeks to amend are not referred to in the amending Bill.
There have been ample precedents, running back over many years, where members have not
been permitted to seek to move amendments to the parent Act because someone else is
moving other amendments to it. There must be a connection between the amendments in the
amending Bill and the additional amendments sought. In this case the second reading speech
clearly shows chat the Royal Commissions Amendment Bill seeks to allow the three
commissioners to sit separately rather than all together, and it gives the power to the Royal
Commission to search for and seize documents and other evidence. That is all the amending
Bill does. The member for Applecross is saying, because a Bill to amend the Royal
Commissions Act is before the Parliament, the Opposition would like an amendment of its
own.
Mr Lewis: Is that not proper?
Mr PEARCE: No it is not; it has nothing to do with the amendments in the Government's
amendment Bill.
Mr Lewis: What are you scared of?
Mr PEARCE: This Parliament should run properly and the member for Applecross should
know the processes. If the member wants to introduce these amendments be should put an
amending Bill before the House.
Mr Court: We have an amending Bill before the House.
Mr PEARCE: The alternative would be, at any time when anyone puts an amending Bill'
before the House, the parent Act would be opened to all the amendments which any member
might want to move. That has never been the case in the past, and there is ample precedent
for ruling in the alternative direction. The amendments sought to be moved by the member
for Applecross are not competent in these circumstances and the proper procedure is for him
to introduce an amending Bill of his own. -

Mr LEWIS: I do not have the wealth of parliamentary understanding which the Leader of
the House has, and I readily admit that. However, I suggest that on many occasions, in my
short experience in this House, in the course of the Committee stage of Bills, new clauses
have been inserted. We have befoiM this Parliament a Bill for an Act to amend the Royal
Commissions Act 1968. That is the long tide. With respect, if the subject of the amendment
I san proposing falls within the ambit of die long tidle, I cannot see why that additional clause
cannot be included. What the Leader of the House is suggesting is that I should give notice
next Tuesday. I would then have to go through the whole process and everything would be
stalled for a fortnight- For what purpose? My point is that these amendments will be
presented to this House; it is only a matter of time. I would like to think that the Leader of
the House, in his responsible position, acting on behalf of the Government and being
responsible for the conduct and the work of Parliament, would have been delighted to cut out
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an additional Bill in order to facilitate the workings of this Parliament rather than get up
today and object because he is running scared and he knows very well that the amendments
are right and proper and should be included in the Bill. He wants to stall because the
Government has something to cover up.

Deputy Chairman's Ruling
The DEPUTY CHAIRMvAN (Mr Kabelke): I thank the member for Applecross for putting
that point to me. I draw the attention of the House to Standing Order No 267 which, as the
member for Applecross pointed out, does refer to the title of the Bill. However, in making
my decision on this I think the beginning of Standing Order No 267 is particularly relevant;
that is -

Any amendment may be made to a clause, provided the same be relevant to the
subject matter of the Bill..

I understand two major matters are involved in this Bill. One relates to the functioning of the
Royal Commission in terms of the Chairman, and the other relates to search warrants. The
amendments standing in the name of the member for Applecross are not, in my opinion,
relevant to those matters; therefore I would rule that this amendment is not admissible.

Point of Order
Mr LEWIS: I do not want to dissent from your ruling, Wr Deputy Chairman, but I think
what we are endeavouring to do here is important enough for me to do that. As you say, any
amendment may be made to a clause provided the same be relevant to the subject matter of
the Bill. What is the subject matter of the Bill?
Mr Pearce: The subject matter of the Bill is the ability of the Royal Commissioners to sit
separately and the power to search and seize documents. The member for Applecross should
do what he seeks to do by a separate Bill - he will get it up in a week or two. The principle
he is asking the House to accept is that any time an amending Bill comes forward it opens up
the ambit of the parent Bill to further amendment. That would effectively reduce the
Parliament to chaos.
Mr LEWIS: I do not believe that is true. We are facilitating the operation of this House.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: I ask the member for Applecross to please come to the point. I
have made a ruling; that cannot now be canvassed. If he has a further point of order I Will be
happy to listen to it, but I have made a ruling on his previous question, which was to put
forward an amendment. I find that amendment not acceptable.
Mr Blailde: The member could disagree with your ruling, Mr Deputy Chairman, could he
not?
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: He certainly may, by the proper process of dissent.
Mr CLARKO: Mrt Deputy Chairman, would you kindly repeat the essence of why this
amendment - and, I understand, subsequent amendments -is unacceptable?
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: For the benefit of the member for Marmion and the Chamber,
I repeat that I have made a ruling wider Standing Order No 267. The initial part, and main
point, of that Standing Order is that an amendment must be relevant to the subject matter of
the Bill - not the title of the Bill, but the subject matter of the Bill. That Standing Order goes
on to refer to the tidle, but the primary point is that it must be relevant to the subject matter of
the Bill. The subject matter of this Bill relates to two things, to which I have referred, and I
judge that the amendment is not relevant to those two matters. On that basis, it would not be
acceptable for this amendment to come forward. I have made that ruling and it is not
appropriate for that to be canvassed.

Committee Resumed
Clause 1: Short title -
Mr COURT: l am not canvassing your ruling, Mr Deputy Chairman, but clause 1 states -

This Act may be cited as the Royal Commissions Amendment Act 1991.
As you can understand, Sir, we were pretty keen for an amendment to be moved and the
course of action that has been suggested to us relates to our introducing a private member's
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Bill. I suppose that if that is what we must do, that is what must do; but as I said during the
second reading debate, the Government must face up to the whole issue of how to handle the
recommendations made by the Royal Commission. Currently those recommendations are
being forwarded to the Attorney General and the Government seems to be happy for that to
continue, but we are not at all happy.
I believe I am entitled to make this comment during debate on the short title of the Bill, and I
will be brief: In summing up this important piece of legislation, the Leader of the House said
that my claim that a special prosecutor should get under way now is bizarre. Effectively he
is saying that it is also bizarre that charges have already been laid against some of the players
in this operation, when the Royal Commission is under way.
Mr Pearce: But not arising from the Royal Commission's activities.
Mr COURT: It relates to much of the same material. Before the Government agreed to a
Royal Commission it kept telling us, "You can't have a Royal Commission because charges
are already being laid."I
Mr Pearce: And isn't that being proved right now? Some of those people have had their
cases postponed for a year.
Mr COURT: Now the Government wants to use that argument mn reverse. I have mentioned
before what happened in the case of the Fitzgerald Royal Commission in Queensland, and I
want to put this on record because when I made those comments I was not aware of the time
schedule. I understand that the special prosecution got under way after the Fitzgerald report
was made public. This is the timing of events as they occurred in Queensland: The Special
Prosecutor's Act was passed on 17 November 1988;, the last oral evidence was given to the
Fitzgerald inquiry on 18 December 1988; the inquiry reported in July 1989; the Special
Prosecutor was appointed on 13 December 1988 - that is, before the inquiry had finished
taking evidence.
Mr Pearce: They did not prosecute anybody, though, did they?
Mr COURT: The first defendants went before the court in January 1989, seven months
before the commission reported.
Mr Pearce: What was the charge?
Mr COURT: I cannot be specific about the charge, but my point is that in the Queensland
situation - which is quite different from ours - they had their Act, the prosecutor was
appointed, and they were laying charges well before the report became public.
As I said during the second reading debate, we have a special set of circumstances in this
State. The Government has taken this upon itself - it did not want to accept the amendments
we put forward, which is just a small step towards what we want to achieve. The
Government has made that decision and we must now proceed along another route to try to
bring about those changes. However, the Government should listen to what we are saying.
because its credibility will now come under question on the issue of who will handle the
investigations and prosecutions arising from the Royal Commission. I think the Government
should turn its mind to how that will be achieved, because brushing it aside today will not
solve the problem for the Government. I believe this is one of the serious shortcomings
which must be resolved now that the Royal Commission is up and running.
Mr PEARCE: This really is an inappropriate debate to have under the short title of the Bill,
which does not afford members an opportunity to recanvass the issues raised during the
second reading debate. However, I will respond briefly to the remarks of the member for
Nedlands. Clearly the Government will be putting its mind to how prosecutions would be
handled, and I suppose we will examine the way in which we acted under the McCusker
report. All he said with regard to the Queensland business is that they started to set up the
prosecution team a little in advance of the end of that very lengthy Royal Commission. I am
not aware of the circumstances of the Royal Commission in Queensland - whether it dealt
with items point by point and reported, or made other reports, or whatever. The
circumstances there are quite different from those here, as the member for Nedlands pointed
out. However, we are saying that it would be quite inappropriate to set up a prosecution
teamn to run prosecutions in tandem with the activities of the Royal Commission, before the
Royal Commission makes its findings.
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Mr Court: But that could be at the direction of the Royal Commission.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN (Mr Kobelke): Would the Leader of the House quickly bring
his remarks to a conclusion please.
Mr PEARCE: Yes, Mr Deputy Chairman, I was just about to raise a point of order against
myself because this is not an appropriate discussion to have, but I thought it was incumbent
on me to respond to the member for Nedlands.
Clause put and passed.
Clause 2: Commencement -

Mr COURT: Clause 2 states that this Bill commences operation on 8 January 1991, which
makes it retrospective. Have problems arisen in relation to searching and seizing
documentation, and so on, which require the backdating of this legislation? If so, what
problems have arisen, and if this clause were not passed bow would the inquiries that have
already taken place be affected?
Mr PEARCE: I am not able to answer that. I am not aware of any problems. The Act is a
precautionary one in that regard. I think 8 January is the day on which the Royal
Commission was formally constituted and the amending Act has been backdated to ensure no
problems occur.
Clause put and passed.
Clause 3 put and passed.
Clause 4: Section 4 amended -

Mr COURT: Provision is made for the commissioners to run hearings individually. What is
the intention of the provision to allow commissioners the option to run two or three hearings
separately? Is the purpose to speed up the operations of the commission?
Mr PEARCE: When the Royal Commission was established, the Government was anxious
for the commission's activities to be completed within one yeas; for a number of reasons,
expedition was desirable and one year was a reasonable time. Some of the Royal
Commissioners were keen to ensure that the job would not run much beyond a year.
Agreement was reached between the Government and some Royal Commissioners that one
year would be appropriate. At least one commissioner was reluctant to take on the job in the
fiart instance, and finally did so on the basis that it would not stretch beyond one year. After
discussions, that was the reason the Government appointed three commissioners rather than
one. Originally, the intention was to appoint a single commissioner but when the terms of
reference were drawn up we realised the extent of the job, so we then appointed thire
commissioners. From the outset the intent was that three commissioners would sit
separately, maybe deal with separate references, each in tandem, so that the matter could be
dealt with quickly.
Mr Cowan: Did the Minister say they would deal with separate references?
Mr PEARCE: One commissioner might be dealing with one term of reference while another
would deal with a separate term of reference; that is the way we tried to speed up the
exercise.
Mr Lewis: It was a different part of the schedule.
Mr PEARCE: The intention was to finish the huge job inside one year by having three
commissioners instead of one. At the time of the appointment, agreement was reached with
the commissioners. However, once they got down to sitting and looked at the Act it was
realised that although nothing contained in the Act prevents their sitting separately, some
sections of the parent Act could be interpreted to mean that they should sit together. It is not
clear that that is the case; probably it is not the case but a doubt exists. We do not want that
doubt translated into a legal challenge 11I months down the track; that is, somebody might
feel he or she might be adversely reflected upon in the report of the commission and state
that the commissioners should not have been sitting separately, take the matter to the court,
and if the matter is upheld the Royal Commission would need to be held all over again. That
is reason the Royal Commissioners have been sitting together. It is a precautionary measure.
Mr Cowan: That is one of the reasons.
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Mr PEARCE: Theft may be others. In the end, ir is the commissioners who will decide how
they sit. The intent was dhac they would sit separately to expedite the operations of the Royal
Commission. One good reason they have not done that is that the Act contains that doubt.
This legislation is designed to give the capacity to sit separately. Itris the Government's hope
that they sit separately so that the fear expressed by the Opposition that this matter might
blow out for two or three years turns out not to be a reality. I emphasise that the commission
will determine how it sits - whether separately or jointly - and it will decide how it sees fir.
Mr COWAN: The National Parry supports the clause. My understanding is that while the
commissioners consider a doubt exists about the legality of sitting separately, in fact when
they are taking evidence from witnesses - where the credibility of witnesses is to be
established - it was considered by the commissioners it was better to sit jointly. Perhaps the
credibility of one witness would be doubted more than another, and rather than the
commissioners' sitting separately, hearing one witness, and trying to relate that evidence to
evidence heard by a fellow commissioner, they should sit jointly. I respect that. Where an
inquiry calls upon a number of witnesses to give evidence, and that evidence might conflict,
it will be difficult for the commissioners to sit separately if the power granted in the terns of
reference of the Royal Commission is in doubt - which has been pointed out by the
commissioners. I assume it was the commissioners who pointed that out.
Mr Pearce: It was.
Mr COWAN: Itris in doubt because of the wording of the Act. We want to ensure that the
matter is beyond doubt and the option is given to the commissioners to sit either jointly or
separately. With due respect, I think the Minister will find that the commissioners, for the
sake of caution, will not find it easy to sit separately where they must compare evidence of
different witnesses and decide who is the more credible witness.
Mr Pearce: That is their business.
My COWAN: It will be their decision. It is our responsibility to give them the option to sit
separately, if they so wish, thus ensuring that no challenges to the validity of the commission
will be made. No-one in this place would wish to see a challenge to the validity of the
commission's capacity to sit separately.
Clause put and passed.
Clause 5: Section 7 amended -

Mr LEWIS: Thiis clause refers to the terms of the appointment of the Royal Commission.
During debate yesterday I asked the Premier to clarify whether a requirement exists for the
commission to report on impropriety. I queried whether under the current term's of reference
the commission does not need to report on impropriety or other matters, if the commissioners
do not wish to do so. The Royal Commission should be required to report any finding of
impropriety. On that basis, yesterday I put to the Premier that it was a matter of importance
to clear up this point once and for all;, the Premier should state the Government's intentions.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: How does that query relate to this clause?
Mr LEWIS: Perhaps I am drawing a longbow. During debate yesterday I challenged the
Government to publicly clarify the intentions of the terms of reference as to the
commission's requirement to report. As this clause refers to the commission's terms of
reference and appointment I consider this a proper time to ask this question. Once again, the
Government is rather reluctant to clarify the intention. 1 accept that this is drawing a long
bow, Mr Deputy Chairman, but I put a question to the Leader of the House: If he feels that
he has a reason why this should not be done, he should stand up and categorically state what
the Government's intentions are.
The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN: The member for Applecross has made his comments, but it is
not necessary for the Minister to take up the points raised, the connection of the comments to
clause 5 of the Bill is rather tenuous.
Clause put and passed.
Clauses 6and 7 put and passed.
Clause 8: Section 18 inserted -

Mr COWAN: If the Minister is able to provide the answer, I will be interested to know why
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this clause provides for a warrant to be issued through the Supreme Court with a further
qualification. The firs: subclause makes it very clear that these powers cannot be exercised
by the commissioners automatically following the appointment of a Royal Commission. I
would like to know whether it was a Government decision that this limitation should apply in
the way it is worded in the clause; that is, only when it is included in the terms of reference
or when an instrument which is signed by the Governor is executed. Why is it done in this
way rather than in the way one would expect in allowing that provision to apply to all Royal
Commissions as a matter of statutory force? Did the commissioners request that measure, or
did the Government make die decision?
Mr PEARCE: I am not awnr of the extent of the discussions between the Government and
the commissioners about the form of the safeguard. The Royal Commission can search for
documents on the same basis as anybody else regarding investigations; that is, through the
police using the normal powers. However, police powers are limited to their own purpose
and are not as wide as those of a Royal Commission. The police can receive a search
warrant to search and seize only upon reasonable grounds that an offence has been
committed. Many cases may arise in which the Royal Commission may want documents
outside that amibit. To obtain a search warrant the police must get a document signed by a
justice of the peace; I have signed warrants in the past, as have other JPs in this place.
Mr Lewis: Like at your office.
Mr PEARCE: The thought had occurred to me at the time, However, I did not sign the
search warrant regarding the case of the person at my office, and no search warrant was
issued by any other justice -
Mr Lewis: That is not true.
Mr PEARCE: It is true; the member was wrong about that. The person rang up a radio
station and lied on air about other things he had told the police. I have a report on those
matters which can be produced in the appropriate forum should the need arise.
Search powers require safeguards. It has always been understood that if somebody is
accused, that does not make him guilty. lust because a Royal Commission is established,
people are not deprived of their rights, and checks and safeguards must be in the legislation.
Generally, Royal Commissions do not have the right to search and seize, and it was assumed
in the original Act that the powers to search and seize should not be wider than t police
powers - that is the way it has worked in the past. However, we recognise in these
circumstances that wider powers may be required, but as the Royal Commission will be able
to enter a person's premises and search for records without any reasonable suspicion of an
offence being committed - the commission can already subpoena documents - the proposal is
rather heavy-handed in many ways. It runs across the rights of ordinary people. The powers
may be necessary to discover the whole truth, but we believe it is necessary to have a
significant check on the powers before they are exercised. That is a sensible way of writing
the checks and balances into the system. I amn not aware of any dissent by the Royal
Commissioners to the proposal; I understand that the Bill was put before them before it
reached the Parliament. In a democratic society, and having regard for the rights of people,
this is a reasonable check.
Mr COWAN: I am still not await whether it was a Government or a Royal Commission
initiative. I support the initiative because one cannot be too careful about the way the Royal
Commission, or any commission, is given powers to enter premises to search for documents
after the documents have failed to be produced following a subpoena. This matter must be
carefully dealt with, and the manner in which it is dealt with in this Bill is quite appropriate.
However, I would like to know whether the powers were included as a result of the
Government's receiving advice or following a recommendation from the commission itself.
It is not a matter of great importance, but I would like to know.
Mr PEARCE: The reason that I am unable to enlighten the member is that I do not know. I
was not involved in the discussions on this Bill. I was involved at the Cabinet level and I
understand the decision making processes and the reasons for its inclusion. However, I am
not aware of the precise nature of the approaches, although I understand that both matters
were raised by the commissioners in discussions with the Government and the Government
reacted to the commissioners' request in producing this legislation. I was not involved with
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the precise nature of the discussions regarding this clause and if the member wants to find
out, he should ask the Premier a question next Tuesday.
Clause put and passed.
Title put and passed.

Report
Bill reported, without amendment, and the report adopted.

Third Reading
Leave granted to proceed forthwith to the third reading.
MR PEARCE (Arniadale - Leader of the House) [ 12.00 pm]: I move -

That the Bill be now read a third time.
MIR LEWIS (Applecross) [12.01 pm]: I am disappointed that the Leader of the House, or
indeed the Premier, who I accept probably has not had the opportunity here, did not clearly
state the intent of the terms of reference in relation to the anomaly that appears to exist; that
is, that the Royal Commissioners have no brief to report improprieties. They have a brief to
refer matters of criminality to the appropriate authority. They have a brief to recommend
changes in the law and report on changes that are necessary in the administrative sense so
that the bureaucracy will not be in this position again. The Royal Commissioners must have
the ability to report on impropriety bearing in mind that much play has been made of
peoples' claims that they have not done anything improper. It also seems a ridiculous
situation where a Royal Commission is appointed to inquire into corruption and improper
conduct but is not required to report what it finds.
I will not recanvass what I said in response to the Minister's second reading speech, but we
all remember the McCusker report. His terms of reference were drafted without consultation
with the Opposition. The Government assured us that Mr McCusker would report not only
on the terms of reference, but also on matters that were outside his terms of reference if he
considered investigation was necessary. When the report was released we found that Mr
McCusker stuck strictly to the terms of reference. In fact, wrongly so. He did us a
disservice. Where he saw matters that should have been investigated further he should have
made a statement in his report of those matters. He must have been dumb, blind and stupid,-
to quote former Deputy Premier, David Parker - if he did not recognise there were matters
that needed to be investigated further. Mr McCusker, QC, did not do that and in fact claimed
that he was not allowed to.
I am emphasising something which is of utmost importance. The Royal Commissioners will
probably want to report on other matters that arise. However, as we have just debated this
Bill on the basis of a technical challenge that could have resulted if they sat separately rather
than as a tribunal, now that the Opposition has drawn the Government's attention to the
inadequacy of the terms of reference, the Government should place on record that it wants
the Royal Commissioners to report on any impropriety they might find. After all they do
have to inquire into any impropriety, so they should be required to report on it. That is very
important and the Government should not ignore the challenge that has been put to it in this
forum.
MR PEARCE (Armadale - Leader of the House) 1 12.05 pm]: The Government does not
see the difficulty that has occurred to the member for Applecross some months after the
promulgation of the terms of reference of the Royal Commission.
Mr Lewis: This is the first opportunity we have had.
Mr PEARCE: That is fair enough. Those termns of reference were prepared after a great deal
of thought and consultation and after taking a huge amount of advice. I do not see the
problem that the member sees. We can rely on the good sense of the Royal Commissioners
to report on the terms of reference which they have. That includes impropriety, and I am
sure there is not an intention to exclude them from considering those matters that ame referred
to i the terms of reference. It is not appropriate for me to come into the House to purport to
define or redefine the terms of reference. The Government has established those terms of
reference and they are the ones under which the commissioners will act.
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Question put and passed.
Bil read a third time and transmitted to the Council.

IRON ORE (MAR]ILLANA CREEK) AGREEMENT BIL
Second Reading

Debate resumed from 28 March.
MR COURT (Nedlands) [ 12.07 pm]: It is with some pleasure that I support this piece of
legislation which will open up another iron ore deposit in the Pilbara I have a number of
comments of a general nature concerning the industry as a whole and some about the more
specific problems related to this legislation. I must be showing signs of age when I can say
that I have been able to follow the iron ore industry from its inception in the Pilbara. some
30 years ago through to the Bill we are debating today. My brother ran the Elders Store at
Port fledland before Ooldsworthy started and from visiting him on school holidays I can
remember when it was a very small pastoral town. I witnessed the development of
Goldsworthy and subsequent iron ore operations that got under way, as well as having had
the opportunity myself to work with Mt Newman Mining Co Pty Ltd in the period before the
company commenced mining operations at Mt Whaleback. Here we are some 30 years down
the track looking at the expansion of new mining operations so the company can continue to
export increasing tonnages of a product that has been very kind to the Western Australian
economy. The Government, over many years, has received royalties from the sale of this
commodity, and the industry has provided career opportunities for a wide range of people,
both in the Pithara and in other parts of the Stare. I can list towns like Port Hedland and
Karratha where one can see the infrastructure that is now available; the tertiary education
facilities and health services. Those places have certainly gone a long way over the years.
The iron ore industry and its mining operations has reached a degree of maturity. It has been
able to establish very efficient mining, transport and shipping operations. In the decades
ahead we face the challenge of raking that industry from a mining operation to producing a
value added commodity. The earliest agreement Acts in this Parliament contained sections
requiring the companies to meet certain commitments to move into value added processing.
The agreement in the schedule we are debating today contains similar wording about how the
companies should move into this processing.
Mr Taylor: The wording is a bit stronger than usual.
Mr COURT: Unfortunately the State has not been able to achieve the breakthroughs
required for companies to invest in the different processes leading to steel manufacturing.
Two companies - Robe River Iron Associates and l-arnersley Iron Pty Ltd - built and
operated pellet plants. However, unfortunately they were cut short in the 1970s because they
were oil-based industries and were priced out of the marketplace when the price of crude oil
quadrupled. I would like to think that in the years ahead companies will be able to reopen
pellet plants and other forms of processing and move into the manufacturing of steel of
differing types using various technologies. For that reason CRA Services Limited's
commitment to continue research and development on its 1-usmelt process is of tremendous
importance to this State. If it proves to be a commercial proposition through large
production runs it will provide an opportunity to commence steel making in the north of the
State. I am sure we are all woriting towards that.
The projections made about die demand for iron ore and steel vary depending on the source.
In a report which came out in 1990 an official from HP Steel explained that the world
demand for steel production wili continue to be strong for the next decade. That seems to be
the consensus among the major players in the field, although I am sure the BHP Steel
operations in Australia have a different forecast because with the recession in this country it
currently faces a severe cutback in demand for its products. It has expanding stockpiles and
in general its market for steel production is not bullish in this country alone. Leaving
Australia out of the picture, it is fair to say that the rest of the world foresees that the demand
for both iron ore and steel will be strong over the next decade. In fact, it has been buoyant in
recent years. However, one of the problems with these commodities that we export is that, in
the long rerin, terms of tr-ade will deteriorate. We can never obtain the price increases to
ensure we are receiving real gains. The only way that can be resolved, nor only with iron
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ore, but also with many other commodities, is to move into value added processing. The
alternative is to accept the reality that we will continue to face declining tenms of trade.
It is encouraging that in a dine of recession in this country we have an industry, same say,
that has been buoyant and is looking at expanding its operations.
Mr Taylor Would you put tougher conditions into agreement Acts for value added
processing?
Mr COURT: It does not matter what the conditions are in the agreement Act if the market is
not right and the company cannot be encouraged to make the investment. Companies will
take whatever action they can to avoid meeting strict commitments to value added
processing; that is, they do not want to be forced into non-economic value added processing.
The Opposition is not privy to the negotiations the Government has with BHP; BHP certainly
has not told me about its negotiations with the Government. However, this agreement Act,
for example, is seen as an important bargaining tool for the Government acting on behalf of
the people of Western Austr-alia. It is an important time for the Government to try to obtain a
better deal with the company concerning its commitment to move into value added
processing. With the announcement of this Act I would like to have seen an announcement
by BHPIl Steel that it will make a commitment in the Pilbara to some form of upgrading of its
iron ore.
Mr Taylor: It is looking at that now.
Mr COURT: The Opposition would use the agreement Act as a bargaining lever to try to
obtain that kind of commitment from the company. When Robe River Iron Associates and
Haumersley Iron built a pellet plant, the huge gas deposits were not developed, although they
were beginning to be proved up, and the companies had to rely on oil. It is remarkable that,
historically, at the time Robe River Iron Associates and Ham ersley Iron built a pellet plant -
huge gas deposits were not developed; they were beginning to be proved up - they had to rly
on oil. In, I think, the late 1960s, I was living in the United States and my father was visiting
the Cliffs operations in the upper peninsular of Michigan. I had not seen hi im for about a
year and he arranged for me to meet him at that site because at the tine I was in the same
State visiting Detroit. When we visited the mine site the weather was freezing cold with
snow and ice everywhere; we went into a big tin shed, which looked like a wheat silo, where
it was stinking hot with red dust everywhere. A full pilot plant - the pellet plant for Cape
Lambert - was in operation. The company had simulated the dust conditions because plenty
of water was available in the area which eliminated dust problems. It built the pilot plant,
then proceeded to build the real thing which unfortunately did not operate for long because
the oil price forced it out of the market. Robe River Iron Associate produced a lower grade
of iron ore and wanted to put more value into it before exporting it. Hanicisley Iron ran its
pellet plant until about 1983.
Mr Graham: I was going to make that point. You are dead accurate about oil shocks putting
those plants on a precarious footing and ultimately closing them, but what finished them was
the collapse in the pellet market around the world. There is now a small and declining
market for pellets.
Ms COURT: I have heard many arguments about the pellet market. When I visited Brazil -
nor only the Carajas project but also some of its iron ore operations in the souith of Brazil -
we inspected pellet plants which were doing very well and exporting large an'ounm
particularly to Europe and the United States. At that time I was being told of a declining
market.
Mr Graham: Fair comment; if you had seen those places you would have seen my name on
the door because I have been there also. The point is they are mimning those pellets into
Europe -

Mr COURT: The member must have visited after I went there because they did not say
anything about him.
Mr Graham: That could not have been the case because they did not mention you when I
was there. They export the pellets into Europe and the United States, which is not a market
which suits us because of freight disadvantages in those areas. From the Ausmraian
perspective there is an ever declining market for pellets.
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Mr COURT: I am not an expert on the future market for pellets, but new technologies are
being introduced for steel manufacturing and it could well be that pellets are in demand. We
have been to a number of briefings on the steel project being promoted by Compact Steel Pty
Ltd which is looking at developing a plant in the Bunbury region and has mentioned using
pellets for that process. As steel making technology changes different requirements will
apply to how the iron ore reaches the steel plants. That is why I would like to think that
different upgrading will occur in the Pilbara. A couple of weeks ago 21 members of the
Liberal and National Parties took the opportunity to visit the existing operations and the site
of the proposed operations in the Pibara. It was a worthwhile exercise. Normally, smaller
groups would make such visits. However, the visit helped to bring us up to date on the
number of different proposals being considered for the area. For example, we were able to
visit Marandoo and examine the plans for that project. When flying around the Hamersley
operation one can see the way it has set up its conveyor belts and rail systems - what one
member referred to as the "helicopter view". At Newman we were given details of the
proposals for the Yandi project. Also, last week the company camne to Parliament House to
give us a more detailed briefing on what they were proposing to do with the new mine. All
of the members who visited the Pilbara were enthusiastic about the developments that were
being planned not only in the iron ore industry but also in other industries where companies
are keen to make investments. That is not to say that they are without problems and delays.
One of the delays which annoys me - and no doubt we will be debating that a: a later stage in
the House - is another iron ore project at Marandoo similar to the Marillana Creek project.
The company involved in that project needs to open a new iron ore mine because of the
declining reserves elsewhere. However, it is currently being delayed considerably in this
task by problems concerning Aboriginal matters and driven by people from the Aboriginal
Legal Service acting on behalf of certain Aboriginal communities. If the Government wants
to talk about one stop shops it should handle the negotiations on those social issues. The
Government should be able to say that a company can commence development of a site
because approvals have been granted as a result of negotiations carried out by the
Government. Instead, the current arrangement means that the company must jump over a
number of hurdles before it can obtain the necessary approvals to get its project off the
ground. I am not prepared to talke sides in disputes concerning Aboriginal martens because it
is something the Government should be handling directly. It should be working out the
problems those communities have with development projects, conducting negotiations with
the two groups and laying down certain guidelines to allow the company to go ahead with its
project.
Mr Taylor: I actually met with the Kadjini community as did the Minister for the
Environment.
Mr COURT: Thte reality is that the project has been delayed because those negotiations have
nor achieved anything. When the Government taks about the one stop shop approach it must
remember that the person at the other end must make an investment decision. The
Government must try to obtain the best possible deal for the State when conducting those
negotiations. The Government also has a big lever because it is controlling the iron ore that
these companies want; yet, on die other hand the Government needs them because they are
willing to make an investment and provide the jobs and export income that Western Australia
needs. I will try not to straky too far from the subject but problems such as this were brought
to the attention of the Opposition party delegation during that trip.
I also mentioned the tour so the Minister would understand that members on this side have a
genuine interest in being kept up to date on what is happening in those areas. Every year we
have conducted a tour to the south west of the State to examine the operations there.
Logistically it is harder for us to travel to the Pilbara. In Opposition we do not have the
means to make such trips as has the Government. The members made their own
arrangements to travel to the Pilbara and were shown around by the Chamber of Mining and
Energy of Western Australia. There being no scheduled airline flights around that area that
was the only practical way we could conduct that tour. The trip was most educational and I
am pleased that so many members attended.
Mr Taylor: You should have asked to use the Government plane.
Mr COURT: At that time the Government plane was being used by the Mnister. When we
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arrived at the airport we realised that we bad the very small planes and a big silver, shiny
plane with 'Ernie Bridge's private transport company" written on its side was waiting for the
Minister who was doing a tour through the area him self.
Mr Cowan: We had a comfortable ride. I decided that whatever plane Hon Phil Lockyer
went on was the one I would not go on.
Mr COURT: Being the reserved person that I am I was on the slowest and hottest plane.
The mine we are talking about is part of the Yandicoogina Mine. Fortunately, the company
will call it the Yandi Mine, which will make it easier for us.
Mr Taylor: They are going to call it Marillana. That is because Hamersley actually owns the
Yandicoogina Mine.
Mr COURT: I was reading a Press cutting from July 1986 in which the Government was
reported as saying that CPA Services Limited hoped to open its reserves in the Yandicoogina
deposits by 1986. I think David Parker has run out of time with that proposal. However, it is
interesting that other companies have deposits in the region.
Mr Taylor CRA say it has the rights to Yandicoogina which it is calling the Marillana
scheme.
Mr Grahanm: Yandicoogina also is the name of an Aboriginal station. They would probably
have problems with that.
Mr COURT: This project is interesting because the main infrastructure that the companies
require for transport and shipping is in place. They are building a spur line our to this mine
which will be operated by contractors. The contractors will be living in accommodation to
be built on site. This mining operation has been the subject of much concern by the people
in the Pilbara, particularly people in the different shire councils who are concerned with the
rapidly growing trend of fly in, fly out operations. This operation will not be run on a fly in,
fly out basis as are the Argyle diamond project and the oil and gas operations. We are told
that the Government has an agreement with the company that as many people as possible
who are working on this mining operation will be residents of the Pilbama. This matter has
caused considerable concern. Labor Party members in the area have been copping flak from
both their political party and the local shires for not being more forceful in insisting on a
permanent township being built for the operation.
Mr Graham: The shires were not pushing for a permanent settlement, they were pushing for
any operation to be home-based in the Pilbara.
Ms COURT: The company has told us that they have made the best arrangements possible to
provide housing for contractors to be borne-based. I do not want to be seen to be bragging
but when these major mines were set up by the Liberal Government, the then conservative
parties insisted that the companies build complete infrastructures - towns in some cases - for
housing- Huge expense was involved in getting these operations off the ground.
We have been told by BHP that even if it wanted to get its project off the ground today it
could not do it because it would not stack up. It could not justify putting all the
infrastructure into that place. I have been told that the Carajas project, which is a similar
arrangement whereby the project managers had to build a railway line into the Amazon and a
town at each end, has never paid its way even though it is a large project exporting
40 million tonnes a year. Because of the huge expense involved and the price it can
command for its product on the international market, it has not been able to pay its way. The
good news is that we have the infrastructure in place. There are three large mines in that area
and major railway systems in the Pilbara which we all rake for granted. When we talk about
railways in Western Australia, most people immediately think about the Perth to Fremantle
line. They do not realise that huge tonnages are being carried on lines in the north of the
State. I want to refer to the electrification of those rail systems in a moment.
BHP has an opportunity to open up a new mine at which it will initially mine five million
tonnes a year. Under the agreement Act if it mines more than 10 million tonnes a year which
it proposes to mine it will have to come back to the Government to renegotiate the
agreement.
Mr Taylor: Or if it employs more than 100 people.
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Mr COURT: That is certainly an incentive for it to keep the number of employees below
100. It is opening the deposit because it will be closing its Koolan operation. Last year I
visited Koolan to see what was happening. The brochure for Koolan Island looks more like a
holiday resort brochure than a brochure for an iron ore mine. It is a beautiful part of the
country. That mine which has a very high grade of iron ore has been in operation since l96i.
However, the deposit is now running out. It is being mined below sea level and the company
does not have the mining expertise to get more out of it. When that closes, the company's
contracts will be met by opening the new operation.
Some concern has been expressed about the provisions relating to royalties in the Bill and
whether the Government is prepared to trade off a firm commitment to have a home based
work force and the need not to build as great an infrastructure as is required if it were
building the full facilities at the mine site in return for higher royalties. However, there is a
case for coming to some flexible agreement so that we do not have an unrealistic situation. I
have been asked what commitments we would make as far as value added processing is
concerned. It is not so much a question of what is written in but what one can achieve.
Previous conservative Governmzent had to negotiate bard with these companies for them to
put in towns and the infrastructure and I would like to think that the Government has struck a
hard bargain with the company to put community facilities into the established towns of
Newman and Port HedlancL If a permanent work force is to be attracted to live in those
areas, the level of services has to be high enough to attract those people to stay permanently
in that region and bring up their families. It would not take a lot to convince me to live
permanently in that region. I have spent much of my life there travelling and working.
Mr Graham: Do you want a second opinion?
Mr COURT: No, I do not; I am serious. I think many people are now attracted to live and
work permanently in that region. When I said that the iron ore industry had reached
maturity, it is fair also to say that many of those towns which did not exist 30 years ago have
now become mature communities and impontant assets to the State. It is no secret that the
Opposition sees the Pilbara as an area that will experience many decades of rapid economic
growth. I have said already that the company will build a spur railway line into the new
mine site. The people at Newman explained that their power station has a 60 megawatt
capacity which is a very large diesel fired power station. The Minister has been critical in
rcent times about our encouragement of the private sector to build a base load gas fired
power station in the Pilbara. I do not want to get into a slanging match about whether it is a
good proposition. However, we did not make those announcements lightly because we have
looked at all of the existing operations and at their power requirements.
Mr Taylor: You made the Geraldton announcement fairly lightly.
Mr COURT: Not at all. The Geraldton proposal was in the policy that we released a year
ago. The Government always suggests that we do not have any policies. However, it has to
give credit where it is due. We announced a clear policy position on power generation a year
ago, when it was not fashionable to talk about coal fired power stations, that a privately
owned and operated coal fired power station should be built.
Mr Minson: That is almost certainly where the Government got the idea from.
Mr COURT: I think the Government has to give credit where it is due. When it comes to
energy matters, we have clearly spelt out our policy. We are talking about the Pilbara and
the iron ore companies have said that they would like to eventually electrify the rail system
and want places like Newman on a grid instead of its generating its own electricity because it
has to bring in the oil from Hedland.
Mr Leahy: It gets its oil less Federal excise which makes it attractive. I was told six months
ago that the company did not want to go on a grid because it would cost more with SECWA.
Mr COURT: I am not saying that they have to buy their power from SECWA; it could be
privately generated and it could own the transmission lines. The Robe River operation
includes a transmission line from Cape Lam bert to Pannawonica. That was built with the
capacity to enable it to electrify its railway lines. However, a base load power station cannot
be built just to enable those companies to electrify their rail systems or to allow a mine like
the Newman mine to rely on its own power generation. A number of energy intensive
industries are required in the region to make it possible to justify such a system. An
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aluminium Smelter cannot be established unless other users are also established in the area to
warrant the construction of a large base load power station. The Pilbara will come together
only if a number of things happen within a reasonably limited time. Members should not
discount the fact that die existing BliP iron ore operation does not have a huge requirement
for electricity now and in the future.
My next comment relates to the mining of the area and the fact that the watertable is high;
there is a lot of water in this deposit. It has been explained to the Opposition that the
company will be involved in a major de-watering operation and a large quantity of water will
be pumped from the mine. The water the mine does not use for its own purposes will be
pumped further downstream to allow the flow of water to continue. I ask the Minister to
confirm what Opposition members were told at their briefing; that is, that the de-watering of
the mine will have a detrimental effect on the vegetation around the mine site and the
campany will undertake to reticulate the site. What commitment has been made to keep the
vegetation round the mine site healthy?
Mr Taylor It is covered by the requirements set down by the Environmental Protection
Authority.
Mr COURT: Obviously there will not be a problem downstream if the water is being
pumped in that direction. More importantly, has the Government carried out any studies on
the effect of this activity on the warertable at the side and upstream of the mining operation?
Obviously if large quantities of water are being pumped out it will have some effect on the
immediate area. The Opposition was told at its briefing that it was anticipated that the
existing natural barrage would be of some assistance. The explanation was a little vague to
the Opposition and I would appreciate more detail from die Minister, because we are talking
about a large de-watering operation.
On the subject of water I refer to a matter not directly related to this mining operation; I am
sure that members on both sides of the House are aware of the concerns of the Kennedys
about their station at Roy Hill. The Kennedys expressed concern that the Ophthalmia Dam
had affected the station's flood plain areas downstream. I think they are about
100 kilomnetres downstream. When the Fortescue River floods the barrage across it collects a
certain amount of water and BHIP pumps the water into drains to replenish the aquifer. They
told me that that is how they keep the aquifer replenished for their operations. In addition,
they obtain water from a bore field. As the deposits in the mines at Newman become low
more water will be pumped out of the mines. The Kennedys say that on the section of their
station which is situated downstream a number of tributaries flow into the Fortescue River.
Previously during heavy rain the tributaries flooded, the Fortescue River would flood and the
result would be a wide flood plain. Now there is a delay in the Fortescue River flooding
downstream because of the barrage and the total flooding effect will not be as great as it has
been in the past.
Mr Taylor: It has not flooded for a long time.
Mr COURT: I am not taking sides because I am not an expert on the hydrology of that area.
The Kennedys have expressed concern to members of the Opposition. I am aware that the
area has had a number of dry seasons and the way in which the rain falls determines the
outcome. Opposition members do not profess to be experts on this subject but if
Government studies have been undertaken or are yet to be completed I would like them to be
brought to a conclusion as quickly as possible to allow us to have a better understanding to
ascertain the effect a barrage has on the river. Some pastoralist would like parts of the
Fortescue River damnmed to control flooding, but in the case of the Kennedys problems have
been created. It highlights that there is a considerable amount of water in the Pilbara,
especially in the aquifers, and when flooding occurs a huge amount of water flows into the
sea. We must have the knowledge about and understanding of that water because it is what
we need for the future development of the region. Energy and water are the two keys to
economic development in that region. Energy is certainly looking after itself in that area, but
we need to build up our knowledge about water supply. I look forward to hearing the
Minister's comments on this subject.
The Government announced recently that it had appointed one of its former Ministers, the
member for Swan Hills, to lead a study into the steel industry. The appointment was treated
with a great deal of cynicism by many people in the community - a Minister who had been
sacked by the Government being appointed to this position!
01686-14
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Mr Shave: Do you think it was a payoff so he would continue to be nice?
Mr COURT: Of course, we can read many things into it. I would have thought that after
eight years in Government it would have a strategy in place to attract steel manufacturers
into this State.
Mr Graham: That is a cheap shot
Mr COURT: Does the member think so? The Minister was sacked because he was not good
enough to be in the Cabinet, but he has been put in charge of a study to look into the steel
industry!
Several members interjected.
Mr COURT: Of course there is a political reason for my saying it.
Mr Graham: The cheap shot was your saying that the Government had not done anything for
eight years. It is nonsense.
Mr COURT: That is the reality of the matter. If a Government had been in power for eight
years why would it form a committee to look into the steel industry now? The member who
is interjecting and the member for Ashburton have been appointed to a committee to develop
a policy for the Pilbara.
Mr Graham: We have not been put on it.
Mr COURT: What is the brief to develop policy for the Pilbara?
Mr Graham: We proposed it - we were not put on it. We both fought like hell to get on it.
Mr COURT: Is the member on the committee?
Mr Graham: I am co-chairman of the committee.
The DEPUTY SPEAKER: Order! I suggest we return to the main thrust of the Bill.
Mr COURT: We are talking about the iron agreement and the iron ore and steel industries. I
would like to clarify one paint: What entitlements do members of the committees receive?
Will they have travel entitlements to enable them to study the steel industries around
Australia and in different parts of the world? What sont of secretarial assistance will they be
given? In Opposition we have to run a pretty tight ship and members would like to do more
travel than they do to inspect projects both in Australia and overseas.
Mr Taylor: Why don't you ask? It so happens that an Opposition member who was aware of
the fact that I am going to Indonesia told me yesterday that he had great interest in that
country and that he would like to go along. It is likely that he will. It is only a matter of
your asking.
Mr COURT: Half a dozen members on this side of the House visited Indonesia last year.
Some of them paid their expenses out of their imprest accounts and some paid them
privately. The Deputy Premier asks why we do not ask. I suppose that we feel that we have
a responsibility to keep some sort of control over expenditure of taxpayers' funds.
Mr Taylor: If a member is serious and thinks the trip is worthwhile, as in this case, he or she
should ask to go.
Mr COURT: It is interesting that now I have raised the question of whether these people
have been given special travel entitlements and secretarial assistance the answer is, "Why do
you not all ask?"
Mr Taylor: Or don't whinge about it.
Mr COURT: That is not a responsible approach. I would like to know what people are
getting by way of travel allowances and secretarial assistance when appointed to those
committees because that is additional to what Opposition members get to carry out their
responsibilities. I would have thought that after what has happened in recent year-s the
Government would be watching every dollar it spends closely.
Mr Taylor: It is.
Mr COURT: Unfortunately, we are seeing cutbacks in critical areas such as education.
The DEPUTY SPEAKER: Order! This debate has strayed far enough from the Iron Ore
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(Marillana Creek) Agreement Bill for me to draw attention to that fact. It is reasonable for
the member for Nedlands to raise points that he thinks are relevant and he has made his
point. However, I do not think it was strictly relevant to the subject matter of the Bill. I will
let that pass, but suggest he now direct his remarks to the Bill before the House so that the
debate does not get off course.
Mr COURT: We support the Bill with a great deal of pleasure as it will enable the opening
of new iron ore options in the Pilbara. The iron ore industry has been good to the State and
has enabled tens of thousands of people to live a good life. There are still many
opportunities to be supplied by this industry in the Pilbara. The iron ore industry has been
responsible for opening up large areas of the Pilbara and this Bill will enable one company to
expand its operations. We are concerned about certain parts of the legislation relating to the
operation, and I hope that during his reply at the Committee stage the Minister will answer
those queries. After 30 years of iron ore mining in this State the industry has developed into
a mature and internationally competitive one. The challenge now is to try to get it to move
into a new generation of value added processing so that we can reverse our declining terms
of tirade which are unfortunately causing problems for all our export commodities.
MR LEAHY (Northern Rivers) [12.53 pm]: It is a pleasure to speak on a Bill affecting my
electorate. The member for Pilbaxa will claim that the mine site is in the Pilbara electorate,
which it is, but it is 150 kilometres north of Newman, which is in my electorate and which
will be profoundly affected by this new venture. The concern held by townspeople and the
shires of Port Hedland and East Pilbara was that the initial option was to run the mine as a fly
in, fly out operation. Workers were to be recruited in Perth and flown from there or
Kalgoorlie to the Pilbara to work. That suggestion obviously raised the ire of residents of the
Pilbara who had elected to live in the area, purchase their homes there and in many cases
invest in the region. I was pleased that the Deputy Premier was able to negotiate an
agreement with BHP requiring the company to make every reasonable effort to recrit its
staff from residents of the Pilbara region. There is not the same sort of competition between
the towns in the Pilbara as exists in other areas of Western Australia and Australia. Most of
the people are quite happy that workers are to be recruited from any of the towns. The
argument was not put forward by people from Newman that because it was only
90 kilometres from the mine site it should have exclusive right to supply the work force. In
fact, the East Pilbara Shire Council was happy to leave that matter with the company to
decide on the basis of where it could recruit the best qualified workers and it was quite happy
if that work force was recruited from Newman, Port Hedland or Karratha.
As the member for Nedlands said, the mine site will be a significant producer of iron ore. It
will initially produce more than five million tonnes of ore. It will have an initial work force
of 70 permanent workers and about 300 workers will be involved in the construction phase.
This is obviously a significant resource development for the Pilbara region. It will provide
work for a number of people who have been displaced from other mining operations because
of restructuring of the work force at Newman and Port Hedland, and because of the phasing
out of the Koolan Island operation. There will now be an opportunity for those workers to
secure work at the new Yandicoogina site. I am sure the company will honour its agreement
and make every endeavour to recruit its staff from the area. This will be beneficial to the
company as BHP now has a number of empty homes in Newman and Port Hedland that it
could make available to the contracting work force. Also, if that work force is housed in the
Pilbara region it will not have to move those workers over vast distances, thereby saving the
cost of air fares from Perth or other regional centres which will result from workers being
recruited from other areas.
Great benefits will accrue to the towns in the Pilbara from this development. For that reason
the shires were most appreciative that the Deputy Premier was able to negotiate that home
port clause in the agreement. As the member for Nedlands; pointed out, the mine site will
create some problems as there is a huge engineering problem dewatering it. The quantity of
water passing through that ancient river bed is in the vicinity of 15 per cent of Perth's needs
each day. People need to be cognisant of the fact that there will be an impact on the local
environment. The company has undertaken to reticulate the area so that the trees and plants
will have their water needs met. Hopefully, the impact of the mine will be limited because of
that undertaking by BHP.
It has been unusual during my two years in this place for a Bill to be supported by members
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on both sides of the House, so it is with extra pleasure chat I speak to this Bill because it will
have enormous immediate gains for the Pilbara region and the State of Western Australia.
Obviously royalties are to be paid which will result in an additional $5 million a year to the
State. Additional jobs will be created in the region and there will be more investment in
infrastructure bath in Newman and Port Hedland and probably in Karratha as well. That will
result in a large flow-on to the people of the Pdlbara region and Western Australia as a whole.
Mr Blaikie: Do you know where Newman is?
Mr LEAHY: I am there all the time. I have not seen the member for Vasse there. The only
time he was there was on a free trip.
Mr Blailde: So you have seen me there?
Mr LEAHY: I think I was on the same plane as same members opposite.
Several members interjected.
T'he DEPUTY SPEAKER: Order!
Mr LEAHY: I hope that during this resource development the forgotten people of the
Pilbara region - as in other places - the Aboriginal people, will receive better training. I am
pleased that when two weeks ago I attended a seminar at the local college in Newman they
were talking to the Aboriginal people about their education and training needs. I am hoping
that this and other resource developments in the Pilbara will place greater emphasis on the
training and utilisation of Aboriginal labour at the mine site because that is an area to which
we have not paid enough attention in the past. I support the Bill.

Sitting suspended fr-om 1.00 to 2.00 pm

[Questions without notice taken.]
MR COWAN (Merredin - Leader of the National Party) [2.35 pmn]: It gives me a great deal
of pleasure to be able to say that the National Party supports this legislation. My comments
may not be as detailed as those made by other members or with the knowledge that other
members may have of the proposed new generation mining operation which BHP Minerals
Ltd wants to establish in the Marillana Creek reserve.
The SPEAKER: Order! This level of behaviour is unacceptable. A member is on his feet
trying to deliver a speech which I cannot hear and I am quite certain no-one else can. If
background conversation must occur it must either be very quiet or be taken to another
venue. I prefer it to be non-existent.
Mr COWAN: The purpose of the Bill is to ratify an agreement which has already been made
by the Government and BHIP Minerals Ltd relating to the mining of iron ore at Marillana
Creek. In his second reading speech the Minister indicated that BHIP wanted the ore body to
be developed partly to replace the ore reserves at Koolan Island. which are very close to
becoming uneconomic, and to meet some of the special initial markets it claims to have
established with the sale of Koolan iron ore. One assumes that to be correct. What was not
said is that for some time BHP has had difficulty in meeting its market obligations because of
its mine wall collapse. In fact, that collapse caused BHP to exercise the force rnajeure clause
in its agreement with Hancock and Wright where that company was supplying lump ore to
BHP from its McCameys Monster deposit in return for the supply of fines to be exported to
Rumania. That force majeure clause forced Hancock and Wright to procure iron ore from
countries other than Australia to meet its obligations. I do not think that puts the company in
a very good light. Nevertheless, that does not mean we should oppose the project; in fact, it
will allow BHP to increase its production by five million tonnes initially and to 10 million
tonnes, and perhaps even more, subject to ministerial approval. Consequently it may very
well be that the original agreement between BHP and Hancock and Wright could perhaps be
agreed to. BHIP may be able to meet some of its obligations, although I understand it is now
the subject of different contractual arrangements which changed when the ownership of the
McCamneys operation changed-
Some comment has been made about the obligations placed on a company under an
agreement. It would be fair to say that in this economic climate, or for any other reason, few
companies, if any, have been capable of meeting their obligations written into the agreements
for value added or downstream processing. On a number of occasions we have been required
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to vary agreements which have been brought into Parliament in previous years because
companies could not meet their obligations. Although we can all talk enthusiastically about
adding value to our iron ore before we sell it and can express concern that we seem to have
difficulty in getting out of this quarry mentality and that we do not add value to the product.
the only way we will do that is with the provision of cheap energy.
It has always surprised me that that same region which produces iron ore is also the most
natural energy abundant region in Western Australia. I would venture to say that because of
the depletion of reserves in Bass Strait it would be the most natural energy abundant region
in Australia.
Mr Taylor: Next year this will be the biggest oil producing State in Australia.
Mr COWAN: If that is the case, with the availability of iron ore and an abundance of natural
energy in the area we should be able to produce electricity at a cost which will encourage
companies to add value to the mineral even in the most limited way.
The member for Nedlands indicated that Robe River was forced to close its pellet mine
because of the cost of producing the pellets. The member for Pilbara interjected that it w'as
not so much because of the cost of producing the pellets but because of the loss of markets.
My information contradicts that. The primary reason for Robe River's closing its pellet plant
was that it could not compete in a shrinking market for iron ore pellets and that is quite a
different matter.
Mr Taylor: There is nothing to stop any of the major producers building their own power
stations, running their own gas pipelines or whatever they want to do. There is no
impediment by the Government to stop them doing that.
Mr COWAN: That might be correct. I am sure those companies have the necessary
expertise or certainly the financial capacity to hire consultancies which can give advice on
what has been suggested by the Minister for State Development.
Mr Taylor: I will mention that when I reply.
Mr COWAN: I would be pleased if the Minister did. Using the existing structure in the
Pilbara, the difficulty the company faces in adding value to iron ore is related directly to the
cost of the primary energy resource. Until that cost is reduced, a plant will not be established
and none of the clauses in the agreement - there are a great number of them - will ever come
to fruition.
Mr Graham: Does that argument apply right across Western Australia because the power
cost is the same in the north west as it is in Albany or Bunbury?
Mr COWAN: Domestic charges for power may be the same, but they are not the same for
commercial users of power.
Mr Leahy: Large users.
Mr COWAN: Yes, they are not the same for large users. There is a contracted price for gas
and I suggest there is a substantial difference between the price Alcoa pays for gas and the
price the domestic consumer pays for the same product. That would be true also about some
of the other major gas consumers in this State. The State Energy Commission would be
capable of negotiating a gas price at the source of the gas and of offering a substantial
discount without having to go to the expense of piping it all the way to the metropolitan area
or to the south west of Western Australia.
Mr Graham: Does that not happen?
Mr COWAN: I have been informed that one of the problems we face in attempting to add
value to iron ore is the cost of the primary energy source needed to produce electricity is too
high. I guess it would not be too hard to guess that that primary energy source is gas. If the
Minister is prepared to tell me that some other options would enable people to pipe their own
gas in, I would be pleased to hear it. However, the capital cost of that would be as
prohibitive as trying to take gas landed at Burrup from SEC WA.
Mr Taylor: That is exactly right. There are no easy answers.
Mr COWAN: The cost of the gas which will be needed to produce electricity would be far
too high if we examine the prospect of adding value realistically. We will not get rid of the
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quarry mentality until we achieve cheap energy costs. I hope the decision made earlier this
week will begin that process. If it has taken the Government so long to make that decision,
how will it go when it has to make hard decisions about giving incentives and assistance to
companies which are desperate for other options and which do not all want to -be just
quarries. They do not all want to be movers of great volumes of iron ore. They would like to
development their product a stage or two further on but the economics prevent that. While
we talk enthusiastically about this project as one of the new generation mines, it would not
start without the presence of the existing infrastructure including the railway lines, the town
of Port Hedland and the service town of Newman. However, because they can be used and
because the company desperately needs that quality of iron ore to blend with the product it
gets from its existing lines, it will go ahead. It has to, because if it does not I suggest that
BHP will not be able to meet some of its contractual obligations both in regard to quantity
and quality.
It was interesting to read in the Minister's second reading speech that BHIP would use this
product in its furnaces to produce steel. I am not too sure how many people are aware of the
fact that Australia imports a quantity of iron ore mostly from Brazil that goes to BHP's blast
furnaces in the Eastern States. I am told by senior BHIP executives that it is essential that
they have this product for blending purposes. That may be the case, but I doubt very much
whether it is true. I suggest that BHP is importing that product because it is unable to meet
its contractual obligations to its long term buyers and, rather than ship its product to BlIP's
blast furnaces in the Eastern States, it has kept the ore for export and decided it would import
the product so as to give the company an additional million tonnes to send to its regular
customers.
Variations of agreements are introduced into this place on occasions and the variations relate
to amending clauses or relieving companies of their obligations in adding value. It is about
time that we looked at the question of developing secondary industries in the Pilbara. It is
related closely to providing a cheap energy source. The energy is there; it is a question only
of delivering the energy at a cost which is not prohibitive and which allows companies to go
through even the most simple beneficiation of the products that exist in the Pilbara. Until we
begin to let companies know that we are dinkum about further development and about adding
value, we will continue to see variations of agreements brought before this place by
Ministers in an attempt to relieve a company of its obligations for further downstream
processing.
It would disappoint me if that trend continued, The time has come, irrespective of the fact
that we are talking today about second generation iron ore mines which can succeed only
when associated with other ore bodies being mined by companies firmly established in the
Pilbara, when any new project, including those undertaken by established companies, must
be built around something more than a quarry. We need to look at alternative markets. We
need to look at encouraging those markets to be supplied by Western Australia on the basis
that they will enter into a joint venture where ultimately they will produce a product in
Australia. We have roughly 40 per cent of the Japanese market. It is doubtful whether the
Japanese will ever expand that percentage for the simple reason that that is the way in which
they do business - they never become totally dependent upon one country for their supplies.
However, there are other countries which at the moment are using ore with an Fe content of
less than 40 per cent. Most of the product which leaves Pilbara Ports, with the exception
perhaps of that produced at Robe River, has an Fe content in the vicinity of 60 per cent.
Quite clearly we could begin the process of looking to European markets - not just western
European markets but also to Eastern Bloc countries which are using low grade iron ore. We
should be looking to promote strongly the concept of obtaining an interest firom those people
and, if they are interested, in their taking higher quality iron ore. However, any agreement
reached would need to be on the basis that they would begin a value adding process to our
product before it leaves Australia's shores. The guarantee that this or any future: Government
must give is that the energy resources will be available to do that. Robe River started with a
pellet plant. The energy cost was one of the major influencing factors there and when the
international demand for pellets slackened they could not meet the competitive price
structure provided by others.
Mr Taylor: It was a combination of events.
Mr COWAN: Of course it was. One matter already raised by a number of members is the
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environmental aspects of iron ore mining. Reference was made to the Ophthalmia Dam and
its impact on the upper Fortescue River basin. I am aware that recently the Water Authority
conducted a survey into the impact of that damn on the river. I hope that, as a Government
department conducted that survey - and I have no quarrel with that - an independent
assessment of that survey is undertaken to ensure that the conclusions drawn from the
information and data collected by the survey team are correct and that it is not a report that
misinterprets that data in a way that gives the Government or the company a response that it
desires; in other words, the establishment of the Ophthalmia Dam should not have any
impact on the environment or ecology of the upper reaches of the Fortescue River basin. At
the same time there is the matter of the company pumping water from the Marillana Creek
aquifer at the mine site and putting it back into the aquifer further down the creek. The
company is pumping water from Yandi. If the investigation into the impact of the
Ophthalmia Dam shows that it would be more appropriate for the company to use that water
at Newman rather than water from the aquifer currently being replenished by the Ophthalmia
Dam so that a greater volume of water flows down the Fortescue River rather than banking
up and flowing into the aquifer to be used at Newman, the Government should say so. That
is why I say the report commissioned by the Water Authority needs careful assessment.
Mr Taylor: I will deal with that.
Mr COWAN: I recommend strongly that the Minister have the project assessed by an
independent body to ensure that the conclusions drawn do not make it more comfortable for
the Government or the company to continue with its current practice of replenishing the
aquifer on the Fortescue River through the Ophthalmia Dam as opposed to going to the
greater expense of utilising a greater volume of water that is pumped out of the Marillana
Creek.
Mr Taylor: The cost is approximately $30 million.
Mr COWAN: What is the total cost of the project?
Mr Taylor: About $70 million or $80 million.
Mr COWAN: What is the total value of assets held there and how highly does the Minister
rate the ecological system of the upper reaches of the Fortescue River?
Mr Taylor: I will deal with that matter, because more than the issue of the dam is to be
discussed. L am indicating the cost given to me to go the other way.
Mr COWAN: I have no doubt that there would be a high cost associated with that move and
that the company would seek to avoid that cost. I am not for one moment denying that, but I
am saying that just as we seem to be very conscious of the environment in other areas, we
need to be conscious of it in the Pilbara region, as arid as it is. If it can be demonstrated that
the retention of all surface water in the upper reaches of the Fortescue River by the
Ophthalmia Dami is causing some problem with the ecology of the river system immediately
below it, quite clearly something must be done about that and if it costs $30 million that is
tough.
This project, along with other projects, is termed in a general sense as a "second generation
iron ore mine' and is capable of employing just under a thousand people in the Pilbara. If
one adds the multiplier effect, that will result in another 4 000 to 5 000 jobs in the south west
corner of the State, which means it will make a large contribution toward soaking up some of
the unemployment in this State. Nobody should be opposed to the development of second
generation or new generation iron ore mines, but it is time we signalled to those companies
which are utilising the resource that this State is about seeking change where instead of
talking about adding value to a product we set about the task of doing it. The State has an
obligation, just as the company does - and the State's obligation is to provide cheap energy
resources. The company's obligation is to follow through with the clauses in the agreement
which talk about adding value but which are never observed and which come back to this
place for variation to relieve companies of chat obligation.
MR MENSAROS (Floreat) [3.00 pm]: I have listened to the debate, which brought up
some very interesting points, and I want to add briefly some of my thoughts, based on my
experience, which may or may not be considered by the Minister. The arrival of this State
agreement Bill in the Parliament is in itself significant, unfortunately because there are so
few State agreement Bills. During the time I was in charge of State agreements, I averaged

1229



about one agreement a fortnight. We have seen one in the last session and this one in this
session. There are two reasons for the lack of State agreements. The first reason is that
although I would not say the Government is not as keen as was our Government, it has not
been as successful in achieving new development projects. One of the reasons is that despite
the portfolio of State Development being one of the most important portfolios, it has had a
succession of Ministers instead of just one Minister who can become accustomed to not only
the portfolio but also the important people who are involved with investment, mining and
development. The inister would appreciate that personal contact and negotiation is more
important than anything else. One cannot leave it to a department. I am happy to receive a
copy of a periodical called Prospect, which I started without any departmental advice. I
suggest to the Minister that he use it even more. That may appear to be snobbishness on my
part, but if this periodical were directed to the chief executive's or the chairnan's desk, and
if it could filter down from there, and if them were more communications from the Minister,
it would have a greater impact.
The second reason that we no longer have as many State agreements is that previous Labor
Governments have been reluctant to accept the importance of State agreements and have
gone ahead with some projects by excluding them. The ill-fated Petrochemical Industries Co
Ltd project would never have become so ill-fated had the Government indulged in a State
agreement. When we received a briefing about that project at the beginning from Dallas
Dempster, I asked him why he did not want a State agreement. He said he was not interested
in that. It became clear later that he was not interested because he wanted to transfer the
ownership. Had a proper State agreement been in place it would have included a clause that
the transfer of ownership must come back to Parliament for approval, and I am sure that
despite the Government's being in a majority position Parliament would not have agreed to
expend $400 million, a large part of it by the Government, for a piece of dirt and a scrap of
paper.
The Minister should also emphasise with potential investors, miners and developers that their
entering into a State agreement would be of tremendous advantage to them. It is not very
well known that some of the large projects which we were able to procure were procured
only because of the system, unique to Western Australia, of State agreements. A State
agreement is a Statute which guarantees to the investor that he will not lose his money. Were
an extreme Government to come to office by election and insist on expropriating the
development, the other party to the agreement could go to court and demand damages. No
Western Australian Government could afford to pay such damages; and it would only be the
utmost pessimism which would lead someone to expect the independent courts not to rule in
accordance with the law.
One of the projects which we procured only because of the existence of a State agreement
was the second alumina project. At that time Reynolds Aluminium Co had had its hands
burnt because it had invested an enormous amount of money to develop some mines in
Jamaica, and suddenly a communist Government had come in and taken away everything. It
was very difficult to negotiate with that company because it was afr-aid all the time. We had
to convince it that if it came to Western Australia it would have security because of the
existence of a State agreement. I suggest to the Minister that he use this unique Western
Australian system of State agreements to foster existing and further development.
I turn now to the obligations which were discussed by the member for Nedlands and the
Leafier of the National Party. The Minister asked by way of interjection, "What would you
do about it?" I believe these further obligations are tremendously important, even though it
may appear at the time when they are agreed to that they are not viable. That could well be
the case, but these obligations are interchangeable. During my time in Government I was
able to interchange the obligations in at least three cases. One of the companies concerned
was BHP, when it had a longstanding, if perhaps somewhat illogical, obligation in the
Kwinana steel mill which everybody predicted it would never be able to fulfil. However,
BHP was an honest company, and it did not want to hang around without fulfilling its
obligations, so it was easy for me to go to the late Jim MacNeil and say, "We will let you out
of this obligation but you should get in and buy part of the Worsley alumina project and
thereby facilitate that project's coming to fruition."
I suggest again that these obligations be taken seriously. I believe the agreement could have
been more demanding. Despite the fact that the inister might argue he has introduced a
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new and higher royalty, the obligation to engage in future development is more important
than money received in cash from the royalty, although it may be that at the moment the
Government's preferences am different. Under a State agreement the company concerned
will always know that an agreement is in existence and that ultimately it will have to fulfil its
obligations.
This iron ore project appears to be a fairly good project compared with many of the other
projects which have been commenced in the past. It will require less capital investment
because most of the infrastructure already exists; therefore, it will require less borrowings
and interest payments, and the loan can be repaid in a shorter time. The first four iron ore
projects - Goldsworthy, Robe River, Hamersley and Newman - required enormous capital
outlays and had to pay off for many years the money borrowed and the interest. If the price
of iron ore had been calculated only on the ongoing expenses, those mines would all be
bankrupt today because the price of iron ore has gone up by very little since they commenced
operations. The reason they are still prospering is that during that time they were able to
shed the repayment of capital expenditure and, therefore, their expenses were different.
I want to mention another matter briefly. I happen to know the real reason for, as opposed to
the speculation about, the discontinuation of the pelletising plants. Yes, it was a higher cost
by way of fuel; yes, there was a difference in markets; but the only real reason for that was
precisely the reason the Leader of the National Patty mentioned; that is, the Japanese did not
want Western Australia to have an overwhelming part in the market supply situation. They
withdrew their support for purchasing the pellets from Western Australia. They could easily
do so because the pellets could not have been sold for the price specified in the original
agreements. They went to support the establishment of a Brazilian pelletising plant and
covered their demand from there, even though paying more for it via capital investment and
subsidies to Brazil.
I know from the horse's mouth that that was the situation. The person who told me was a
gentleman by the name of Mr Imai, who was then the second in charge of the Nippon Steel
purchasing department; I do not know what his position is today. He told me that they
simply did not want to give Western Australia a higher and higher percentage of supply and,
therefore, they supported the Brazilian situation, which ultimately cost them more money.
I support the Bill, but I wanted to place chose observations on record.
MR GRAHAM (Pilbara) [3.11 pm]: The Bill relating to Marillana Creek, which is more
commonly known as the Yandicoogina mine, comes into this place as a new proposal but
some of us have had dealings with it for many years. My first contact with the matter
occurred in the late 1970s or the early 1980s when I. as a shop floor union representative,
was called in by the then port manager of Mt Newman Mining -

Mr Cowan intetJected.
Mr GRAHAM: Old Denis Slingerland - some members may remember him - called me in
and said "What is your view about Yandicoogina?" I said, 'What the hell is a
yandicoogina?" He said, "You go down to Koadaideri and turn left," I left that meeting not
much wiser!
It has taken a long time for the Marillana Creek project to get where it is today; it has been a
pretty traumatic period inside BHP' and it has copped a fair amount of criticism over the
years, albeit some of it very unfair. However, today we have before us a Bill which will
allow for the development of that reserve. It is, in effect, the first of the second generation of
iron ore mines to be done by agreement Act.
Mr Cowan: How would you categorise Channar?
Mr GRAHAM: That is a fair comment and I take it on board. In the past couple of months
same $650 million of private sector investment has been announced which will go into the
Pilbara region and into mining developments.
Mr Taylor: Plus Cossack.
Mr GRAHAM: Yes. Comments have been made in this House about the quarry mentality
towards mining, but I place on record quite firmly that while we ame getting around to doing
the secondary processing and vailue adding things which people always claim we should be
doing, mining is not a bad industry in which to be, and without mining in this State we would
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be in some diabolical difficulties. The boom period in mining, though, is aver and we will
see more and mare of the YandicooginW/Mamandoo/Channar type iron ore developments
which are, in effect, incremental developments off the two major mines operating in the
Pilbara; namely. Tom Price and Mt Whaleback. They are the backbone mines upon which
the iron ore industry has been built.
This agreement Bill is different from previous ones. A big debate rages in the Pilbara about
agreement Acts, which I will discuss later. This Bill is different in that it has flexibility for
the Government to do certain things, and contains some requirements for the iron ore
company to do certain things. It also has some requirements for regular and ongoing
monitoring by the State Government and instrumentalities of the Government, and places
obligations on dhe producer to develop things.
One of the major issues raised in the debate today was secondary processing or value adding.
In my maiden speech in this place some two years ago I pointed out that over the years I
questioned whether we had been hard enough on the iron ore companies with respect to
secondary processing, and I still raise that question; but this agreement Bill contains strong
incentives for the iron ore industry to add value to its resources, and the company that owns
this reserve also, through other agreement Acts, has obligations to go into secondary
processing. Thierefore they have pre-existing obligations. Those have been built on and it is
an interesting concept that has come up in this agreement. We have heard a little from
members opposite today about why we have not gone into secondary processing; we have
heard their rhetoric about the economics of it and the fact that the only way it will happen is
if electricity prices are reduced, and so on. The answer to secondary processing is that it will
happen, and it will happen in the Pilbara, when people want it to happen.
Mr Lewis: It must be driven.
Mr GRAHAM: That is what I am saying; I thank the member for Applecross.
Mr Lewis: It will happen not when people want it to happen but when some Government
gets off its butt and does something about it.
Mr GRAHAM: T'he member should be very careful - he is on shaky ground, as usual.
Mr Lewis: No I am not. Just because you have been an electrician in the iron ore industry it
does not make you an instant expert.
Mr GRAHAM: I thank the member for those very valuable words of wisdom. I will put
them in my back pocket and remember them forever.
In the time we have been hearing about secondary processing in the iron ore industry, and in
the time some of the predecessors of Opposition members have been poncing around
offering steel mills at every election, Japan has gone from producing about 10 million tonnes
to producing about 102 million tonnes of steel a year, and the Korean industry has gone from
nothing to being a major producer, as have the industries in Taiwan and China.
Mr Lewis: You people have been in Government for eight years.
Mr GRAHAM: But the member for Applecross's party was in Government for 16 years, and
that all happened while it was there.
Mr Clarko: We opened it all up.
Mr GRAHAM: No, that is not true, and I will come to that. One of the other issues raised in
relation to this agreement was the debate in the Pilbara. about the requirement for a new town
to be built every time a new mine came into operation. I must say that the mentality that,
"We have a new mine, therefore we must have a new town" is an obsolete way of thinking.
One of the intrinsic problems of the Pilbara is the number of small towns that will not and
cannot get bigger because they rely solely on mining and there is no demand for other
industries in and around the area. It is unlikely that in the short to medium term any new
industries will begin or any new demand will occur, so those towns maintain a level of
services that they really cannot afford and that is a problem for the whole State. I would
oppose, and have opposed vigorously, those who believe that every time a new iron ore mine
opens a new town should be built.
Mr Omodei: Do you support fly in, fly out?

1232 [ASSEMBLY]



[Thiursday, 2 May 199 1]23

Mr GRAHAM: I will speak about that in a moment.
This area of the Pilbara is loosely called the central Pilbara region, which is where the next
round of mineral development will be. It is where one finds the Giles Mini, the Koodaideri,
the Governor and the Mining Area C mines, which will require the next round of incremental
development of the iron ore industry to be in that area. It will be developed as and when the
market sees fit, and as determined by the life of the mines currently operating. People have a
problem with the fact that iron ore has no intrinsic value - it is not like gold which can be
sold anywhere. The value of iron ore is in the mining costs, the transport and the profit of
the producer, that is, its provision to a buyer.
Members opposite mentioned the fly in, fly out arrangement, and it is worthwhile discussing
that subject. The member for Nedlands, using a fair amount Of rhetoric, said that criticism
exists in the north west regarding the recently made management agreements. The member
for Warren asked whether I supported the fly in, fly out proposition for iron ore mining. No
fly in, fly out arrangements exist. However, if they did I would not support them. Fly in, fly
out arrangements from Perth to the Pilbara are a nonsense.
Mr Court: What about from Geraldton into the goldfields?
Mr GRAHAM: That is acceptable. It is acceptable to commute from Port Hedland to
Yandicoogina or from Derby to Cadjebut. That is an acceptable way for mining companies
to operate their businesses. However, we should not encourage that to happen from capital
cities; it should occur from country areas.
Mr Court: Why did you do the Argyle deal?
Mr GRAHAM: I did not.
Mr Court: Your Government did.
Mr Lewis: Because it paid off $50 million.
Mr GRAHAM: I do not know about that. However, if I had been here my argument would
have been in opposition to fly in, fly out arrangements from capital cities.
The mine to which I refer employs contractors to operate the mines. When the original 1964
Mount Newman agreement was made, the Labor Party position was that contract labour was
needed in the Pilbara as existed in Kalgoorlie. It is interesting how the wheel has turned in
26 years. A former member for Pilbara, Hon Arthur Bickerton, ran a heavy argument along
two lines regarding the original agreement: The first being that the port should have been
located at Cook Point - those familiar with Port Hedland know that argument - and the
second was that contract miners should be introduced from Kalgoorlie. It has taken only
26 years for that to happen!
The agreement Act shifts the obligation from employing local people from the Pilbara to
employing mining contractors. Therefore, the obligation flows from the principal miners to
the contractors. An exchange of letters took place between the Deputy Premier and the
mining company to reinforce that view. I have argued in my electorate that that was the best
possible deal that could be arranged with the company at the time. The alternative was that
the mine would not go ahead. If the Government found the arrangement unacceptable, the
company said that the mine would not go ahead. In that case approximately 100 jobs would
have been exported to Brazil or India. A demand exists for the iron ore and it would be a
nonsense to export those jobs. Imagine what would happen if the Government came into this
place and said that the project was not going ahead and the jobs were going overseas.
Notwithstanding the local criticism, the arrangement was a good one. It has already started
bearing fruit with the vast bulk of the 60 to 80 people currently working for the contractor
living in Karratha and commuting to the minesite to work. Unfortunately, these people are
not commuting from Port Hedland, but the principle is for regional employment rather than
partisan employment from a particular town.
The big issue in the Pilbara in the 1990s is that of local employment - it is not whether we
dump power stations around the area. I have argued in other places that the mining
companies have not met their obligations - albeit unwritten - to local employment. In the
early days of the industry the Port Hedland residents had to come down to Perth for an
interview to gain a job in the area. Once that person had obtained a job, he or she had to fly
down to Perth to undergo a medical. Those arrangements prejudiced local people,
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particularly Aborigines. The mining indusry is by far the largest employer in the region and
it must change its employment policy, regardless of whether it wants to change. It must
recruit, train and employ local people, particularly local Aborigines. It is totally
unacceptable for Aborigines living in my home town of Pant Hedland not to be considered
for employment in the local mining industry. Their only crime is the colour of their skin.
The mining industry will argue that these people do not meet their employment standards.
However, if a person applies for a cleaning job, I cannot see the need for a high school
certificate, TAFE training and a driver's licence. The Aborigines should be employed, If
they cannot be employed, we have a perfectly good college in Port Hedland capable of
training these people to work in the mining industry. It is a matter of the college and the
mining industry working together to discover the skills and qualifications required to employ
local people in the industry.
I refer now to previous agreement Acts and how they have affected the Pilbara. Those
agreement Acts have created a series of towns around the Pilbara at the expense of existing
towns; I argued in my maiden speech that these were political decisions of the worst kind.
The agreements excluded local government from a range of issues. The member for
Nedlands said that he did not want to brag about the tough position taken by Liberal
Governments when negotiating with the iron ore industry and the results it produced for the
Pilbara. However, it is worthwhile considering those results and how they affect my
electorate. The town of Port Hediand has financial problems. It has same of the highest
council rates in the State and is having trouble maintaining the existing level of services.
Mr Court: You did not have those problems when Phil Lockyer was the mayor.
Mr GRAHAM: The member should bite his tongue for a moment. I will be happy to let him
comment on this point because he will be interested in the document from which I shall
quote. It states -

Council is serving two towns and has to provide two of everything.
Those two towns came to exist in that place because of the Liberal Government's utter
incompetence. The paper refers to lack of support from mining companies and all the other
towns having normalisation agreements and contributions from the mining companies
towards community facilities. It states that unfortunately, because Port Hediand was an
existing town, the council was excluded from those arrangements. Why was it excluded
from those arrangements? It was excluded because of Liberal Government policies. The
paper refers to bad planning and states that South Hedland's greatest misfortune was that it
was developed by the State Housing Commission. That occurred under a Liberal
Government. The crazy Radburn design in South Hedland is a Liberal new initiative and we
are trying to fix it. I am surprised at the silence of members opposite.
Mr COURT: What do you mean you ame surprised at the silence. You told me not to
interject. You have been in Government for eight years; why don't you fix it?
Mr GRAHAM: The document I am quoting from is a flyer put out by Alan Eggleston, a
prominent member and previous Senate candidate of the Liberal Party, who is seeking
re-election to the Pant Hedland Town Council on Saturday. He is to be congratulated; I
never thought I would publicly congratulate a prominent member of the Liberal Party. His
comments in the flyer have hit the nail on the head. The Liberal Party set back the
development of the Pilbara, and Port Hedland in particular, by at least 20 years through its
incompetence.
Mr Le-wis: Is that what he says?
Mr GRAHAM: That is what I say.
Mr Court: Are you going to vote for him?
Mr GRAHAM: I might. We have heard a little about policies and plans in the Pilbara. I
refer to the Karratha Guardian which is not a paper I receive regularly; it is distributed in the
electorate of my colleague, the member for Ashburton, and was sent to me by a mate of mine
who has a sense of humour. It contains an article about a visit to the north west by Barry
Macinnon, the Leader of the Opposition. I will have to invite him back because the polls
showed my popularity in the low 60s before he visited, following which it went up to the
high 80s. The article reads -
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Mr Maci~innon said the delivery of social justice and equity required a strong
economy and the Liberals' Pilbara Plan was the key to this economic recovery.

Two weeks later on ABC radio I heard the member for Nedlands saying that the delivery of
social justice and equity must wait and that first same development must be achieved. On
the one hand the Leader of the Liberal Party says the Liberals will do a number of things and
on the other hand the member for Nedlands is saying they will not.
Mr Court: I never said that.
Mr GRAHAM: I will give the member for Nedlands the tape. Mr Macinnon's comments
in the paper continue -

... the export of even greater quantities of WA raw materials was only a short-term
solution to the grave economic problem created by the big decline in international
terms of trade for primary products.

The iron ore industry is booming. Western Australia has experienced successive years of
price increases and the Leader of the Opposition is running around the Pilbara trying to talk it
down. The Leaders of the Opposition have always travelled the world and talked it down
and they have not changed. The present leader, Mr MacKinnon, talked to the paper about
high energy costs accounting for more than one-third of raw material production costs - that
is true - and that therefore we need a power station. Members of the Opposition amaze me
with their lack of knowledge. The power is used in haulpacks and trains; the rest of the use
is minimal. How big do members opposite think the extension cord would need to be? He
also said the Liberals got this State on the move in the 60s and 70s and having done it before,
they will do it again.
Mr Lewis: Is that true or not?
Mr GRAHAM: We cannot afford to do it again; we have spent eight years trying to sort out
the mess that the Liberal Party made in the Pilbara.
Mr Lewis: You would not be here if the Liberal Party had not developed the Pilbara.
Mr GRAHAM: The person who represented my electorate at the time was Arthur Bickerton,
a Labor member who argued against the Liberal Party's proposals then. He tried to tell the
Liberal Party 20 years ago that it was making mistakes, but that party would not listen then
and it will not listen now.
Mr Clarko: Overall it was a thundering success.
Mr GRAHAM: The member for Warren asked me about the fly in, fly out process. When
his leader flew into the Pilbara and flew out again that afternoon he said that housing needed
to be revisd in the area around mining towns.
Mr Clarko: You agree with that do you not?
Mr GRAHAM: I do not; it is a load of an-ant nonsense.
Mr Clarko: Karen Merryn agrees with that.
Mr GRAHAM: If Karen Merryn agrees with that she is off the planet; it does not say a damn
thing. The article goes on to say that the only objection Barry Macinnon has to fly in, fly
out is that housing needs to be revised.
Mr Clarko: What he said is not necessarily all there, is it?
Mr GRAHAM: I know he is not all theme but I try to make allowances for him from time to
time.
Mr Trenorden interjected.
Mr GRAHAM: He did that before the member for Avon came in and that is what the
Opposition, through its leader, says it will do with the Pilbara. The arrogance of members of
the Liberal Party concerning the Pilbara amazes me.
Mr Clarko: We created the Pilbama and it is a thundering success.
Mr GRAHAM: I thank the member for Mannion. He supports my comments that the
Opposition's arrogance in regard to the Pilbara is amazing.
Mr Clarko interjected.
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Mr GRAHAM: The Liberal Party has been responsible for destroying the social
infrastructure of an entire region, leaving the Government -

Mr Trenorden interjected.
Mr GRAHAM: No, we did that while the member for Avon was out of the House. The
Government was left with legacies which it must remedy. Towns have been built in the
wrong places for political masons. I do not want to denigrate Karratha. There is no current
argument. It was developed by the Opposition at the expense of Port Hedland and
Roebourne. It is a legacy from which members of the Liberal Party who live in the Pilbara
are now distancing themselves.
Mr Clarko: Nonsense. What is wrong with Damnpier?
Mr GRAHAM: The matter has nothing to do with Danmpier. Liberal supporters in the
Pilbara are distancing themselves from those matters.
Mr Clarko: You will be knocking motherhood next. Fancy knocking the Pilbara, one of the
greatest industrial developments in the world created by a Liberal Government and one
which is overwhelmingly successful.
Mr GRAHAM: A Liberal Government did nothing; it happened to be in Government when
an embargo was lifted on a product.
Mr Clarko: Sir Charles Court forced the embargo to be lifted.
Mr GRAHAM: Notwithstanding the hype and rhetoric from the other side of the House
about the Pilbara, the reality is that development of those mines will increase in the north
west because the industry needs the smaller mines to extend the life of the major iron ore
deposits in the Pilbara. It is a goad project. The fly in, fly out arrangements referred to by
people axe acceptable, although they are not perfect. If the iron ore companies can accept
some of the arguments being raised about local employment we will get along famously for
the next 20 years. The arrangements in the Iron Ore (Marillana Crek) Agreement Bill are
different from those which led to the nonsense and the legacies we have seen from previous
Liberal Governments and as such are worthy of the support of the House.
MRS BUCHANAN (Ashburton) [3.40 pm]: The operation referred to in the Iron Ore
(Marillana Creek) Agreement Bill is not in my electorate. However, it is of interest to all
people who live in the Pilbara area. The mine is comparatively small and will initially
produce about 5.5 million tonnes a year. Compared with other operations, that is a small
outfit. However, there has been much debate about the fly in, fly out arrangement.
Community leaders have been extremely vocal on the fly in, fly out arrangements,
particularly as they apply to this project. In my book, fly in, fly out does nothing for regional
development and I have been speaking very strongly against the arrangement for some time.
I was pleased to have the opportunity - I thank the Minister for State Development for
making that possible - to contribute to the negotiations on the work force arrangements for
Marillana Creek. That opportunity was also given to the members for Northern Rivers and
Pilbara. We have been working very closely together on this matter. I hope that, as a result
of that cooperation, the company will ensure that local people in the area receive job and
business opportunities from the project. We can go much further than that. As the members
for Northern Rivers and Pilbara have mentioned already, Aboriginal people have been
disadvantaged despite the fact that much of the mineral development has occurred in their
areas over a long period. The Town of Onslow is a classic example because, despite the fact
that a very rich resource is being exploited in close proximity to Onslow offshore, the town
and particularly the Aboriginal population receive very little benefit from it.
I have researched the fly in, fly out arrangements and the hiring of local residents. The
Canadian experience is very similar to ours in that many of the major mining projects are in
the northern part of the country where the population is fairly sparse. However, quite a few
indigenous people live in those areas, including the Indians - the Metis - and the Inuits - the
Eskimos. Canadian provincial Governments have recognised the problems with fly in, fly
out arrangements or long distance commuting and have pressed resource companies to hire
local people. In some cases they have legislated for that to occur. The Saskatchewan
Government has been able to achieve a 50 per cent Indian employment rate. The offshore oil
operations in Newfoundland at one time drew all their workers from cities in the south. As a
result of the pressure brought to bear by the Government - in some cases it took a lot of
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doing and several companies stopped their drilling operations in protest - the companies
capitulated and are employing local labour and it has now become an acceptable practice.
I want to see a special effort made to assist Aboriginal people break the unemployment cycle.
I will be working very closely with the member for Pilbara as we undertake the Pilbara
study. I have suggested to the Minister for State Development that his department may be
able to assist with Aboriginal employment and I am working also on a written submission
which I hope to complete soon which will suggest ways that we might be able to break that
unemployment cycle among Aboriginal people. A lot more can be done in that area. I am
making a concerted effort and hope the Government will support me.
As some of the previous speakers have said, we really do not need any new towns in the
Pilbara at this stage. Some allusion is made in the Bill to the requirement for a major open
town in the future. That should be viewed only as a possible future development because it
is premature at this stage. We need to decide how to sustain existing communities which are
totally dependent on the extraction of iron ore before we look at another town in the
I-amersley Range region.
The Bill seems to indicate that no-one will be permitted to use roads on company leases. On
other mine sites that provision tends to be limited to the main entrances to the company's
operations. The leases are large and some of them include residential parts of the towns.
Roads on the lease are quite often used by the general public as access roads to beaches and
other areas. Of course, they are used at the user's risk and most companies have notices on
the roads to advise the general public of that fact. Under the Mining Act, companies must
close those roads for at least 24 hours each year to enable them to retain private status. As a
result of a recent road closure, a terrible accident occurred near Dam pier in my electorate. A
young motor cyclist rode into a chain across the road and suffered terrible injuries. He is still
in the rehabilitation centre at Royal Perth Hospital recovering from those injuries. I have
been advised by witnesses that the use of chain to block the road was unsuitable and that the
signs were inadequate. Apparently a that was placed near the road was a flashing beacon
and that was some distance from the chain. The chain was placed in such a location that a
driver rounding the corner would be confronted by it suddenly. If companies must close
these roads because the legislation cannot be changed, strict guidelines about the types of
barriers and signs that can be used should be introduced. I am sure there are more effective
means of closing a road than the way used in the case to which I referred, which was a
complete disaster for that young man. The matter has been referred to the Minister for Mines
and I hope also that the Minister for State Development will give this matter some
consideration to see whether we cannot improve the method of closure so that these roads are
safer.
Two previous speakers referred to using the water from the mine. With the Pilbant being
such an arid region water is a more precious commodity than diamonds and it needs to be
carefully conserved. I am aware that clauses in this legislation deal with the use of water for
mining. A company liability clause is also included so that if damage is done presumably the
company would have to rectify it, but I wonder whether that is sufficient in light of the
remarks made by the member for Nedlands and the Leader of the National Party about Roy
Hill Station. The Kennedy family have also contacted me about the problem they
experienced which they attribute to the construction of the Ophthalmia Dam. The fact is that
a rather large area of the countryside which has been stressed is adversely affecting the
Kennedy family's livelihood, and I understand their concern. My experience in the past has
been that the Kennedy family is a fighting family and I have no doubt that they will continue
to strongly pursue their claims. I am advised in the case of Roy Hill Station that there are
conflicting views as to whether the Ophthalmia Dam is the cause of the stress on the
surrounding country. It has been very difficult to prove and the Department of Agriculture
told the Kennedy family at one stage that it thought that the construction of the dam had
caused the damage, but the Water Authority of Western Australia report refutes that claim. it
is very difficult for the family to prove that the dam has caused the damage.
The Government may very well be placed in a similar position if the removal of the water
from the mine causes damage to any of the country around Yandicoogina and Marillana
Creek. Although there is a liability clause in the legislation the Government may be faced
with some difficulty in proving that the company caused the damage. I seek an assurance
from the Minister that the Government will play a role in the management of the ancient
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aquifer which lies underneath the mine Co ensure that a very precious commodity is
conserved. I hope the matters I have raised will be given attention; that is, the roads, the
preservation of water, and Aboriginal employment at the mine. With those remarks, I ani
pleased to support the Bill.
MR TAYLOR (Kalgoorlie - inister for State Development) [3.53 pm]: I thank all
members for their reasonably well informed contribution to the debate on the Marillana
Creek agreement. The legislation is important to BHP because it will give it the opportunity
to pick up from where it is leaving off at Koolan Island. It sets a good standard as to how we
might best tackle these issues.
I share the views of the member for Eloreat that agreement Acts are an appropriate vehicle
through which to bring about resource development in Western Australia. We have probably
moved away from that in recent years partly because of the actions of this Government and
partly because companies were of the opinion that agreement Acts were a bureaucratic way
to achieving an end. If the Minister and senior executives of companies can be involved in
negotiating the terms of an agreement Act, it is the appropriate way to go.
The fly in, fly out arrangement has been the key ingredient to this legislation. No other
matter has received more public debate in the Pilbara. I agree with members that the fly mn,
fly out arrangement is not the way to approach a development project. I am strongly
opposed to the view that fly in, fly out from a major centre such as Perth to outback centres
should be encouraged. It is interesting that some companies are of the view that fly in, fly
out is not only the most economical way to run a mining operation, but also it is suitable
from the point of view of morale and the like. Other companies have a strong point of view
that is completely contrary to that. They would rather have people close to the mine site with
their families and to have employees attached to a region both physically and from the point
of view of their job. With this agreement legislation we have made reasonable steps forward
in this process. We have come from the situation where it looked like there would be a mine
with a fly in, fly out work force coming from wherever BHP and its contractors could obtain
them to a situation where BHP and I have exchanged correspondence which has resulted in a
commitment being given by the company that it will recruit its work force from residents
living in the Pilbara. It is a big step forward, and it is an obligation which applies not only to
BHiP but also to its contractor Henry & Walker Contracting (WA) Pty Ltd. Should they find
they are unable to recruit people resident in the Pilbara they will advise the Government of
the nature of the shortfall and it will agree to people from outside the Pilbara being recruited.
Recently I was in the Pilbara at the same time as some Opposition members and I was
accompanied by the member for Ashburton, the member for Pilbara, and the member for
Northern Rivers. We held discussions with several groups in relation to this issue. The
conclusion I reached is that this issue still creates a degree of discomfort and it was agreed at
virtually each meeting that the end result will prove the point we are seeking; that is, that
BHP and its contractors will do their best to achieve what the people of the Pilbara require. I
am confident BHP will do the right thing by the people of the Pilbara as it has done in
previous years. The fly in, fly out issue has been difficult, but hopefully it has been resolved
with this legislation.
The subject of Aboriginal employment has been raised in this debate and like other members.
I am keen to see major projects in areas such as the Pilbara and the goldfields, which is in my
electorate, make a real effort to employ as many Aborigines as possible. That is not always
easy and there has to be a great deal of understanding on both sides in relation to training,
attendance and the ability to do the work. We must encourage the companies to persevere by
giving our support. After all, we are talking about projects that will last for decades and, if it
is possible, we will see major steps forward as far as Aboriginal employment is concerned.
Aborigines have been employed as rangers in the Bungle Bungles and I am keen for them to
be employed in a similar capacity in the Hamnersley Range National Park. A great deal of
work needs to be done in this area and I have no doubt that people will seek to have a
positive attitude towards it.
Two issues concerning water have been raised. First is the fact that the mine has an
underground watercourse running through it and, second, the Ophthalmia Dam, which is
situated outside Newman, is of concern to the Kennedy family from Roy Hill Station. I have
also received correspondence from the Kennedys on this matter, and I understand it is being
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deal: with through the Minister for Agriculture's office. The Minister is coordinating studies
on the vegetation stress in the Fortescue Valley, and the hydrological report from the
Western Australian Water Authority on the impact of Ophthalmia Dam was issued in draft
format on 15 April this year. The final report is expected to be released later this month.
The results of the hydrological studies have been progressively reviewed by the Department
of Agriculture for inclusion in the final rangeland/lease condition report of Roy Hill and
Ethel Creek stations. A draft of this report will be issued at the end of May 1991, and this
will form the basis for later discussions between the Government, the Kennedys and BHIP
Iron Ore.
The dam issue involves not only die dam itself, and the impact it may or may not have on the
downstream situation and die vegetation, but also, as the member for Northern Rivers
pointed out, the extensive drought conditions that have existed in the area for many years and
die impact they had on vegetation. Another factor is the degradation of the area as a result of
grazing - and in some cases overgrazing - of that resource. A variety of factors have
impacted on the downstream area in die Fortescue Valley, all of which must be taken into
account. As mentioned by the Leader of the National Party, the Kennedys consider that the
simple solution is to pump the water from the Marilna Creek minesite, with the water that
is otherwise diverted around the minesite being pumped back to Newman and therefore
providing the town water supply. That would cost about $30 million to achieve, and it may
not be the final resolution of die problem. Nevertheless, we must first work out what is
happening downstream of the damn and try to resolve the problem after that.
With regard to the water at die minesite, to which the member for Nedlands referred, a
number of reports have been made by the Environmental Protection Authority, the Minister
for the Environment and die Water Authority on this subject, and I refer briefly to the
requirements imposed on BHIP. One of the requirements from the Minister for the
Environment is that the company must undertake -

regular monitoring of creek bed vegetation and sediment movement in the Marillana
Creek system to assess any changes diat occur as a result of the mine water discharge
and shall ameliorate adverse effects to the satisfaction of the Environmental
Protection Authority. The monitoring programme shall be to the satisfaction of the
Environmental Protection Authority and shall be prepared prior to commissioning the
mine. Results of this monitoring shall be reported through regular reporting
mechanisms required under the Agreement Act.

In addition, the following environmental management commitments are required-
Mine dewatering will be effected by pumping the minimum amount of groundwater
to achieve optimum mining conditions.

ine dewatering discharge will be fed into Marillana Creek and used as irrigation
water to support phxeatophytic vegetation.
No contaminated process water from the operation will be allowed to discharge to the
creek system or to die groundwater system . -
Monitoring of the dewatering effects on the river phreatophytes will be undertaken.
Management will be effected by irrigation of affected areas with mine dewatering
discharge.

The Water Authority has also stated that -

1. All wells which are drilled for construction, water supply or dewatering purposes
shall be licensed under die Rights in Water and Irrigation Act.

2. inesite dewatering operations shall be monitored by a series of monitoring wells
located both within and outside of the confines of the pit. This is necessary to
determine the effects of the dewatering on the quality and levels of the regional
groundwater system. The information shall be sumnmarised and forwarded to* the
Water Authority on a yearly basis.

3. The volume of water discharged from the dewatering pumps shall be measured and
recorded and this information submitted to the Water Authority as part of the yearly
monitoring report.
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A series of those requirements are imposed as far as the dewatering of the site is concerned.
It is a massive and very unusual job, and BHP will be effectively diverting an underground
river, with a volume of 14 000 cubic metres a day, which is equivalent to approximately
10 per cent of the total water used in the metropolitan area each day. Itris a huge operation
which will test all those involved, not only from the point of view of mining and managing
that quantity Of Water, but also because of the environmental effects of discharging that water
on the other side of the deposit.
Another issue raised by a number of speakers was the need for the Government to be most
determined with regard to value added processing by mining companies. An article I read
last night about value adding in the mining industry stated that it is not in the nature of
mining companies to seek to add value to their products unless they are extraordinary
companies. Most mining companies see themselves as very good miners rather than very
good processors or value adding operators. That would apply to a number of mining
companies operating in Western Australia, which shy away from value added processing.
This agreement will allow a third party to pick up some of this ore for value added
processing at a certain cost that is set out in the agreement Act. I am pleased that that is the
case. The time has come to say that the 1990s will be a decade when Western Australians
will demand that value be added to its resources. In resource development, it will be a
decade of oil and gas development, when major iron ore mines come on streamn and when the
community demands that we, as politicians, insist that value be added to these projects. That
has started to some degree with the decision by CR4 Services Ltd to go ahead with the high
smelt steel project, which will offset its obligations under the agreement Act in the Pilbara.
When that project starts in the next year or so, it will be the largest research and development
project in Australia. The company is committed to a $200 million investment to that project
and it will use part of the old Australian Iron and Steel Pty Ltd plant in Kwinana. It is
important for the future of the iron and steel industry.
The member for Nedlands referred to the involvement of the member for Swan Hills in that
industry. I quite determinedly sought the involvement of the member for Swan Hills in
examining the future of the iron and steel industry in Western Australia, because of the view
of some people in that industry that he is an appropriate person to be involved. For example.
I received a letter from Compact Steel Pty Ltd stating that it applauded the appointment of
Gavan Troy to that position. Some people involved in the Pilbara industry have expressed
concern about his comments when appointed to that position. However, he was quite rightly
putting those companies on notice that what 1, and other members, have said is a reflection of
public opinion; that is, there is a demand to add value to the resources in this State today,
particularly in the iron and steel industry.
The member for Pilbara referred to the roads, compliance with regulations relating to private
roads being used as public roads, and the way one company had closed a road for the
required day- I am not sure whether this is a requirement of t Department of Mines, but
perhaps the member for Florear, as a lawyer, will know the situation better. I understand an
old English law exists that if a private right of way is used as a public right of way the owner
must close that road for one day in each year in order to establish his continuing right to that
private access. It certainly appears to be an outdated obligation. I understand the member
for Ashburton has written to the Minister for Mines about this problem; I will. discuss it with
him and she can take it up with me if further progression of the matter is required after the
Department of Mines has looked into it- It may be an old-fashioned, legal requirement from
which we cannot escape. If that is the case, so be it. However, a chain across the road is a
stupid method of closing a roadway at a time when people could be expected to use it-
Unfortunately, that shocking accident happened to the motorcycle rider. The member for
Ashburton can cake up this matter with me in the next month or so if she is nor satisfied with
the outcome. I thank Opposition members and my colleagues for their support of this
legislation. It is important legislation which allows this mine to get off the pround
straightaway. In fact work has started at the Marillana Creek site, and we will see BHIP
involved in major developments. There has been a major expansion or growth in the
industry.
The ACT'ING SPEAKER (Mr Donovan): Order! The meeting being conducted on my left
has more adherence than the question before the Chair. Could we do something about that?
I can hear neither the Clerk nor the speaker on his feet.

1240 [ASSEMBLY]



(T'hursday, 2 May 19911 14

Mr TAYLOR: This is an important development for Western Australia. It has the support of
the Government, and I am pleased to say also the Opposition parties.
Question put and passed.
Bill read a second time.

Commrittee
The Deputy Chairman of Committees (Mr Kobelke) in the Chair; Mr Taylor (Minister for
State Development) in charge of the Bill.
Clauses I to 4 put and passed.
Schedule -

Mr COURT: The Bill mentions that the company is currently going to mine up to
5.5 million tonnes a year, and when production reaches 10 million tonnes the company must
go through some form of renegotiation with the Government. I would appreciate some detail
of what the Minister sees as being involved. Does the Bill cover that renegotiation
procedure? As an optimist, I would like to think that this mine will produce 10 million
tonnes a year quit quickly. What will be required when the company reaches that stage?
Secondly, on the question of further processing, dwing the second reading debate the
Minister asked how the Opposition would handle this question; whether we would toughen
up this clause. I would be interested to know if the Minister could explain whether the
Government has been able to get the company to commit itself to some further processing. It
would be a very good opportunity for the Government to pressure the company to make
some commitment in this area,
Mr TAYLOR: On the first issue of the expansion from five million tonnes or thereabouts to
over 10 million tonnes, the situation is that the company would put the proposal to the
Minister responsible saying what it may or may not seek to achieve in going above that
requirement. I think 100 employees and 10 million tonnes per annum are involved.
Mr Court: Is that witten in the Bill?
Mr TAYLOR: It is in clause 10 of the schedule, if I remember rightly, on page 14.
Clause I11 of the schedule sets the limits on mining. That relates also to the work force of
100 employees. It provides that if the company desires to go over that number it must come
back to the Minister responsible for the legislation and give notice of what it wants to do, and
the Minister must, within one month, advise the company whether he approves of the
proposed increase. The Bill says that the approval of the Minister may be given, subject to
conditions, including a condition requiring variations or additions to the agreement. There is
flexibility for the agreement to be varied should the company want to go over that limit of
10 million tonnes per annum. Many other variations can be considered, and the member can
read those.
In relation to value adding, this agreement Act is a little tougher than some of the others in
that it gives the third parry access. BHIP, of course, has under its other agreement Acts a
range of agreements in relation to value adding which it must meet. Over a period it has had
deadlines within which to report to the Minister about what it may or may not do regarding
value adding. One of those dates comes up this year, and BHP is examining the issue of
constructing a sinter plant at Port Hedland, and considering whether that would be economic.
Noises coming out of BHP in relation to that issue indicate that the company still considers it
uneconomic to construct a sinter plant. The Government will sit down with BHP later this
year to examine where that plant may or may not fit into any strategy for the Pilbara and
what we should or should not be doing as a Government to encourage that sort of
development. That has been the appiroach in the past. I am now trying to make a decision on
whether we should be tougher than that; whether these agreement Acts should include very
definite time limits, or whether we should be looking at incentives or penalties if companies
do not go ahead with some form of value adding in Western Australia. My approach would
be to provide incentives to encourage value adding in Western Australia, as was done when
Robe and Hamersley put in pellet plants. They had royalty deductions because they
pelletised some of that ore. I am prepared to look at the same sort of thing for iron ore
processing in the Pilbara- This Bill is a little tougher than agreement Acts have been in the
past. Only time will tell whether it is tough enough.
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Mr COURT: I thank the Mlinister for those explanations. When we had briefings from
companies on these agreement Acts we made it clear to the companies that we would be a
little harder than this Government has been in requiring them to meet those commitments.
We said in a number of cases that we would like the companies to get these sorts of projects
off the ground. We would like to think that one day we will be in a position to govern the
State. The sinter plant is an interesting proposal. We have been promoting that type of
development. One of the advantages of BHP constructing a sinter plant is that it has the
different qualities, grades and types of ore coming from Goldsworthy, Newman and the new
Yandicoogina deposit. The attraction of that, of course, is that it has the ability to blend ores
to the requirements of the different steel mills. We will judge the Government's success in
negotiation by the level of commitment by the companies to move into this process because
that ties in with the whole question of the fly in, fly out arrangement. The infrastructure is in
place so will be relatively inexpensive to get the new mine up and running. I am not saying
that it is a cheap process, but it is a big advantage to bring the deposit on stream. I would
like to think that it would be commercially advantageous to set up a sinter plant to provide a
value added product.
Schedule put and passed.
Title put and passed.

Report
Bill reported, without amendment, and the report adopted.

Third Reading
Leave granted to proceed forthwith to the third reading.
MR TAYLOR (Kalgoorlie - Minister for State Development) (4.23 pm]: I move -

That the Bill be now read a third time.
MR COURT (Nedlands) [4.24 pm]: The Opposition will agree to the third reading of this
Bill to allow quick transmission to the Legislative Council. It has been mentioned to us that
the company is keen for the agreement Act to be set in place because it has a number of
contracts to meet.
Mr Taylor: It is working now.
Mr COURT: I amn told that ir is working under previous agreements. However, the company
is keen to finalise contracts and get under way. Initially the company was eager for the
agreement Bill to be passed at the end of last year, so we are happy to expedite the Bill
today.
I listened with some interest to the contribution by the member for Pilbara. The member
would do himself a service were he not so critical of previous Liberal Governments'
activities in the Pilbara - no-one believes what he says, either up there or down here.
Whether the member likes it or not, the reality is that Liberal Governments carried out a
great deal of development in the Pilbara - and of chat we are extremely proud. The remarks
of the member for Pilbara axe nonsense. He said that Liberal members had travelled overseas
to badmouth the Pilbara over the decades. That is absolute rubbish. Liberal Government
Ministers did travel overseas, working damned hard to attract investment to the Pibara
region. The member will find out how difficult it is to attract such investment. He should
not criticise Liberal Governments because everyone knows how well they worked. He does
himself a disservice in making such comments. No member on this side of the House would
badmouth Western Australia.
The speeches by the member for Pilbara, and Hon Tomn Helm in the other place, castigated
Robe River Iron Associates. That was an absolute disgrace also. Robe River has done a
great deal for the State and provides employment for about 1 000 people; it has a terrific
track record. It is about time members opposite stopped picking on such companies -

Mr Graham: Poor old Robe River, it is being picked on by a backbceher!
Mr COURT: The member for Pilbara makes a practice of coming into this place and giving
disgraceful speeches -

Mr Graham: I judge the companies on their criteria.
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Mr COURT: I have mentioned to members privately chat their continual attacks, not only on
Robe River but also on oilier companies who do a terrific job, should cease. Members
should be proud of what such companies art doing instead of criticising them for the way
they operate.
Question put and passed.
Bill read a third rime and transmitted to the Council.

BILLS (2) - RECEIPT AND FIRST READ[NG
1. Miscellaneous Repeals Bill
2. Local Courts Amendment Bill

Bills received from the Legislative Council; and, on motions by Mr D.L Smith
(Minister for Lands), read a first rime.

House adjourned at 4.29 pm



QUESTIONS ON NOTICE

LAKES - WATER LEVELS
Environental Protection Authority Minimum Levels

205. Mrs EDWARDES to the Minister for the Environment:
What are the minimum water levels of lakes set by the Environmental
Protection Authority?

Mr PEARCE replied:
The Environmental Protection Authority has not set minimum levels for lakes
as it recognises that under natural conditions many lakes dry out. There are,
however, minimum levels set through publicly available ministerial
conditions for a number of Wanneroo lakes consequent upon approval for the
Water Authority's groundwater abstraction and management program for the
Gnangara Mound.

HOSPITALS - STREPTODCOCCI BACTERIA
210. Mr GRAYDEN to the Minister for Health:

Are any statistics available in respect of the extent to which streptococci
bacteria are endemic in Western Australian hospitals?

Mr WILSON replied:

In Western Austraia under section 3 of the Health Act 1911 only two
diseases, scarlet fever and purpural fever, which are caused by streptococci
bacteria are notifiable. There have been no notifications of these two diseases
during the year 1990. However, streptococci infections with the commonest
pathogenic type, namely streptoccoccus pyogenes have been recorded in 1990
in the following teaching hospitals -

Hospital Frequency of
occurrence per annumn

Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital 61 isolations
Royal Perth Hospital 110 isolations
Princess Margaret Hospital 168 isolations

HEALTH - PATIENTS' ASSISTED TRAVEL SCHEME
Budget Allocation

267. Mr MacKINNON to the Minister for Health:
(1) What was the budget allocation for the Patients' Assisted Travel Scheme for

the year ending 30 June 1990?
(2) How much was expended against this item for the year ending 30 June 1990?
(3) What is the budget allocation for this item in 1991?
(4) When were the guidelines for this scheme established?
(5) When were the guidelines changed and what were the details of those

changes?
(6) Is there a review of this scheme currently being undertaken?
(7) If so, by whom is it being undertaken?
(8) Will the review results be made public?
(9) If not, why not?
(10) Are there any appeals against decisions which are made on the Patients'

Assisted Travel Scheme?
(11) If so, who judges those appeals?

1244 [ASSEMBLY]



[Thursday, 2 May 19911 14

Mr WILSON replied:
(1) $7.3 million.
(2) $5.68 million.
(3) $7.3 million.
(4) 1 January 1987.
(5) The guidelines were last amended in March 1988. Changes introduced at this

time conferred a benefit on patients who do not hold a health care, health
benefits or pensioner health benefits card and whose travel costs do not
exceed $40 per trip after total travel costs - per individual or family unit -
have exceeded $280 in any one financial year.

(6) Yes. The process of review is complete.
(7) The Health Department of Western Australia.
(8) Yes. A public statement on the new guidelines was released on 26 March

1991. Following the initial announcement an extensive advertising and public
education campaign is being undertaken by the Health Department to help
ensure patients are awart of the changes.

(9) Not applicable.
(10) Yes.
(11) In the first instance the regional director of the respective health regions as

appropriate.
TOURISM - 'THE SKY IS THE LIMIT" PUBLICATION RELEASE
International Air Capacity Increase - Export Freights Space Increase

285. Mr COURT to the Minister for Tourism:

Since the Government released its "The Sky is the Limit" publication last
June -

(a) what increase in international air capacity into Perch has been
achieved;

(b) what increase in export freights space is being obtained for local
industry?

Mrs BEGGS replied:
(a) Approximately 3 200 additional international airline seats per week were

allocated to Perth subsequent to the publication of the document "The Sky is
the Limit". Included in these seats is the capacity introduced through the new
Royal Brunei Airline Service which was approved after strong representation
by the State Government. Unfortunately some international airline capacity
has recently been withdrawn due to the Gulf crisis and the economic
downturn; however, this is regarded as a short term situation.

(b) The increase in export freight is estimated to be approximately 26 tonnes.
PORT KENNEDY PROJECT - MINISTERIAL CONDITIONS

Studies Negotiations
311. Mr MINSON to the Minister for Environment:

(1) Has the proponent of the Port Kennedy project completed negotiations for and
agreed terms of reference with the Environmental Protection .Authority for
studies to satisfy the 21 ministerial conditions set for approval to proceed with
the Port Kennedy development?

(2) If yes when did agreement occur?
(3) Will the Minister modify or delete any of the 21 conditions for approval prior

to the completion of the studies?
(4) Does any subsequent Minister have the power to waive or alter any of the 21

approval conditions?
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Mr PEARCE replied:
(1)-(2)

Not yet.
(3) I have not received any proposals to change the ministerial conditions.
(4) Yes, subject to section 46 of the Environmental Protection Authority Act

1986.
PORT KENNEDY PROJECT7 - APPEALS COMMITTEE

Findings
315. Mr MINSON to the Minister for the Environment:

(1) Why did the Minister not make public all or even part of the appeals
committee findings on the Port Kennedy project?

(2) Who were the members of the appeals committee?
(3) Will the Minister now make the findings public?
(4) If not, why not?
(5) Did the appeals committee have any reservations in regard to the proposal?
(6) If yes, what were these reservations?
(7) Did the appeals committee recommend against any aspect of the Port

Kennedy proposal?
(8) If yes, what aspect/aspects?
Mr PEARCE replied:
(1 ),(3)-(8)

The report of the appeals committee is a report to me to assist me in the
determination of appeals lodged on the Environmental Protection Authority's
report and recommendations on the proposal. As I have already indicated
previously I consider it inappropriate to release that report. However, my
appeal determinations and the ministerial conditions set on the project are
public information.

(2) Dr Richard Howe, Dr Bruce Phillips and Mr Ken McKenna.
SWIMIMING POOLS - PUBLIC OUTDOOR POOLS

Link Mesh Fencing
337. Mr WATT to the Minister for Local Government:

(1) Are most outdoor public pools in Western Australa fenced with link mesh
fencing which is not an approved fencing material for back-yard pools?

(2) In respect to the requirement under the Local Government Act for residential
swimming pools to be fenced, why is a lesser standard of safety regarding the
type of fencing allowed for pools?

Mr D.L. SMITH replied:
(1) Public pools are usually fenced with link-mesh fencing; however, Australian

Standard 1926 provides for the use of such material in domestic situations.
(2) Safety fencing to privately owned pools is intended to inhibit or deter access

by children up to five years of age.
SWIMMING POOLS - PRIVATE SWIMM[ING POOLS

Isolation Fencing Legislation
340, Mr CLARKO co the inister for Local Government:

(1) Regarding the proposal to introduce isolation fencing for all future private
swimming pools, is it intended that this be done by changes to regulations or
by specific legislation?

(2) When does the Minister intend to take the necessary action to achieve the
change?
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Mr DL. SMITH replied:
(1) By regulatory change.
(2) Action has been commenced and will be completed before the end of 199 1.

CARAVAN PARKS - NEW LEGISLATION
341. Mr CLARKO to die Minister for Local Government:

(1) Does the Government intend to bring in new legislation regarding the caravan
industry?

(2) If so, when?
Mr DiL. SMITHl replied:
(1) Cabinet has approved the drafting of a new caravan parks Act and regulations.
(2) The proposed legislation will be introduced into Parliament when drafting is

completed.
RESERVES - VESTING OR REVOCATION OF VESTING

Governmntm Gazette Notices - Location Identifi cation
342. Mr WIESE to the Minister for Lands:

(1) Can the Minister confirm that, where Orders in Council made under the Land
Act and that relate to the vesting or revocation of vesting of a reserve are
published in the Government Gazette, the location of the reserve is not always
identified?

(2) Will the Minister investigate the possibility of identifying the location of
reserves that are vested or that have their vesting revoked by notice in the
Government Gazette by, for example, identifying in the gazette notice the
local government area in which the reserve is located?

(3) If no to (2), will the Minister take some other action to make it easier and less
time-consuming for members of Parliament and other interested persons to
identify which reserves are being vested or are having their vesting revoked or
altered?

Mr D.L. SMITHI replied:
(1)-(2)

Yes.
(3) Not applicable.

HOSPITALS - ROYAL PERTH HOSPITAL
Food Complaints

351. Mr BRADSHAW to the Minister for Health:
(1) Does the Minister or the Royal Perth Hospital administration receive many

complaints with regard to the food served to patients at Royal Perth Hospital?
(2) If so, is investigation being undertaken to establish why the food is not up to

standard?
Mr WILSON replied:
(1) No. Regular quality assurance surveys indicate a high level of patient

satisfaction.
(2) All complaints are investigated and appropriate action is taken.

GIANFRANCO RASILE - GOVERNMENT CONTRACTS
355. Mr BRADSHAW to the Minister for Health:

(1) Have any contracts been awarded to Gianfranco Rasile through either
Gianfranco Rasile Architect, Gianfranco Design Management or any other
firm connected with Gianfranco Rasile in the past thre years?

(2) What was or is the value of each job?
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(3) Were tenders called?
(4) If no to (3), why not?
Mr WILSON replied:
(1) The Health Department of WA has not awarded any con nets to Gianfranco

Rasile through either Gianfranco Rasile Architect, Gianfranca Design
Management or any other firm, connected with Gianfranco Rasile in the past
three years.

(2)-(4)
Not applicable.

GIANFRANCO RASILE - GOVERNMENT CONTRACTS
357. Mr BRADSHAW to the Minister for Local Government:

(1) Have any contracts been awarded to Gianfranco Rasile through either
Gianfranco Rasile Archirect, Gianfranco Design Management or any other
film connected with Gianfranco Rasile in the past three years?

(2) What was or is the value of each job?
(3) Were tenders called?
(4) If no to (3), why not?
Mr D-L SMITH replied:

See answer to question 361.

GIANFRANCO RASILE - GOVERNMENT CONTRACTS
358. Mr BRADSHAW to the Minister for Community Services:

(1) Have any contracts been awarded to Gianfranco Rasile through either
Gianfranco Rasile. Architect, Gianfranco Design Management or any other
firmi connected with Gianfranco Rasile in the past three years?

(2) What was or is the value of each job?
(3) Were tenders called?
(4) If no to (3), why not?
Mr RIPPER replied:
(1) No.
(2)-(4)

Not applicable.

GIANFRANCO RASILE - GOVERNMENT CONTRACTS
361. Mr BRADSHAW to the Minister for South-West:

(1) Have any contracts been awarded to Gianfranco Rasile through either
Gianfranco Rasile Architect, Gianfranco Design Management or any other
frm connected with Gianfranco Rasile in the past three years?

(2) What was or is the value of each job?
(3) Were tenders called?
(4) If no to (3), why not?
Mr D.L SMITH replied:
(1) No, but Mr Rasile has an ongoing role wi th B un bury Harbour Ci ty.
(2)-(4)

Not applicable.
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SOUTH WEST DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY - BORROWINGS
364. Mr BRADSHAW to the Minister for South-West:

(1) How much money is currently owed by the South-West Development
Authority and for what projects?

(2) How much money has been borrowed since the inception of the South-West
Development Authority?

(3) From where has the money been borrowed?
(4) How much is expected to be or has been borrowed this year and for what

purpose?
(5) Has money been borrowed in the past for interest payments?
(6) How does the South-West Development Authority expect to repay the amount

owing?
Mr DL SMITH replied:
(1) $18 595 270A47 for projects listed on page 45 of General Loan and Capital

Funds Estimates of Expenditure year ending 30 June 1991,
(2) $20409015.
(3) Treasury Corporation.
(4) $1 039 400 has been borrowed to fund projects listed above.
(5) No.
(6) Quarterly capital repayments are made to Treasury Corporation from

Consolidated Revenue Fund appropriations.
SWIMMING POOLS - FENCING LEGISLATION

Neighbour's Land Raising Effect
366. Mr CLARKO to the Minister for Local Government:

(1) Concerning home swimming pool safety, if neighbour 'A" raises the level of
his land and thereby reduces the height of the fence which divides him from
his neighbour "B" who has a pool, which has a fence which is 1.2 mets high
from "B's" side and therefore complied with the building regulations relating
to swimming pools -

(a) is neighbour "B" in contravention of these regulations because the
fence is now less than 1.2 metres high on neighbour "A's" side;

(b) if neighbour "B" is now at fault, through no action of his, should the
law be changed to remove his culpability?

(2) Are Councils taking legal action in examples such as set out in (1)?
Mr D.L SMITH replied:
(1) (a) Yes.

(b) No.
(2) Unknown.

WATER AUTHORITY OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA - GROUND WATER, QUINS
AQUIFER

Tamala Park. Mindorie Refuse Disposal Sire
367. Mr KIERATH to the Minister for Water Resources:

(1) When does the Water Authority of Western Australia intend to begin to use
groundwater from the Quinns aquifer?

(2) What is the proposed annual extraction of ground water from the Quinns
aquifer bore-field?

(3) What is the current value of this amount of ground water?
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(4) Does WAWA intend to construct a ground water tatment plant at Neerabup
to treat this water?

(5) What is the estimated cost of this plant?
(6) Have pumping tests been carred out on the Quinns aquifer to determine the

drawdown and ground water flow in the vicinity of the proposed bores?
(7) (a) Can the Minister give me an unqualified assurance that the Mindarie

rubbish tip will not pollute the Quinns aquifer,
(b) if not, what not?

(8) What is the expected life of the Mindarie rubbish tip?
(9) What is the expected direction in which the plume of pollution from the

rubbish tip is expected to flow?
(10) What are likely to be the main pollutants?
(11) What is the expected rate of flow of the plume of pollution from the Mindarie

rubbish tip?
(12) Is the rubbish tip likely to pose a threat to any public or private water

supplies?
(13) Wi!! the rubbish tip be closed and excavated if pollution of the aquifer is

detected?
(14) Does the inister support sanitary landfill for domestic waste on the Swan

coastal plain?
(15) If not, why did the inister support the decision to open the Mindarie rubbish

tip on top of the Quinns aquifer?
Mr BRIDGE replied:
(1) 1992.
(2) Initial extraction will be at the rate of 2 000 000 It a year, increasing to

12 000 000 Id. a year in the future.
(3) $3 000 000 a year. This is based on the extra cost of earlier development of

other sources, being 5O0/kL, less the minimum estimated production cost of
260/kL.

(4) Initially the water supply will be treated at the bores. A treatment plant will
be constructed at Neerabup if the deeper Leederville aquifer water is also
developed. This water requires treatment for iron.

(5) $20000000.
(6) Yes.
(7) Pollution will occur over a limited area. This is not expected to cause any

discernible environmental impact and public water supply bores utilised for
ground water extraction for drinking water will be located away from the
pollution.*

(8) Around 20 years.
(9) Westerly toward the ocean.
(10) Under the approved dry management regime and in an alkaline environment

the only significant pollutants are expected to be ammonia, chloride and
organic carbon. None of these is likely to have significant impact provided
the ground water close to the site is not used.

(11) Thie flow rate is expected to be approximately lO0m/year although it may be
higher in fissures-

(12) No. private and public ground water pumping will be managed so that bores
are not located in unsuitable areas.

(13) This would be a matter for the Ministers for Health and the Environment.
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(14) With appropriate planning and safeguards landfill is an option.
(15) Not applicable.

HOSPITALS - PRIVATE HOSPITALS
Building Pro gramns Funding

374. Mr MINSON to the Minister for Health:
What State Government funding, in excess of $100 000, as assistance with
interest connected with building programs was received by the individual
private hospitals in the financial years -

(a) 1987;
(b) 1988;
(c) 1989?

Mr WILSON replied:
I refer the member to Legislative Assembly question 246 on 27 March 1991
when the member asked an identical question.

SEAWEED - HUMAN CONSUMPTION
Health Department Safety Standards

376. Mr MINSON to the Minister for Health:
(1) Has the Health Department any standards in place which establish the safe

levels of human consumption of seaweed?
(2) If so, what are they?
(3) If no, is this matter under consideration?
(4) If so, when is it expected these standards will be available?
Mr WILSON replied:
(1) There are no standards which establish safe levels of seaweed as such.

However, the National Health and Medical Research Council food standard
code1 and the Western Australian health food standards regulations set limits
for arsenic in foods including seaweed.

(2) The current limit applied to arsenic in seaweed is 1.0mg/kg calculated as total
arsenic.

(3) Thbe issue is currently being reconsidered by the NH&MRC because
application of the current standard by the Australian Quarantine Inspection
Services restricted entry of seaweed products into Australia.

(4) AQIS applies a limit of 1mg/kg calculated as inorganic arsenic to seaweed
products and it is likely that the standard will be amended accordingly.

UNIVERSITIES - UNIVERSITY OF NOTRE DAME
Joondalup Development Corporation - Alkinws Land Joint Venture Agreement

384. Mr COWAN to the Minister for Planning:
Has there ever been an agreement between the State Government and the
University of Notre Dame that, in effect, established or proposed to establish a
joint venture between the University and the Joondalup Development
Corporation in relation to the Alkimos land?

Mr D.L. SMITH replied:
No.

SCHOOLS - CAPITAL WORKS
Funding Promises Withdrawal

385. Mir COWAN to the Minister representing the Minister for Education:
(1) (a) Have any schools that have been promised, either verbally or in

writing, capital works or substantial alterations to existing facilities in
the current financial year, had that promise withdrawn or broken;,
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(b) if yes, which ones?
(2) (a) Have any schools that have been promised funding assistance by

district education offices for minor capital works projects been
withdrawn or broken;

(b) if yes, which ones?
Dr GALLOP replied:
(1) (a) All projects listed in the 1990-91 capital works program are planned to

(b) Not applicable.
(2) (a) This information is not readily available. Specific concerns need to be

identified to enable the Ministry of Education to provide a suitable
response.

(b) Not applicable.
EQUAL OPPORTUNITY ACT - EXCEPTIONS

Exemptions
387. Mr WIESE to the Moinister for Justice:

Further to question 201 of 1991 relating to exemptions from the Equal
Opportunity Act -

(a) what is the difference between an exemption and an exception;
(b) what is the legislative authority for the granting of exceptions;
(c) who grants the exceptions and to whom is that person accountable for

making such exceptions;,
(d) will the Minister table the list of exceptions granted since

proclamation of the Equal Opportunity Act?
Mr DL. SMITH replied:
(a) The only exceptions from the provisions of the Equal Opportunity Act are

those stipulated in Part VI - General Exceptions to this Act. Exemptions, on
the other hand, are granted by the tribunal. The tribunal may, on application
by a person, by order, grant to the person an exemption from the operation of
a specified provision of Part II, Ill or IV of the Act. In effect, the difference
between exemptions and exceptions is that exemptions may be granted on
application to the tribunal. The requirements for an exception ar given in the
Equal Opportunity Act.

(b) The legislative basis of exceptions is given in Part VI - General Exceptions to
this Act.

(c) Exceptions are pranted by Parliament as pant of the parliamentary processes
by which an Act is passed.

(d) No exceptions have been granted since proclamation of the Equal Opportunity
Act. Amendments to the Act which make discrimination on the ground of
impairment unlawful, incorporated exemptions related to impairment.

ADOPTION - CILDREN WITH SPECIAL NEEDS
Community Services Deparoneni's Atit ude

392. Mr MacKINNON to the Minister for Community Services:
(1) What is the Department for Community Services' attitude to the adoption of

children with special needs?
(2) How many children with special needs are currently available for adoption?

(3) How long have each of those children been available for adoption?
Mr RAPPER replied:
(1) The adoptions branch of the Department for Community Services endeavours

to treat all children, made available for adoption, fairly and equally.
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(2) There is currently one child with special needs - Downs Syndrome - available
for adoption.

(3) The revocation period for that child expired on 27 March 1991. However, a
medical report and clearance is yet to be received, which must occur before
the child can be placed. Applicants are currently being assessed for the
placement of this child.

ADOPTION - COMMUNITY SERVICES DEPARTMENT
Parent Assessment Procedure

393. Mr MacKINNON to the Minister for Community Services:
(1) What assessment procedure must be complied with by adopting parents under

the current rules of the Department for Community Services?
(2) How long does it take from the time of application to assessment for this

procedure to be completed?
Mr RIPPER replied:
(1) The assessment of prospective adopting parents is prescribed by regulation 9

of dhe Adoption of Children Regulations.
(2) Assessment times for adopting parents are determined by the number and age

of children needing adoptive homes and the number of applicants on the
waiting list. Prospective adopting parents presently face a wait of five or
more years from application to the time a WA child becomes available for
them to adopt. When the applicants are within approximately 12 months of a
potential placement a detailed assessment procedure and a series of interviews
will be carried out that takes between two and six months.

SCHOOLS - SPRINGFIELD PRIMARY SCHOOL
Capital Works Expenditure

398. Mr MacKlNNQN to the Minister representing the Minister for Education:
(1) Would the Minister list the amount of money spent in capital works or repairs

on the Springfield Primary School for each of the last 10 years?
(2) What is budgeted to be spent on the Springfield Primary School for the year

ahead?
Dr GALLOP replied:
(1) The assembly of this information will take some time and arrangements will

be made to supply it to the member at the earliest possible date.
(2) It is not possible to indicate prior to the Budget announcement which schools

will be included in the 1991-92 maintenance program. Th~e scope of work at a
particular school will depend upon the availability of funds.

HOSPITALS -LAKES HOSPITAL BOARD
Annual Report 1990 -Juvenile Remand Centre, Murdoch

401. Mr
(1)

MacKINNON to the Minister for Health:
When will the 1990 Annual Report of the Lakes Hospital Board be tabled in
the Parliament?

(2) Does the report make any reference to the Government's proposal to build a
juvenile remand centre in Murdoch?

Mr WELSON replied:
(1) The 1990 annual report of the Lakes Hospital board was tabled on

Wednesday, t May 1991.
(2) No.
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RESERVES - RESERVE 36727
Status

402. Mr MacKINNON to the Minister for Lands:
What is the current status of Reserve 36727?

Mr DtL SMITH replied:
I refer the member to the response to parliamentary question 2005 asked
during the spring session last year. Parts of die reserve have since been
identified by the Asset Management Taskforce as no longer being required for
the original reserve purpose. Arrangements are presently under way to amend
the purpose to "Use and Requirements of the Minister for Works" so as to
facilitate dealings over the land.

SCHOOLS - WILLETTON PRIMARY SCHOOL
Establishment and Maintenance

405. Mr MacKINNON to the Minister representing the Minister for Education:
(1) When was the Willetton Primary School first established?
(2) Since its establishment, how many repairs and maintenance programs have

been carried out at the school?
(3) When is the next major repairs and maintenance program due for the school?
(4) What works will be contained in that program?
Dr GALLOP replied:
(1) 1970.
(2) This informiation is not readily available. However, the following amounts

have been spent on maintenance at the school in die last four years -

1987-88 - $14 901
1988-89 - 22 429
1989-90 - $17 210
1990-91 - $18 638

(3) The school will be considered for inclusion in the 1991-92 maintenance
program.

(4) The scope of the work will be determined at the time of funding.
RO ITNEST ISLAND BOARD - MEMBERS

412. Mr MacKINNON to the Minister for Tourism:

(1) Who are the current members of the Rottnest Island Board?
(2) What are the terms of their appointments?
Mrs BEGGS replied:
(1) The Rottnest Island Board ceased existence upon the proclamation of die

Routnest Island Authority Act on 30 May 1988. Membership of the Rottnest
Island Authority is -

Mrs P.M. Barblert
Mr C.C. Sanders
Mr J.B. Callow
Mr P. Lawless
Mrs K. Sanderson

(2) Term of appointment of each member is 1 June 1988 to 3l May 1991.
TOURISM - TRAVEL RESERVATIONS POLICY CHANGES

.Country Tourist Bureaus - Impact Assessment
417. Mr MacKINNON to die Minister for Tourisn:

(1) Has the Government made an assessment of the impact on country tourist
bureaus of the changes made in its travel reservations policy?
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(2) Who carried out that review?
(3) Have the results of die review been made public?
(4) Has the Government made any payments to any bureaus to compensate them

for the losses incurred by the bureaus as a consequence of this policy change?
(5) If so, to which bureaus have the payments been made and for what amounts?
(6) If no payments have been made, why not?
Mrs BEGGS replied:
(1) Yes.
(2) Western Australian Tourism Commission.
(3) No, although there have been discussions with the tourist bureaus which have

claimed loss of revenue.
(4)-(6)

Approval is being sought from the Treasurer to make "act of grace' payments
as per instruction laid down in the Financial Administration and Audit Act If
approval is obtained, payments will be made to -

Port Hedland $4010
Derby $7 449
Exmouth $1 128

The claims by Carnarvon and Kununurra are still under consideration due to
incomplete documentation by the two tourist bureaus. The claim by
Kalgoorlie has been rejected.
CAPE PERON STUDY - REPORT COMPLETION DATE

419. Mr MacKINNON to the Minister for Planning:
(1) Has the Cape Peron Study been completed?
(2) If not, when is it expected to be completed?
(3) When will the report be released for public comments?
Mr D.L. SMITH replied:
(1) No.
(2) The final report is expected to be completed during 1991.
(3) A report has already been released. Submissions have been received, and the

report is currently being reviewed in the light of comments received.
CARAVAN PARKS - NEW LEGISLATION

424. Mr MacKINNON to the Minister for Local Government:
(1) Will the Government be introducing in the current Session legislation relating

to the regulation of caravan parks?
(2) If not, when is it likely that this legislation will be introduced into the

Parliament?
Mr D. SMITH replied:

This question is answered by the answer to question 341.
GERALDTON EMERGENCY RELIEF ORGANISATION - GOVERNMENT

SUPPORT
428. Mr MacKINNON to the Minister for Community Services:

(1) What Government support has the Geraldton Relief Organisation received
from Government in each of the last financial years?

(2) What level of support has been committed by Government to the Centre for
the year ending 30 June 1991?

(3) Why has that support been reduced?
01686-15
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Mr RIPPER replied:
(1) Programs funded by the Department for Community Services through which

the Geraldton Emergency Relief Organisation, known as GERO. receive
direct financial support operate on a calendar year basis.

IMB
$100 689 Total Recurrent Funding

$81 000 A one-off grant for capital funding used to purchase a
building and floor coverings to house GERO.

122Q
$108 464 Total Recurrent Funding

(2) 1991
$60 925 Total Recurrent Funding. However, it should be noted that

$48 789 for the Family Counselling in Rural Areas funding
was transferred to the CGeraldton Community Education
Centre as of 1 January 1991 at the request of GERO and the
Community Education Centre. Given this, the Total
Recurrent Funding for these programs would be $109 714. an
increase on the 1990 figure.

$8 000 One-off grant from savings made in Family Counselling in
Rural Areas Program.

(3) As indicated by the figures above, overall funding for the provision of
GERO's services have not been reduced.

SELECT COMMITTEE ON DE FACTO RELATIONSHIPS - RECOMMENDATIONS
IMPLEMENTATION

430. Mr MacKINNON to the Minister for Justice:
What action, if any, has the Government taken to implement the
recommendations of the Select Committee on De Facto Relationships of
which the report was published in October 1990?

Mr D.L. SMITH replied:
The Select Committee reported in October 1990. Its recommendations
involve some significant changes in the present law. The report has been
referred to various interested panies, including the Chief Justice, the Chief
Judge of the Family Court and the Law Society, for comment. Most
comments have now been received. It is intended to consider those comments
with a view to implementing the report.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT - CANNING CITY COUNCIL
Administrator Appointment Details

432. Mr KIERATH to the Minister for Local Government:
As the Government has appointed an administrator to the Canning City
Council, and that person is required under the Local Government Act to be
paid from Canning City revenue, would the Minister advise for the benefit of
Canning ratepayers -

(a) the salary negotiated by the Government for this person;
(b) any extra entitlements such as superannuation, travel expenses etc;
(c) if the Minister refuses to be accountable by providing details to these

questions, how does the Minister reconcile this refusal with the right
of ratepayers to know how their rates am being spent?

Mr D.L. SMITH replied:
(a) $85 000 per annum.
(b) $5 000 expense of office allowance and use of a motor vehicle for official and

private use.
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(c) Not applicable.
LAND - CITY OF COCKBURN

Ditrict Zoning Scheme No 2 Approval
433. Mr MacKINNON to the Minister for Planning:

(1) Has the Government yet approved and gazetted District Zoning Scheme No 2
in the City of Cockburn?

(2) If not, why not?
(3) When is it expected that this zoning scheme will be finali sod?
Mr DiL. SMITH replied:
(1) No.
(2) The Cockburn City Council was advised in November 1990 that the scheme

would be given final approval when a number of modifications had been
made to it by the Council.

(3) When the Council submits modified scheme documents.
ADOPTION - LEGISLATION REVIEW

438. Mr STRICKLAND to the Minister for Community Services:,
(1) With respect to the Adoption Legislative Review would the Minister advise

the names of, and representation of the key organisations which provided
input during the consultative process prior to the release of the final report?

(2) With respect to individual submissions, were these classified as coming from
separate categories of relinquishing parent, adoptee or adopting parent and if
so what were the number of inputs for each category?

(3) (a) Were any other efforts make to collate information which may be a
representative viewpoint of any of the three categories in (2);

(b) if not, why not?
(4) What arrangements have been made for input following the release of the

final report?
(5) When will legislation on adoption be likely to be placed before Parliament?
(6) What type of life experience in adoption matters did each of the review

committee have as either a relinquishing parent, an adoptee or an adopting
parent?

Mr RIPPER replied:
(1) A list of organisations. and groups that made responses to the review appears

as Appendix 2 on page 169 of the committee's final report, a copy of which
was sent to the member on 22 April. The list contains 89 names.

(2) Yes.
(a) RESPONSES TM ISSUES PAPER "The Adoption Triangle,

A Question of Balance'
Adoptees 46
Relinquishing Parents 69
Adoptive Parents 98
Adoptee/Adoptive Mother 2
Adoptee/Relinquishing Mother 1
Adoptive Mother/Relinquishing Mother 5
Other (a) 85
Not identified 32
TOTAL 345
(a) Includes extended family, interested persons, professionals,

academics and groups.
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(b) RESPONSES TO DRAFT REPOR (This information appears in
Appendix 3 Table 11B on page 173 of the final report)
Adoptees 28
Relinquishing Parents 17
Adoptive Parents 611
Other (a) 169
Not identified 35
TOTAL 1175

(3) (a) Yes, as indicated throughout the report but in particular page 47
"Methodology of the Review". In conjunction with a broad media
campaign and provision for verbal and written submissions, two public
meetings were held in Pert and eight in regional centres throughout
the State. A separate program of consultation was undertaken for
Aboriginal communities. Private meetings were held by
subcommittees of the review group with individuals and
representatives of the various adoption associations to ascertain
feedback on issues and recommendations of the draft report.
This process together with the commissioning of experts to review up
to date literature on adoption, the cross-referencing of respondents to
the terms of reference for the April 1989 issues paper and the
recommendations from the draft report, indicates that extensive
consultation and endeavour to seek and identify all viewpoints was
carried out.

(b) Not applicable.

This matter has been the subject of extensive consultation over the past two
years following the release of the Issues Paper in April 1989 and the draft
report in April 1990.
Most recently, following the public release of committee's final report and
recommendations, over 1 300 copies have been circulated to individuals,
groups and organisations that contributed to the review. In addition copies
have also been forwarded to all members of State Parliament and relevant
Government and non-Government agencies.
It is my intention to build upon the efforts of the committee- and introduce new
adoption legislation to Parliament before the end of the year. I am happy to
receive comments from the public and members on this matter as I believe a
constructive bipartisan approach will mean the benefits that can be achieved
through new adoption legislation will assist all those involved in future
adoption.

(6) The committee's task was to give consideration to each of the terms of
reference, which it did in a productive and professional manner. It sought and
received wide participation from the various sides of the adoption triangle and
the community in general. The working of the Adoption Legislative Review
was greatly enhanced by the expertise and experience of all committee
members. In this regard I believe the member's inference is not appropriate.

BRAY, MR GEORGE - PLANNING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT
EMPLOYMENT

439. Mr STRICKLAND to the Minister for Planning:
(1) With respect to the recent employment of Mr George S. Bray by the

Department of Planning and Urban Development; what positions were held by
Mr Bray and for which periods of time were they held?

(2) Was Mr Bray employed under contract or otherwise under the Public Service
Act and what were the conditions of employment with respect to length of
employment and requirements for notice of termination?
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(3) When was notice of termination at the department given by Mr Bray and what
was the requested termination date?

(4) Were any concessions in the form of a reduced notice of termination time or
reduced payout of entitlement given to Mr Bray and if so what were they and
who authorised these?

(5) (a) Was Mr Bray given leave from duties at the department in the week
prior to his termination;

(b) if so, how much and for what purpose?
(6) What action has been taken, or is proposed to be taken for the staff

replacement of Mr Bray's former position?
(7) What was Mr Bray's salary at the department and what was the payout figure

required to complete termination?
Mr D.L. SMITH replied:
(1) Mr Bray held the following positions with the Department of Planning and

Urban Development and the Stare Planning Commission -

Position Appointed
Director, Planning Services 11.12.1986
Co-ordinator Land Planning and Development 18.05.1988
Director, Office of Land Development Co-ordination 29.12.1988

(2) Mr Bray's employment was pursuant to section 42(c) of the Public Service
Act. He was employed as a permanent public servant. Permanent public
servants are required to give one month's notice of resignation or a lesser
period if approved by the Chief Executive Officer.

(3) Mr Bray submitted his notice of resignation on 26 March 1991. His date of
resignation was 12 April 199 1.

(4) A reduced period of notice of resignation was approved by the Chief
Executive, Department of Planning and Urban Development.

(5) (a) No.
(b) Not applicable.

(6) The position will be filled in accordance with Public Service procedures.
(7) Mr Bray's salary was $72 086 together with normal benefits applicable to

SES officers. His final payout from the department was $3 428.58 which
comprised one day's pay, 16 days accrued annual leave and pro rawa holiday
leave loading.
BRAY, MR GEORGE - GOVERNMENT EMPLOYMENT

448. Mr LEWIS to the Minister for Planning:
(1) Did Mr George Bray, the former Director of the Office of Land Co-ordination

Development have an employment contract with the Department of Planning
and Urban Development or otherwise the Government?

(2) If so -
(a) what was the contracted period of his employment and what was the

expiry date of his contract;
(b) what was the period of notice that was required to be given by either

party on the basis of termination of the contract of employment?
(3) What was the contricted annual salary of Mr George Bray immediately prior

to his resignation?
(4) What was the total extent in dollar terms of any 'expense allowance on an

annual basis appropriated to Mr Bray at the time of his resignation?
(5) On what date did Mr Bray either terminate his conflict or otherwise resign
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ftrm his position as Director of Land Co-ordination Development at the
Department of Planning and Urban Development?

(6) On what day did Mr Bray physically leave and cease his duties?
Mr D.L. SMITH replied:
(1) Mr Bray's employment was pursuant to section 42(c) of the Public Service

Act.
(2) (a) Mr Bray was employed as a permanent public servant.

(b) Permanent public servants are required to give one month's notice of
resignation or a lesser period if approved by the Chief Executive
Officer.

(3) $72 086 together with normal benefits applicable to SES officers.
(4) Nil.
(5) Mr Bray submitted his notice of resignation on 26 March 1991.
(6) 12 April 1991.

HOSPITALS (SERVICES CHARGES) REGULATIONS - AMENDMENTS TABLING
449. Mr MINSON to the Minister for Health:

(1) Does the Government intend to table amendments to the Hospitals (Services
Charges) Regulations?

(2) If yes, when?
Mr WILSON replied:
(1) In accordance with the requirements of section 42 of the Interpretation Act

1984, all amendments made to the Hospitals (Services Charges) Regulations
1984 during 1991 have been tabled.

(2) The three amendments made during 1991 were tabled on the following dates -

(i) Hospitals (Services Charges) Amendment Regulations 1991 -
19 March 1991.

(ii) Hospitals (Services Charges) Amendment Regulations (No 2) 1991 -
19 March 1991.

(iii) Hospitals (Services Charges) Amendment Regulations (No 3) 1991 -
30 April 1991.

MEDICAL BOARD - MEMBERS

450. Mr MINSON to the M inister for Health:
(1) Who are the members of the Medical Board and what is the expiry date of

each appointment?
(2) In what capacity do these members sit on the Board?
Mr WILSON replied:
(1) Current Members Expiry Date

Dr A. Penman Statutory
Dr P. Brine 31.12.93
Dr L.G. Blake 31.12.93
Dr S. Levitt 30.06.92
Dr M.M.P. Ryan 30.06.92
Professor G.A. German 31.12.93
Mr E.M. Heenan QC 30.06.92
Dr M. Forrest Statutory
Ms J. Williams 31.12.93

(2) All members of the Medical Board are appointed under the Medical Act 1894.
Dr A. Penman is appointed under section 4(a)(la)(a) -
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die Permanent Head, if the Permanent Head is a Medical Practitioner,
or if the Permanent Head is not a Medical Practitioner, an officer of
the Public Service of the State who is a medical practitioner and is
nominated by the Permanent Head

Dr P Brine, Dr L G Blake, Dr S Levitt, Dr M M P Ryan and Professor 0 A
German are appointed under section 4(a)(l a)(b) -

5 persons other than bodies corporate appointed by the Minister who
are registered medical practitioners under this Act

Mr E M Heenan, QC, is appointed under section 4(a)(la)(c) -

1 person appointed by the Minister who is a legal practitioner
Dr M. Forrest is appointed under section 4(a)(la)(d) -

the Permanent Head of the department principally assisting the
Minister charged with the administration of the Consumer Affairs Act
1971 or an officer of the Public Service of the State nominated by him

Ms J. Williams is appointed under section 4(a)(la)(e)
I person appointed by the Minister who is not a medical practitioner

PLANNING ANT) URBAN DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT - CI-URCHMANS
BROOK LAND

Sheep Stock
454. Mr TUBBY to the Minister for Planning:

(1) Is the Department of Planning and Urban Development proposing to restock
its land at Churchmans Brook with sheep?

(2) If so, will the Minister advise whether two years ago, when this land was last
restocked, the sheep wetrc left to die from fly strike and starvation?

(3) Will the Minister advise whether this non arable block has no pasture to
support stock, that there are still a few remaining goats from previous
stocking attempts and the nature of the terrain makes proper husbandry all but
impossible?

(4) Will the Minister undertake to investigate this matter to prevent a recurrence
of the terrible situation which transpired two years ago?

Mr D.L. SMITH replied:
(1) No.
(2)-(4)

This matter was investigated in 1989 and the grazing lease terminated. The
land will not be restocked.

SCHOOLS - MOORA PRIMARY SCHOOL
Sewerage Connection

455. Mr TUBBY to the Minister representing the Minister for Education:
(1) Is the Moona Primary School connected to sewerage?
(2) If not, how long has sewerage connection been available for the Moona

Primary School?
(3) (a) In view of environmental concerns is this connection to be undertaken

in the 1991-92 financial year,
(b) if not, why not?

Dr GALLOP replied:

(1) No.

(2) 1977.
(3) (a) No.
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(b) The existing school septic systems are continuing to function
satisfactorily and with minimal maintenance being required.

SCHOOLS - PRIMARY SCHOOLS
School Nurse Visitation Program Review

TUIBBY to the Minister representing the Minister for Education:
Has a review been undertaken of the school nurse visitation program in
primary schools?
If so, could die Minister provide me with a copy of the review findings?

GALLOP replied:
No.
Not applicable.

SCHOOLS - WONGAN HILLS DISTRICT HIGH SCHOOL
Upgrading

462. Mr TUBBY to the Minister representing the Minister for Education:
(1) Is the Wongan Hills District High School listed for an upgrade in the 1991-92

financial year?
(2) If not, when will this long overdue upgrade be undertaken?
Dr GALLOP replied:
(1) The school is listed for consideration in the 199 1-92 Budget process.
(2) Not applicable.

EDUCATION - HOME TUITION
Requirements for the Registration of Home Tuition Providers Draft

464. Mr TUBBY to the Minister representing the Minister for Education:
(1) Is there a published draft titled Requirements for the Registration of Home

Tuition Providers?
(2) If so, do the listed rcquirements propose far wider powers for Ministry

officers than allowed under the Education Act and relaxed regulations?
(3) If so, does the Minister intend modify'ing the draft requirements or amending

the Education Act or its regulations on home tuition?
Dr GALLOP replied:
(1) The document was an internal working document produced as a first draft

during a review of home tuition procedures within the Ministry of Education.
(2) No.
(3) Yes.

SCHOOLS - LYNWOOD PRIMARY SCHOOL
Retaining Wall Deterioration

465. Mr TUJBBY to the Minister representing the Minister for Education:
(1) Is a danger being caused by a deteriorating retaining wall at the Lynwood

Primary School?
(2) If so, could the Minister advise when this situation will be rectified?
Dr GALLOP replied:
(1) No.
(2) Not applicable.
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TAPE - ADULT LITERACY PROGRAM
Additional Students Non-acceptance

467. Mr SHAVE to the Minister representing the Minister for Education:
(1) Why art no addtional students being accepted by the Technical and Further

Education adult literacy program?
(2) Are there plans to cease or restrict the program?
(3) Why has TAPE not paid the fees due to the south west region resource centre

so that young adults on the TAPE adult literacy course for the learning
disabled can use the facilities and resources at the centre?

Dr GALLOP replied:
(1) Additional students are being accepted by the technical and further education

adult literacy program. TAPE continues to offer classes at colleges and
campuses throughout the Stare.

(2) There are no plans to restrict or cease the adult literacy program. In fact, in
recognition of the need for literacy provision throughout the Australian
community, the Commonwealth Government has allocated in excess of
$100 000 for the provision of additional classs and other adult literacy
services to the Western Australian community. These funds are part of an
annual Commonwealth/State agrement for TAPE funding.

(3) The issue of fees for the use of resource centres is currently being addressed
by the inistry of Education and the Department of TAPE. I expect a
resolution shortly and will advise the member in due course.

483. Mr
(1)

(2)
(3)
(4)
Mrs
01)-

STATESHIPS - OPERATIONS INQUIRY
MacKINNON to the Minister for Transport:

What inquiries have been made into the operations of Stateships in the last
eight years?
Who undertook those inquiries?
Were the inquiries made public?
If not, why not?

BEGOS replied:
(4)

1986 - Transport strategy inquiry into the benefits from subsidising
Stateships' north west service. A public inquiry under the auspices of the
Western Australian Department of Transport with a report published in July
1986.
1988 - An investigation by the Western Australian Government Functional
Review Committee with a report to the Minister in September 1988.
1989 -An investigation by Ernst and Young to identify impediments to
greater commercial efficiency. A report to the Minister and the commission
in December 1989.
1989 - an economic evaluation of Stateships by Coopers and Lybrand with a
report to the Minister in December 1989.
1990 - An examination of Stateships external benefits by the University of
Wollongong centre for transport policy analysis with a report to the Western
Australian Department of Transport in August 1990. A summary of the
report's finding has been made public.
1990 - A ministry and departmental review of the options for Stateships with a
report to Cabinet in December 1990.
Annual audits of the commission's accounts published in annual reports.
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RAILWAYS - METROPOLITAN TRAIN GUARDS
Ticket Sale Authorisation

484. Mr McNEE to the Minister for Transport:
(1) Are guards on the metropolitan train service authorised to sell tickets?
(2) If yes, would the Minister list the times dining which, and the places where,

guards may issue tickets?
Mrs BEGGS replied:
(1) No. Ticket sales are by automatic vending machines and ticket outlets for the

sale of periodic or Multirider tickets.
(2) Not applicable.

SCHOOLS - WONGAN HILLS DISTRICT HIGH SCHOOL
Air-conditioning Funds

485. Mr McNEE to the Minister representing the Minister for Education:
(1) Were funds approved for air conditioning for the Wongan Hills District High

School for the 1990-91 year?
(2) If yes, how much?
(3) If no, why not?
Dr GALLOP replied:
(1) Yes.
(2) $3 225. District Minor Works Subsidy.
(3) Not applicable.

STATESHIPS - COMMISSIONERS
Services Reimbursement

486. Mr McNEE to the Minister for Transport:
(1) Do Western Australian Coastal Shipping Commission Commissioners receive

a salary, allowance, stipend, fee or other form of reimbursement for services
rendered?

(2) If yes, what is the amount of reimbursement?
Mrs BEGGS replied:
(1) A fee is payable only to commissioners appointed from the private sector. No

fee is payable to the current commissioners.
(2) Not applicable.

SCHOOLS - MOORA PRIMARY SCHOOL
Student and Staff Statistics - Sewerage Connection

487. Mr McNEE to the Minister representing the Minister for Education:
(1) What are the student numbers at the Moora Primary School?
(2) What are the staff numbers at the school?
(3) Have complaints been received about the septic tank system at the school?
(4) Why is the school not connected to the sewerage system?
(5) Will funds for the connection of the school to the sewerage system be

included in the 1991-92 budget?
Dr GALLO)P replied:
(1) 228 primary and 43 preprimary students (Semester 1 1991).
(2) 15 teachers - four cleaners, one gardener, three teacher aids, three school

assistants.
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(3) Yes. The septic tank system has required minor repairs in the past. These
have been addressed as part of the normal Building Management Authority
Fault Service.

(4) The existing school septic systems are continuing to function satisfactorily
and with only minimal maintenance being required.

(5) No.
GUARDIANSHIP AND ADMINISTRATION BILL - PROCLAMATION

490. Mr NICHOLLS to the Minister representing the Attorney General:
(1) Could the Minister advise whether the Guardianship and Administration Bill

has been proclaimed?
(2) If so, when?
(3) If not, why not?
Mr D.L. SMITHI replied:
(1 )-(2)

The Guardianship and Administration Act has not been proclaimed.
(3) Cabinet has appointed a Project Implementation Team to oversee the

establishment of the Guardianship and Administration Board and the Office of
the Public Guardian. Until the administrative arrangements are in place for
these bodies the Act cannot be proclaimed.

LOBSTERS - ROCK LOBSTER RECREATIONAL LICENCES
491. Mr NICHOLLS to the Minister for Fisheries:

(1) Which committee is due to report to the Minister later this year, with
reference to licensed estuarine fishermen being prevented from obtaining
recreational rock lobster licences?

(2) When will a decision be made in respect to possible relaxation of the
prohibition of holders of any commercial fishing licence being prevented from
obtaining a two-pat recreational licence?

(3) How many rock lobster recreational licences were issued in each of the last 5
years?

(4) How many professional fishing licenses are issued for the Peel Inlet?
Mr GORDON HILL replied:
(1)-(2)

Under existing Fisheries Act regulations, holders of professional fishing
licences are not permitted to hold a recreational fishing licence for any
activity other than the taking of marron. The Recreational Fishing Advisory
Committee has identified this issue in its discussion paper as one requiring
further clarification.
With specific reference to the rock lobster fishery, the present policy has been
in force for a number of years and is accepted by the majority of commercial
fishermen.

(3) 1987 - 16500
1988 - 15 183
1989 - 22592
1990 - 23 374
1991 - 22 042 (to 9April 199 1)

(4) Licences for 28 fishing units have been issued for 1990-9 1.
COOPERATIVES - CrrIZENS' ESTABLISHMENT PERMISSION

492. Mr NICHOLLS to the Minister representing the Attorney General:
(1) Is it possible for citizens of Western Australia to form a co-operative to

pursue business interests?
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(2) If so, what legislation covers such activity?
Mr D.L. SMITH replied:
(1) Yes.
(2) Companies (Co-operative) Act 1943.

STATESHIPS - ANNUAL REPORT 1990
Stevedoring and Cargo Expenses

494. Mr McNEE to the Minister for Transport:
(1) Is it stated on page 5 of the Stateships 1990 Annual Report "participation in

thre NTF join: venture has enabled Stateships to exercise a significant degree
of influence in securing stevedoring economy and efficiency in cargo
operations in Fremantle"?

(2) Does Table 7 on page 15 of the &tateships 1990 Annual Report indicate that
tonnes of cargo carried for the year 1989-90 dropped by approximately one-
third over the previous year?

(3) If yes to (1) and (2), why did stevedoring and cargo expenses exceed budget
estimates by $1.7 million, that is approximately 12 per cent, as indicated in
note 18 on page 26 of the Stateships Annual Report?

Mrs BEGGOS replied:
(1)-(2)

Yes.
(3) The annual report explains in note 18(A)(3) that stevedoring and cargo

expenses include on-off trade transfer expenses of $1.3 million and the budge:
estimates do not include provision for CPI increases in accordance with
Treasury instructions.

MV GORDON REID - MAIDEN VOYAGE
Cargo

495. Mr McNEE to the Moinister for Transport:

On her maiden voyage what cargo did the MV Gordon Reid carry -

(a) on the northbound passage;
(b) on the southbound passage?

Mrs BEGGS replied:
(a) Fifty containers and one semi trailer with roller.
(b) The southbound voyage has not yet been completed.

STATESHIPS - ANNUAL REPORT 1990
Equipment Lease Details

496. Mr McNEE to the Minister for Transport:
With reference to note 12 on page 25 of the 1990 Stateships Annual Report
would the M inister detail the length of the lease on each piece of equipment
and the cost of that lease for each year until die expiry of that lease?

Mrs BEGGS replied:
200 refrigerated containers with lease expiry in 1991-92.
Lease costs 1990-91 - $1018 000

1991-92 - $ 430 933
One tanktainer with lease expiry in 1991.
Lease cost . 1990-91 - $2754
50 dry containers with lease expiry in 199 1.

Leae cst 1990-91- $2867
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Leases have expired on the remaining 450 dry containers.
Three: of the eight vessels referred to in Note 12 have been redelivered.
The charters on the remaining five vessesi expire as follows -

MV Mary Durack - August-September 1991
MV C.Y. O'Connor - January-February 1991
MV Roberta Jull - September 2000
MV Frank Iconecny - December 2000
MV Gordon Reid - April 2001
Them is an element of comimercial confidentiality where the interests of the
owners are concerned. I am happy to make the values of the charter hire
available to the honourable member on the understanding that they will not be
disclosed in a manner prejudicial to those interests.

STATESHIPS - ANNUAL REPORT 1990
Source and Applications of Funds Statement - Non-current Assets Decrease

497. Mr McNBE to the Minister for Transport:
With reference to the source and applications of funds statement an page 21
of the Stateships Annual Report, would the Minister detail the decrease in
non-current assets of $1 1.58 million?

Mrs BEGGS replied:
An amount of $11.42 million is in respect of payments by the Commission to
ASI (WA) Pty Ltd prior to the assignment of the building contract for three
new ships to Westpac Banking Corporation as detailed in the 1989 annual
report. The balance is in respect of the disposal of redundant or surplus
assets, principally containers.

STATESHIPS -WAGES AND SALARY COSTS
498. Mr McNEE to the Minister for Transport:

With respect to Stateships would the Minister detail -

(a) wages and salary costs of the sea going crew;
(b) wages and salary costs of shore-side staff;
(c) contractor and other labour costs?

Mrs BEGGS replied:
(a) $19 254.77 per fortnight per vessel excluding leave and industry

contributions.
(b) $38 865.01 per fortnight far technical and maintenance employees, excluding

overtime.
$51 041.22 per fortnight for administration, marketing and operations.

(c) Not separately available. -

STATESHIPS - ANNUAL REPORT 1990
Profit and Loss Statement - MV Irene Greenwood Disposal Listing

499. Mr McNEE to the Minister for Transport:
With reference to the profit and loss statement on page 20 of the Stateships
1990 Annual Report -

(a) why is the disposal of MV Irene Greenwood listed under operating
revenue;

(b) why is it not listed under abnormal items along with the
decommissioning expense of the MV Koolinda;

(c) why is profit on sae of assets also listed in operating revenue;
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(d) why are stevedoring, container and cargo costs listed at $14.8 million,
but under note 18 on page 26, they are twice listed at $ 16.045 million;

(e) why is administration expenditure listed at $3.67 million, but in note
18 on page 26, it is once listed at $2.54 million and once at $3.67
million;

(f) would the Minister detail the circumstances surrounding the laying up
and decommissioning of the MV Koolinda?

Mrs BEGGS replied:
(a)-(c)

The items are listed in accordance with ASA Accounting Standard AAS1I and
Treasury Instructions under the Financial Administration and Audit Act.

(d) Due to trade transfer expense - refer to answer to question 494.
(e) In note 18(A) administration expenses have been reflected against items for

which budget was allocated whereas note 18(B) shows administration
expenses as reported in the P & L Statement.

(f) Refer to the answer given to Legislative Council question 983.
PARLIAMENT HOUSE - FINANCIAL TRANSACT7IONS

Auditor General's Report Tabling - State Government Insurance Commission
Access

521. Mr TRENORDEN to the Speaker:
Further to question 346 of 1991, in which the Speaker declined to table a
report by the Auditor General on certain financial transactions within
Parliament House -
(1) Who authorised the release of the report to a third party - namely the

State Government Insurance Corporation?
(2) Why is the SGIC allowed access to a report on certain financial

transactions within Parliament House while the Parliament itself is
denied access to that same report?

(3) Will the Speaker reconsider the Speaker's answer to question 346 and
now table that report?

The SPEAKER replied:
(1) The Chief Hansard Reporter.
(2) The report was supplied on a confidential basis to the State Government

Insurance Office to assist it in its assessment of a claim on behalf of the
Parliament.

(3) No.

QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE

CHILDREN'S COURTS - GERALDTON AND WESTERN AUSTRALIA
Community Service Orders

86. Mr MacKINNON to the Minister for Community Services:
(1) How many community service orders were issued by Children's Courts in

Geraldton and in Western Australia in the last 12 months for which statistics
are available ?

(2) In the same period, how many breach complaints were filed in the Children's
Courts in Geraldton and in Western Australia?

(3) How many alternative penalties were ordered as a result of rehearings in
Geraldton and in Western Australia?

(4) Will the Minister list examples of the type of alternative penalties ordered as a
result of rehearings in Geraldton and in Perth?
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Mr RIPPER replied:
In response to the question asked by the Leader of the Opposition, of which
some notice was given, the Department for Comm unity Services has provided
me with the following advice -

(1) Community service orders issued in Geraldron in the past 12 months
total 101, and in Western Australia 1 626.

(2) Three breach complaints have been filed in the Children's Court in
Geraldton in the past 12 months. The Department for Community
Services has not yet been able to provide the information for Western
Australia. I have instructed it to provide that information and v an I
receive it, I will pass it to the Leader of the Opposition.

(3) With regard to the alternative penalties, in the three cases in Geraldton
the offenders have disappeared. The police have been notified,
warrants have been issued, and it is now the responsibility of the
police to bring them before the Children's Court. It will then be the
responsibility of the Children's Court to make an appropriate decision
with regard to penalties. The information about alternative penalties
ordered throughout the State is still being compiled, and when it is
available I will ensure that the Leader of the Opposition's question is
answered.

(4) The full range of alternative penalties is available to the Children's
Court with regard to rehearings. Information on the statistical
distribution of the penalties ordered is still being compiled, and when
it is available I will ensure that the Leader of the Opposition has
access to that information.

SPECIAL PREMIERS' CONFERENCE - WESTERN AUSTRALIA
WITHDR.AWAL THREAT

87. Dr EDWARDS to the Deputy Premier:
Is it true that Western Australia has threatened to withdraw from the special
Premiers' Conference talks?

Mr TAYLOR replied:
Yes. In fact, the Premier said today in a speech which she delivered in
Canberra to the Australian Mining Industry Council that Western Australia
would withdraw from the special Premiers' Conference talks unless there is a
commitment from the Federal Government to reformn tax powers and, in
particular, tied prants. In my view, and I am sure it is also the view of the
Premier, the Commonwealth has so far failed to deliver in reforming tax
sharing arrangements between the Commonwealth and the States, reviewing
tied grants, and removing duplication of Federal and State services. I am sure
all Ministers in this House today are aware of the great deal of duplication and
the problems in trying to administer tied grants as far as arrangements
between the States are concerned. I am pleased the Premier has taken this
strong line about this issue. -The Commonwealth Government premised last
October to revise its financial relations with the States, and to say that the
progress to date in relation to that revision has been slow would indeed be a
generous comment. If action is not taken, Western Australia will withdraw
from the special Premiers' Conference process and pursue reform in its own
right and in direct consultation with the other States of Australia.
Western Australia, primarily as a result of its mining and agricultural
industries, provides a large share of the national revenue of Australia, but the
Commonwealth does not return sufficient funds for us to continue to provide
the essential services for what is now the fastest growing State in Australia.
Tied grants from the Federal Government now comprise 50 per cent of total
Commonwealth grants to the States, compared with about 25 per cent in the
early 1970s. This forces the States to operate narrow, inefficient, regressive
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and unstable tax regimes. We want action from the Commonwealth; and we
say that reluctantly. The Premier has gone to Canberra and made that speech
and threat with a great deal of reluctance because certainly as a State
Government we have been very backward in wanting to criticise the
Commonwealth Government in any way, but we believe the time has come
for action rather than words about this issue. I am confident, as is the
Premier, that a number of the States of Austraia feel the same way, and we
expect them to support us on this matter.

GOVERNMENT DEPARTMENTS - ACCOUNT PAYMENTS
60 Days Deferment Advice

88. Mr COWAN to the Minister for Services:
This question would normally be directed to the Premier but in her absence I
direct it to the Minister for Services.

(1) Some departments have been advised to defer payments of accounts for 60
days. Has this policy been approved by the Minister or by Cabinet?

(2) If not, will the Minister issue a directive to all department CEOs to ensure
prompt payment of accounts?

Mr McGINTY replied:

No, and I will investigate any particular cases which the Leader of the
National Party wishes to refer to me, to ensure that accounts are paid
promptly.

ELECTORAL AMENDMENT (POLITICAL FINANCE) BILL - TIMETABLE
89. Mr GRAHAM to the Minister for Parliamentary and Electoral Reform:

Will the Minister outline the timetable which led to the second reading on 30
April of the Electoral Amendment (Political Finance) Bill?

Dr GALLOP replied:
Attempts have recently been made by the Opposition spokespeople on this
matter to diminish the significance of our Bill for the disclosure of political
finance by attacking discussion of it at the same time as the Royal
Commission is in progress. It is important to note that discussions in this area
of political change commenced a long way back. I refer first to our own
Labor Party platform. In 1983 the Federal ALP introduced a form of
disclosure legislation which a parliamentary committee has since advised
needed to be strengthened. We have learnt from that experience.
Secondly, we can go back to the election of 1989, when the ALP, as part of its
election campaign, proposed to introduce legislation to require the disclosure
of income and expenditure in politics. Thirdly, at the opening of Parliament
earlier this year the Governor's Speech mentioned the inclusion of disclosure
in the Government's legislative program. Fourthly, in March I distributed a
discussion paper, "Disclosure of Political Donations", in order to get some
feedback on the ideas contained in it. Earlier this week I introduced a Bill.
A fundamental point is at stake here. This Parliament has the responsibility to
pass laws for the peace, order and good government of this State. We cannot
give up that responsibility. just because a Royal Commission happens to be in
progress. That legislation should be treated on its merits, and if the
Opposition has ideas we would be only too willing to hear of them.

CATTLE - TRANSACTION LEVY
Changes

90. Mr OMODEI to the Minister for Agriculture:
(1) Is the Mlinister aware of changes to the cattle transaction levy?
(2) Will the Minister advise as to the actual extent of any increases to this levy?
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(3) Will the Minister further advise as to the current use of the cattle transaction
levy?

(4) Where will any increase be spent?
Mr BRIDGE replied:
(1)-(4)

The member is referring to the Commonwealth levy, is he?
Mr Omodel: That is correct.
Mr BRIDGE: If it is the same levy referred to me by another member in the corridor

of this building yesterday, I have little or nothing to say at this stage. I am
seeking information about it. I do not think it is referred to as a levy; it has
some other name.

Mr Omodei: A cattle transaction fee.
Mr BRIDGE: That is the one. I am not able to provide the member with the

information he requires at the moment, but I undertake to do so.

INDONESIA - WESTERN AUSTRALIA TRADE INITATIVES
91. Mr CATANIA to the Minister for State Development:

Will the Minister detail initiatives which are planned to help boost trade
between Indonesia and Western Australia?

Mr TAYLOR replied:
I thank the member for the question. I am pleased to tell the House that a
number of initiatives are being taken in this area, the latest being a special
Western Australian display in the international exhibition to be held in East
Java's capital, Surabaya, starting in August of this year. The Government has
recognised the importance of the region as a rapidly expanding market for
imported services and products as far as Western Australia is concerned. The
Government, through the Department of State Development, now has the job
of seeking the involvement of as many Western Australian companies as
possible in Asia. To this end the Department of State Development is now
assembling what we call a showcase of top local companies, particularly in
the engineering and business services sectors, to take part in the forthcoming
international exhibition.
The department is also keen to involve machinery manufacturers, mining
engineering companies, high tech equipment producers, construction
companies, and also health and education services. The event itself will
coincide with the signing between Western Australia and East Java of a much
expanded sister State agreement. I cannot overemphasise how vital such
agreements are now becoming in the development of our trade with South
East Asia. No longer are they just arrangements for cultural exchange; they
have begun to underpin trade deals, business exchanges, inter-university
research, student exchanges, and in fact every facet of an international
relationship with these sorts of countries.
A major banking institution, a shipping company, and a group of leading
Western Australian shipbuilders have already decided to take part in this
exhibition. Other companies representing the chemical industry, the mining
industry, business electronics and textiles are now finalising their plans but
there is still room for other companies to participate. As part of the
Government's normal arrangements for officially sponsored overseas trade
exhibitions, all of the participants would be eligible for special grants to cover
the shipment of exhibits and part of the cost of air faxes.
We see our strong participation in Surabaya's Expo as of the utmost
importance in developing our trade and business relations - and, indeed, our
entire relationship - with Indonesia, and with East Java in particular.
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MICROECONOMIC REFORM - MINISTERIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Manters, Agencies, Statutes

92. Mr MENSAROS to dhe Minister for Mierneconomic Reform:
I seek important information from the inister, and I am quite sure he will
relish the question and answer it in the same detail with which he answered
the previous question he was asked.
As the latest list of ministerial responsibility over authorities, Statutes and
boards - issued on 27 February this year - makes no mention of any authority,
Statute or board under the Minister for Microeconomic Reform's name, and
because of the differing views and interpretations within the academic
discipline of economics, would the Mfinister, in very detailed, pragmatic
terms, tell die House what matters, agencies and Statutes come under his
responsibility within the portfolio of Microeconomic Reform?

Dr GALLOP replied:
Theme are in fact no specific authorities, Government agencies or committees
under my responsibility as inister for Microeconomic Reform. However, a
unit called the corporatisation policy unit exists within Treasury, which
reports to me on policy advice in the area of corporatisation. It is worth
pointing out that we have a very important subcommittee of Cabinet, the
Microeconomic Reform Committee to the Cabinet, to which I am attached.
I am very pleased indeed that this portfolio item of mine is not attached to any
massive Government substructure, because the aim of the exercise is to
develop policy and make suit that those policies can be carried out through
the Government system generally. One of the great lessons in the policy area
is that where Ministers are given particular interests and are attached to
particular departments with a history and culture of delivery, sometimes it is
difficult to develop policy free of that particular form of delivery. Therefore I
believe that by having a very small unit in Treasury giving policy advice on
this matter, that advice can be of a general and an innovative nature, which I
do not believe I would get if I were attached to a great department of State.
It is very timely indeed that this question has been asked on the day after one
of the most significant microeconomic reform measures ever taken by a State
Government in Australia's history; that is, the setting up of a privately owned
and operated power station in this State to provide competition in the way in
which electricity is delivered to the people of Western Australia.

Government members: Hear, hear!
DIEBACK - GOVERNMENT CONTROL MEASURES

93. Mr P.1. SM[ITH to the Minister for the Environment:
What is the State Government doing to counter the spread of dieback disease?

Mr PEARCE replied:
The Government is undertaking a range of measures with regard to dieback
disease. I might say that although people tend to argue these things out in
terms of what the Government is or is not doing, the Department of
Conservation and Land Management and its predecessor, the Forests
Department - have been spearheading a fight against dieback which dates
back to the time I first entered this Parliament. Members who have been here
for some time will recall some of the briefings given by the department in
those days about dieback in the forests and the control measures being set in
place.
The debate which has been raised about dieback in recent times is an artificial
one in many ways because the problem has been with us for a few years. In
the forests, where the problem is still significant, dieback is largely under
control. People have become more aware in the past couple of years that
dieback is not a disease contained in the forest only. One form of dieback in
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the hearhiand - called wildflower dieback - has dramatically affected the
national parks and other wilderness or hearhiand areas in the great southern
and die south west.

Mr Lewis: Is it contagious for the Labor Parry?
Mr PEARCE: The member's hair is falling out, so I reckon he has been putting his

roes in something he should nor have been.
Mr Ornodci: Is it the same gene?
Mr PEARCE: Ir is fundamentally the same but there are different strains. It has a

different impact in headhland areas and it has the capacity to kill around 200
different wildflower and heathiand species in this Stare. With the assistance
of the Department of Conservation and Land Management the Government
has put together strategies with a number of factors on which it is
concentrating. The first is to accurately chart the dieback areas. In the past,
dieback has been charred by people on the ground to assess the impact on
vegetation. We have a system called geo-scan; that is, computer enhanced
aerial photography which shows precisely the locations of dieback. That has
led to changes in managemenr regimes which are already in place in order to
keep people away from dieback-affected areas, and to contain the disease. I
have described dieback as the AIDS of the forests -

Mr Minson: The Minister works that phrase into almost every answer. He must like
it.

Mr PEARCE: It is like AIDS. It is incurable; we cannot just spray and kill dieback,
as we can with some plant diseases. It must be contained in its spread, in
much the same way as our approach to AIDS, but we must know where it is
first before we can do that. So the Government has substantive measures in
place to control dieback and these measures have the capacity to be
successful.

ABORIGINES - BADJALING RESERVE
Housing and Facilities Commnitment

94. Mr COWAN to the Minister for Aboriginal Affairs:
On 3 April the Minister was quoted as saying that the State and Federal
Governments and the Anglican Church would help the Aborigines build
houses and facilities on the Badjaling reserve under a five year draft plan.
Now that she has written to me and advised that she and the Government have
given no commitment to build houses on the reserve, would the Minister
acknowledge that she has misled the Badjaling Wanderers Association and
built up expectations to a level which will result in disappointment when the
Wanderers are finally told the truth?

Dr WATSON replied:
This will be a good answer to a good question. That quote was a
misconsrruction of what was said. I have spoken to the person who wrote it
since.

Mr Cowan: Did you tell the Wanderers that?
Dr WATSON: Indeed.
Mr Cowan: Did you tell the shire, or the Anglican Church?
Mr Taylor: Listen!
Dr WATSON: Yes, listen. We have given no commitment to permanent housing at

Badjaling. The Badjaling Wanderers are a group of people with a history of
living on the reserve which is about 10 kilometres from Quairading. When
the reserve was closed those people had very little traditional tie to the local
land. However, over the past five Easters they have been returning for their
"Back to Badjaling" weekends, and they teach their children some of the
traditions that they learned. On the Easter weekend this year I was privileged
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to visit them and to discuss their five year plan for the Badjaling reserve. The
Government's commitment is to add to the reserve and to negotiate an
agreem~ent of joint management between CALM and the Aboriginal people
for a piece of land for an A class reserve. Instead of the Aborigines having to
hire portable toilets and showers every rime they go back there, the
Government and the shire have agreed that it would be more appropriate to
build an ablution block. I have met the Badjaling people and members of the
Quairading Shire. The shire members seem to have a short memory. The
Leader of the National Party seems to have the same complaint, as he was at a
meeting with some of the shire members in December 1990 and this he has
also denied. This matter arose from a newspaper report, which may be as
wrong as is the one to which the member refers.

WHEAT - GUARANTEED MINIMUM PRICE
"WA Plan For Wheat Aid Ruled Invalid" Report

95. Mr McNEE to the Deputy Premier
(1) Has the Deputy Premier seen the report in today's The West Australian

headed, "WA plan for wheat aid ruled invalid"?
(2) What does the Government now propose to do which will not be in breach of

Federal law?
Mr TAYLOR replied:

As the Premier said in the House yesterday, we are not at all surprised by the
Federal response and we will find a way of getting on with the job of
providing the minimum price guarantee for wheat. We will make certain that
we deliver on that. We will use the best brains of this Government - of which
there are many - to come up with the solution.
SUPERANNUATION - WA BUSINESS WORLD ARTICLE

96. My KOBELKE. to the Minister for Productivity and Labour Relations.
(1) Has she seen a recent article in WA Business World about superannuation?
(2) If so, do the suggestions in this article show the way forward for employers?
Mrs H-ENDERSON replied:
(1)-(2)

I thank the member for the question. I remind the House that several weeks
ago I raised in this Chamber my concerns about a bankrupt company which
was dipping into its work force's superannuation fund. This involved a
substantial sum of money. When I raised that issue, people on both sides of
the House condemned that behaviour and said that no responsible employer
should behave in that way. Therefore, I am extremely disturbed by an article
in WA Business World of 26 March heading "Cash-flow answers". This
article promotes the idea that those companies experiencing cash flow
problems should look at using superannuation funds to alleviate the problem.

Several members interjected.
Mrs HENDERSON: If a company is asset rich and cash flow poor, the article

suggests that the company should take money deposited with the work force
superannuation fund and use chat money to resolve the cash flow problems in
order to convert that superannuation liability into assets.

Several members interjected.
The SPEAKER: Ordler!
Mrs HENDERSON: I am extremely disturbed that the person giving that advice is

Mr Rod Maslin from the company Hendry Rae & Court. The article reads -

"Apart from the basic tax benefits, a well-planned superannuation
package can provide an outlet for businesses which are asset rich but
cashflow poor,' Mr Maslin said.
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... He said these assets could well have been transferred into a
superannuation fund and a cash equivalent used to solve cash-flow
problems.
Under the system, a business man with $200 000 cash in a super fund
could replace that $200 000 with a property to the same value and
have the cash at his disposal.

That a company which is experiencing cash flow problems and which may
end up closing its doors should consider taking the cash - irs workers'
contribution to their superannuation scheme - is the most appalling suggestion
I have ever heard. I remind members that occupational superannuation is
deferred wages resulting from national wage case decisions and companies
have no right to use that money to resolve their cash flow problems.

Several members inteijected.
The SPEAKER: Order! It is not appropriate to inteiject at any time as members

know and I will not tolerate persistent interjections - one following the other -
which are designed to ensure that the inister's answer is not heard. Let us
have some manners.

Mrs HENDERSON: The most abhorrent thing about this suggestion is that those
companies which art already having cash flow problems ought to be the ones
who seek to convert their superannuation liability into assets. If,
subsequently, they go bankrupt, in all likelihood their assets will be sold
below their real value. In the current climate many of those assets have been
depreciating rather than appreciating.

M& Court: That is the way you do business.
Mrs HENDERSON: The reality for any company which goes bankrupt is that its

assets amt normally sold below their true value at fire sales. The people who
lose are the people who worked for that company and whose superannuation
contributions have gone into what they thought was a fund safely in a bank
until their retirement. At the time the company goes bankrupt the assets are
sold for less than their value and the workers are left without their
superannuation. I am appalled that this scheme should be promoted by a
major accounting company in Perth and I condemn it.
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